Public Document Pack o s
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr  ©° )

Bridgend County Borough Council

Swyddfeydd Dinesig, Stryd yr Angel, Pen-y-bont, CF31 4WB / Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB Co RIDGEND

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief

Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich Executive’s Directorate
dewis iaith. Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 /
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please 643147 [ 643694
let us know if your language choice is Welsh. Gofynnwch am / Ask for: Michael Pitman

Ein cyf/ Our ref:
Eich cyf/ Your ref:

Dyddiad/Date: Wednesday, 27 February 2019

Dear Councillor,

STANDARDS COMMITTEE

A meeting of the Standards Committee will be held in the Committee Room 1, Civic Offices Angel
Street Bridgend CF31 4WB on Thursday, 7 March 2019 at 10:00.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence
To receive apologies for absence from Members.

2. Declarations of Interest
To receive declarations of personal and prejudicial interest (if any) from Members/Officers in
accordance with the provisions of the Members’ Code of Conduct adopted by Council on 1
September 2008.

3. Approval of Minutes 3-4
To receive for approval the Minutes of 10/10/2018

4. WLGA Social Media Guidance for Councillors 5-52
5. Ombudsman Annual Letter 53-62
6. Ombudsman Casebook and Code of Conduct Casebook 63 - 136

7. Urgent ltems
To consider any item(s) of business in respect of which notice has been given in

accordance with Rule 4 of the Council’'s Procedure Rules, and which the person presiding at
the meeting is of the opinion should by reason of special circumstances be transacted at the
meeting as a matter of urgency.

8. Exclusion of the Public
The Minutes relating to the following item is not for publication as it contains exempt
information as defined in Paragraph 12 of Part 4, and Paragraph 21 of Part 5 of Schedule
12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to
Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you will save the Authority approx. £2.72 in
printing costs



If following the application of the public interest test the Committee resolves pursuant to the
Act to consider this item in private, the public will be excluded from the meeting during such
consideration.

9. Approval of Exempt Minutes 137 - 138
To receive for approval the exempt Minutes of 10/10/2018

Yours faithfully
K Watson
Head of Legal and Regulatory Services

Distribution:
Mr P Clarke Mr C Jones OBE Mr G Walter
Councillor MC Clarke Councillor DRW Lewis

Mrs J Kiely Mr J Baker



Agenda Iltem 3

STANDARDS COMMITTEE - WEDNESDAY, 10 OCTOBER 2018

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE HELD IN COMMITTEE
ROOMS 2/3, CIVIC OFFICES ANGEL STREET BRIDGEND CF31 4WB ON WEDNESDAY, 10
OCTOBER 2018 AT 14:00

Present
Councillor — Chairperson
Mr P Clarke MC Clarke Mr J Baker Mr G Walter

Apologies for Absence

Mrs J Kiely and Mr C Jones OBE

Officers:
Andrew Rees Senior Democratic Services Officer - Committees
Kelly Watson Head of Legal & Regulatory Services

38. ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON FOR THE MEETING

RESOLVED: That Mr Jeff Baker be elected Chairperson for the meeting due to the
absence of the Chairperson.

39. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Andrew Rees, Senior Democratic Services officer declared a personal interest in agenda
item 7 - Process for Interview of Shortlisted Candidates for Town and Community
Councillor Representative on the Standards Committee as he knows one of the
candidates through social media.

40. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting of the Standards Committee of 20
September 2018 be approved as a true and accurate record.

41. URGENT ITEMS

There were no urgent items.

42. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

RESOLVED: That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 as
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information)
(Variation) (Wales) Order 2007, the public be excluded from the
meeting during consideration of the following item of business as it
contained exempt information as defined in Paragraph 12 of Part 4
and Paragraph 21 of Part 5 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Following the application of the public interest test it was resolved
that pursuant to the Act referred to above, to consider the item in
private, with the public excluded from the meeting as it would
involve the disclosure to them of exempt information as stated
above.

43. APPROVAL OF EXEMPT MINUTES

Page 3



STANDARDS COMMITTEE - WEDNESDAY, 10 OCTOBER 2018

44, PROCESS FOR INTERVIEW OF SHORTLISTED CANDIDATES FOR TOWN AND
COMMUNITY COUNCILLOR REPRESENTATIVE ON THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE

The meeting closed at 16:15

Page 4



Agenda Item 4

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO STANDARDS COMMITTEE
7 MARCH 2019
REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

WLGA SOCIAL MEDIA GUIDANCE FOR COUNCILLORS

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with a copy of guidance
produced by the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) regarding social
media guidance for Councillors.

2, Connection to Corporate Improvement Objectives/Other Corporate Priorities

2.1 The Standards Committee functions directly support the Corporate Priorities.

3. Background

3.1 The Members Code of Conduct does not specifically include any obligations in
relation to social media however the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales has
seen an increase in the number of complaints made regarding comments that have
been placed by Elected Members throughout Wales on social media platforms.

3.2  Personal use of social media will fall outside the ambit of the Code, however if a
Member mentions public issues or Council activity on social media then those
comments are likely to be perceived as having been made in an official capacity.

4. Current situation / proposal

4.1 The WLGA recognises that social media is playing an increasingly important role in
local politics and has prepared a guide for Elected Members in relation to its use
(attached as Appendix 1). The purpose of the guidance is to enable Members to
benefit from the use of social media whilst minimising the associated risks such as

reputational damage, breaching the code of conduct.

4.2  Guidance has also been published providing advice to Members on how to manage
or report online abuse or harassment (Appendix 2).

5. Effect upon Policy Framework & Procedure Rules
5.1 None.
6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1  There are no equality implications arising from this report.

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

Page 5



7.1 There will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon the achievement of well-
being goals/objectives as a result of this report.

8. Financial Implications
8.1 None.
9. Recommendation

9.1 It is recommended that Members note the WLGA guidance.

Contact Officer: K Watson,
Monitoring Officer

Telephone: 01656 643248

E-mail: Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address Civic Centre, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents
None

Page 6


mailto:Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk

Social Media
A Guide for Councillors

x VAR
e~~~

* Y
CLILC - WLGA



Contact

Welsh Local Government Association

The WLGA's primary purposes are to promote a better local government, its reputation and
to support authorities in the development of policies and priorities which will improve public
service and democracy.

It represents the 22 local authorities in Wales with the 3 fire and rescue authorities and 3
national park authorities as associate members.

Welsh Local Government Association
Local Government House

Drake Walk

Cardiff

CF10 4LG

Tel: 029 2046 8600
www.wlga.wales

We are indebted to the officers and members who have contributed to this guide, particularly in
Denbighshire, Flintshire County Council on behalf of North Wales Local Authority Emergency
Information Team Chairs. Lawyers in Local Government, the Heads of Democratic Services,
Chairs of Democratic Services Committees, the MSO and Lead Members Network, guidance from
the LGA and Scottish Improvement Service and The Office of the Welsh Language
Commissioner. Also, to Kevin O’Keefe, then of Excela Interim Management & Consultancy Ltd,
who contributed to the 2013 first edition of this guide.

Contact Sarah Titcombe — Policy and Improvement Officer for Democratic Services.
029 2046 8638 sarah.titcombe@wlga.gov.uk

Page 8



mailto:sarah.titcombe@wlga.gov.uk

Contents

Page
1 What is social media? 5

2 Why you may find social media useful 13

3 Getting started 16

4 Staying safe and dealing with trolls 20

5 Support from the council 22

6 Social media and council meetings 24

7 Golden rules 25

8 Keep on the right side of the law 27

9 Further information, interesting sites and sources of 31

help
10 Links 32

Page 9




Introduction
Social media is changing the world.

It is changing the way we communicate, the way we receive our news and, increasingly,
the way we think about ourselves and others. Social media is transforming politics too; it
makes politicians and public institutions more accessible, allows individuals to have their
voices heard and helps share ideas or promote campaigns, potentially to millions, in an
instant.

It is a powerful tool that can do much good but, in the wrong hands, can cause harm too.
The growth of online abuse or trolling is a concern, as is the mounting evidence that
organisations or even foreign agencies can exploit social media or use ‘fake news’ to
influence public opinion or even affect democratic contests!.

Social media’s influence is growing, not only are the number of active users increasing but
it is also being used more effectively as a medium to communicate, engage and mobilise.

Social media has therefore become a vital tool for councils and councillors to inform and
engage with the communities they serve.

Many councillors already use social media and many more are thinking about using it. As a
councillor, there are additional things to consider when using it, including the Code of
Conduct and managing expectations and workload.

This guidance offers advice for those councillors who are new to social media and some
tips for those already using it. Social media is rapidly evolving, so this guidance offers a
general overview, some key pointers and principles and references to step-by-step
resources online.

1 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-39830727 and https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-us-canada-41355903
4

Page 10


https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-39830727
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-us-canada-41355903

1. What is social media?

Social media is a vast blanket term applied to a range of online multimedia tools; in short,
social media allows you to communicate, broadcast or publish to millions in an instant,
usually for free and all from a small device in the palm of your hand.

Social media can be set up and accessed via your smartphone, PC, laptop, tablet or smart
TV. Social media applications (apps) or platforms allow you to communicate (either with
individuals, specific groups or everyone), share information, share photos, create, edit and
share audio or videos and play games with others.

Councils now use social media as a matter of course to communicate and consult with their
residents who now expect this to be another communication channel, especially for urgent
information. Council Twitter feeds include information on community events, school and
road closures, job vacancies, sporting events and consultations, as well as details and,
occasionally, detailed accounts of council meetings, including links to webcasts. Council
scrutiny committees may also be using social media to promote and consult on their
activities and undertake service reviews, such as in Monmouthshire and Swansea.

Although there are some risks to using social media, which will be covered later in this
guide, social media can be fun and innovative and can be used as an alternative method of
communication and engagement, it can also break down barriers and stereotypes. Councils
and other public bodies have used it for positive public relations, for example, it is worth
looking at Swansea’s Faces of Swansea social media campaign or the Twitter account Love
the Lagoon, or Torfaen’s ‘In the Depot’ video.

Some councils have asked the public to name snow ploughs.

We have social media to thank for Boaty McBoatface!

Social media has a massive reach and some individuals (typically celebrities or national
politicians) have many millions of followers. Social media is growing in usage too, an Office
of National Statistics survey in 20172 showed that 66% of people in the UK had used social
media in the last 3 months. It's not just younger people who use social media, further
research by the ONS showed that that there is significant use across all age groups:

2https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/householdcharacteristics/homeinternetandsocialme
diausage/adhocs/007401socialnetworkingbyagegroup2011to2017

5

Page 11


https://twitter.com/Mon_CC_Scrutiny
https://twitter.com/SwanseaScrutiny
https://twitter.com/hashtag/facesofswanseacouncil2018
https://twitter.com/lovethelagoon?lang=en
https://twitter.com/lovethelagoon?lang=en
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=G6UerjFCLdI
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-south-yorkshire-42026485
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-36064659
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/householdcharacteristics/homeinternetandsocialmediausage/adhocs/007401socialnetworkingbyagegroup2011to2017
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/householdcharacteristics/homeinternetandsocialmediausage/adhocs/007401socialnetworkingbyagegroup2011to2017

Age

16-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65+

All

%

96

88

83

68

51

27

66

According to Ofcom?3, in 2017:

84% 21 Hours

74%

OF WELSH HOUSEHOLDS OF ADULTS USED giﬁ&ﬁi?);:’éli BY
ACCESSTOTHE AS TPHONE WELSH INTERNET USERS
INTERNET

Facebook and Twitter are the most widely used social media platforms and therefore the
most relevant to councillors. According to Twitter?, and Facebook> there are:

01711[1 S0m

FACEBOOK USERS IN THE UK
IN UK

ON MOBILES ALONE...
AND OVER 2.20bn MONTHLY
ACTIVE USERS WORLDWIDE

This guide will therefore focus on Facebook and Twitter for councillors, and will touch on
other platforms too.

3_https://www.ofcom.org.uk/ data/assets/pdf file/0027/104985/cmr-2017-wales.pdf

4 https://www.statista.com/statistics/271350/twitter-users-in-the-united-kingdom-uk/

5 https://zephoria.com/top-15-valuable-facebook-statistics/
6

Page 12


https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0027/104985/cmr-2017-wales.pdf
https://www.statista.com/statistics/271350/twitter-users-in-the-united-kingdom-uk/
https://zephoria.com/top-15-valuable-facebook-statistics/

Blogs

A blog (an abbreviation of “web-log”) is essentially an online journal with your latest posts
appearing first. It can be a journal of diary entries, thoughts or ideas or somewhere to
publish more detailed articles on particular issues. Anyone can add comments to your blog
and you can use the site to link or draw attention to other online comments or sources of
information. Blogs are most effective when they are regularly maintained and updated.

Blogs tend to be included as part of an existing website or via Facebook, which means it's
easier to promote and encourage broader feedback.

Some leaders or chairs produce blogs via their council websites, for example in Caerphilly,
Rhondda Cynon Taf, and Chairman of Denbighshire County Council.

Other councillors publish their own, for example:

e ClIr Peter Black
e Deputy Lord Mayor of Swansea 2018-2019
e ClIr Neil Prior

( Keep at it! \

As with all social media, if you start blogging, it's best to keep it up and keep it up-to-date;
all it takes is for someone to find your last blog entry of some years ago and they can
criticise you by saying ‘you have nothing else to say’ or ‘you have no new ideas’. If you do
stop blogging, think about archiving the material or moving it over to a new social media
platform.

\_ J

Twitter is technically a micro-blog. Twitter allows you to post
information, news, photos or videos in messages that are known as
tweets. Twitter enables you to follow people, organisations, news or
information that you are interested in and post information and
messages of your own. People or organisations in turn can follow you,
so they can see all of your tweets; you can even adjust the settings to
allow you to be alerted when someone you're particularly interested in
tweets.

Page 13



http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Councillors-and-committees/Leader-s-blog
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/TheLeadersBlog/RhonddaCynonTafCouncilLeadersBlog.aspx
https://denbighshirecouncilchairman.wordpress.com/
http://peterblack.blogspot.com/
http://swanseamayoralmusing.blogspot.com/
https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/year-county-councillor-surviving-thriving-elected-life-neil-prior/?published=t

Tweets are each limited to 280 characters (characters include letters, numbers,
punctuation and spaces). Tweets are not a private means of communication and can be
seen by anyone who is following you.

For example:

5
anicle  @WelshLGA

WLGA

#WLGAExecutiveBoard notes the
remarkable resilience of the current
system of local government in the face
of huge cuts and austerity

Y Bwrdd Gweithredu yn nodi ar
ddycnwch syfrdanol y system lywodraeth
leol bresennol, yng ngwyneb Ilymder a
thoriadau enfawr

11:17 AM - 25 May 2018

Q1 jl v il

You can like or retweet information and someone else’s tweets that you would like to
pass on to others. For example:

&) WLGA Retweeted

% Senedd ELGC @
SeneddELGC

We'd like to hear your views diversity in
local government. Respond to our survey
here ow.ly/U2sg30ksvi9

overnment
9 ) P!

- n . LT
Inquiry into Jri
diversityinlocal §F '.
ﬁ

g
Tell us your views via our P
survey:

Conversations on the same theme on Twitter are called threads. You can search for
tweets on a subject that you are interested in by typing your subject into the search box.

Page 14



Tweets on the same theme are drawn
together using hashtags. People use the Warning

hashtag symbol (#) before a relevant e .
g _ As a politician, others may consider your
keyword or phrase in their tweet to . ,
) tweets ‘fair game’. A good rule of thumb
categorise those tweets and help them . . . . .
is not to commit anything to social media

show more easily in a Twitter search. that could at some point be used against

Clicking on a hash tagged word in any .
you. Even your retweets can be perceived
message shows you other Tweets that .
as something you endorse or support.

include that hashtag.

As with emails, although Direct Messages

You can have a private conversation or .
are private and you may trust the

create a group conversation with anyone

recipients, they can become public if
who follows you by using the Direct P )Ileake di P
Message option. Anyone you do not '

follow can also send you a Direct

amp\es of

e ex st
:,m witter account

(L And som
erNewpo OMme useful
@Wp/ organisations:
Roblames
@CIARO== WelshLGA

Foxbl
@Pefert>==
Clirjuliefation LGAComms

ClirSaif WelshGovernment
:onaCross
ClirF WG localgov

@elinmd
W\Na\“ce AssemblyWales

W BBCWalesNews

CldoshuaPiaid
ClirLisaMyton

@Pr'\yNe“

Page 15



http://www.twitter.com/LeaderNewport
http://www.twitter.com/LeaderNewport
http://www.twitter.com/CllrRobJames
http://www.twitter.com/CllrRobJames
https://twitter.com/PeterFox61
https://twitter.com/PeterFox61
https://twitter.com/Cllrjuliefallon
https://twitter.com/Cllrjuliefallon
https://twitter.com/CllrSaif
https://twitter.com/CllrSaif
https://twitter.com/CllrFionaCross
https://twitter.com/CllrFionaCross
https://twitter.com/elinmwj
https://twitter.com/elinmwj
http://www.twitter.com/DebbieWallice
http://www.twitter.com/DebbieWallice
https://twitter.com/Alun_Williams
https://twitter.com/Alun_Williams
http://www.twitter.com/CllrJoshuaPlaid
https://twitter.com/CllrLisaMytton
https://twitter.com/CllrLisaMytton
http://www.twitter.com/PriorNeil
http://www.twitter.com/PriorNeil
http://www.twitter.com/WelshLGA
http://www.twitter.com/LGAComms
http://www.twitter.com/WelshGovernment
http://www.twitter.com/WG_localgov
http://www.twitter.com/AssemblyWales
http://www.twitter.com/AssemblyWales
http://www.twitter.com/BBCWalesNews

Message, if you have opted to receive Direct Messages from anyone or you have
previously sent that person a Direct Message.

You can block or mute accounts on Twitter. Once an account has been blocked, those
accounts cannot follow you and you cannot follow them. However, even those you have
blocked can still access your account through a third party who follows you.

All the details about how twitter works and how you can set up an account can be found
here.

Facebook is the most extensively used social network in the world.
Essentially, it allows you to easily create your own webpage or group,
or an interactive newsletter about you, your life, your interests and
friends.

Have a look at these councillors’ pages

e Councillor Neil Prior

e Councillor Dhanisha Patel

e Councillor Matthew Dorrance

e Councillor Steve Churchman

And these authority pages:

e Wrexham Council

e Isle of Anglesey County Council

e Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council

e Snowdonia National Park

e Flintshire County Council

e Vale of Glamorgan Council

To use Facebook, you'll need to create a profile - a Timeline where you might add a
photo, describe yourself, what you do and your interests. You can also describe your
Status which would inform your friends about how you are feeling or what you are doing
at any given time. You can update this as often as you like.

10

Page 16


https://help.twitter.com/en/create-twitter-account
https://www.facebook.com/cllrneilprior/
http://www.facebook.com/dhanisha4ogmore/
https://www.facebook.com/CllrMatthewDorrance/
https://www.facebook.com/councillorstevechurchman/
https://www.facebook.com/councillorstevechurchman/
http://www.facebook.com/wrexhamcouncil/
http://www.facebook.com/IOACC/
http://www.facebook.com/IOACC/
https://en-gb.facebook.com/blaenaugwentcbc/
https://en-gb.facebook.com/visitsnowdonia
https://www.facebook.com/Flintshire-County-Council-124912774260207/
https://www.facebook.com/Flintshire-County-Council-124912774260207/
https://www.facebook.com/valeofglamorgancouncil/

On Facebook, you can invite people to be your Friends and set different levels of access
to your account. Some people can see all the information about you or you can make less
detail available to others. You can also use Facebook to communicate with groups or
individuals. People who find your page, comments or proposals of interest can Like you or
your latest post, which encourages further use, and is a useful way of taking a straw poll
of your ideas. People can also add a Comment on your post or Share your post on their
own timelines.

You may wish to set up a Facebook page about your community, to promote events,
announcements or your council activities; many councils and councillors do this and it can
be a very effective method to engage and seek views from the community. You should be
prepared to receive challenge and criticism however, as it is an open forum and not
everyone will agree with your ideas or views; you can however set rules, moderate and
edit other people’s posts if their language or content is offensive or inappropriate.

You can also set up a Facebook group. When you create a group, you can decide whether
to make it publicly available for anyone to join, require administrator approval for members
to join or keep it private and by invitation only.

You can send private notes to any “friend” you're connected with on Facebook; they can
only be seen by the person to whom they're sent; Facebook’s Messenger app is
increasingly popular. You can also ‘Live Chat’ on Facebook. This is a real-time
conversation with any of your Facebook friends who happen to be online and signed in at
the same time as you are.

Crucially, Facebook lets each user control who can see their personal information and what
they post on the network. You can set the level of privacy for different categories of your
information and posts and extend different levels of permission to different people who
view your site. As a member you might want to differentiate between what you show your
close friends and family and members of the public. Find out more and join Facebook here.

| WhatsApp is a free messaging app which also allows you to
| have traditional ‘phone conversations’. It is very popular as it
allows you to set up groups of friends or colleagues to keep
them updated on a particular theme. It may be a quick and
easy way, for example, of keeping your political group up to
date on key issues. You can download the app from various app
stores or visit the website.

11

Page 17



https://www.facebook.com/groups/create.php
http://www.facebook.com/
http://www.whatsapp.com/

(]I Tube

Cardiff

Conwy

Gwynedd
Monmouthshire

Powys

Page 18

YouTube is a video sharing platform. Videos are easy
to record via a smartphone and are more easily
distributed via Twitter or Facebook, however, some
people prefer to use YouTube and it is increasingly being
used by councils to post information. Here are some
examples:

12



https://www.youtube.com/user/cardiffcouncil/featured
https://www.youtube.com/user/ConwyWeb
https://www.youtube.com/user/CyngorGwynedd
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCZHCKKCl7DqtxDabOkj_Esg/featured
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCop_U-YVW7OB0jRIt3b8f1Q

2. Why you may find social media useful

Social media will allow you to open new conversations with the people you represent, and
the potential for councillors using social media is huge. Social media allows you to be
innovative and responsive as well as providing links to useful sources of information or
sign-posting to other organisations.

Don't ignore social media — it's there and won't go away! People are already online and it's
growing, and people increasingly expect their councillors to be contactable via social
media. If you're not involved people may bypass you or may even ‘talk about you’ and
you'll be missing out on a useful source of intelligence.

e It's a useful way of finding out what people are talking about locally, their concerns and
interests.

o It's useful for finding out about breaking news, the latest research or publication or the
latest policy announcements from political parties.

e It's a good way of making the electorate more aware of the work you do personally.

e It can help make you appear more human and down-to-earth! People often don't
understand what councillors do and may have negative perceptions, but social media
can give people a taste of your personal life and remind them that you are just like
them, with similar interests — you do need to consider balance though and how much of
your personal life you want in the public domain: for example - do you want strangers
to be able to identify your family and friends?

¢ It's an effective way of coordinating campaigns, for example, mobilising support and
interest and gathering followers, you can also allow campaign workers access to your
Facebook account to post on your, or your campaign'’s, behalf to share the workload.

¢ It allows you to have a conversation with a range of people that you would never be
able to physically meet and who do not traditionally seek out their local representatives.

e It allows for immediate communication. You can pass on information and receive
opinions in minutes. You can forward information from other people equally quickly.
“Going Viral” refers to a mass spreading of a piece of information around the world —
but be careful, only share information you are confident is correct, Fake News is
damaging and there is the risk of defamation if you spread falsehoods.

13



e The local and sometimes national press will follow councillors on Twitter or Facebook.
Social media is a growing source for stories for news outlets as each tweet or comment
is effectively a mini-press release. Journalists will know what you are talking about the
minute you talk about it.

e Social media is mobile. You can take it around your community, on the train, or to a
coffee shop. You can upload pictures and videos, showing for example your role in local
events, pictures of potential sites for development, new buildings, local eyesores - a
picture tells a thousand words.

e It's free and you probably already have the equipment you need. All you need is time.

e You can receive immediate feedback on your ideas and manifesto to allow you to modify
your proposals in line with local thinking.

e Above all, it can be a lot of fun!

What are the drawbacks?

e Having a social media presence means that people can contact you 24/7. This is great
in terms of accessibility but means that they may expect you to reply immediately.
Technology and social media has raised expectations, people often expect a speedy
response and resolution to their query; this expectation, coupled with the fact that
social media shows everyone how responsive you are, can create more pressure.

¢ Using social media can become addictive, many people find themselves answering
messages late into the night because they just can't put it down.

¢ Similarly, too much weight can be given to what goes on in the ‘Twittersphere’; sections
of Twitter are often described as ‘echo chambers’ — it may only be a couple of people
with a limited number of followers with strong views on a subject who are ‘bouncing’ off
each other — they may be in the minority and not be representative - the rest of the
community or the rest of society may be blissfully unaware or may not think in the
same way!

e People can post false information, insults or messages that you would not want to be

associated with on your social media platforms. These can be spread rapidly via social
media.

14



e Some people say things via social media that they would not say to your face, it's an
easy way of taking personal pot shots at councillors. People making these comments
are often called ‘Trolls” and may not be interested in facts, just in attacking you.

e Councillors, and in particular mt’s easier said than done, but try not to geh

women councillors, are too concerned about what’s said online...
increasingly the subject of

online abuse, bullying and
harassment on social media.

You are likely to receive criticism at some point

and trolls may try to rile you, but often they will
have few followers and their comments may not
be seen by many people. Keep calm and the best

advice is to ignore, often trolls will crawl back
under their bridge...if it does get serious, you can

with online abuse. :
\ report it /

Are you controlling your social media use or is it controlling you?

Recent research has recognised that some people feel out of control in their use of social
media®.

e The WLGA has produced a
separate quide on how to deal

Ask yourself how comfortable you feel if you cannot access your social media accounts. It
is important for councillors to bear in mind that even if the rest of the world seems to be
online 24/7, you don't have to be. Being a councillor is a professional role and you can
decide how available you want to make yourself. There are some common
recommendations for managing your time in front of a screen and you may want to
consider some of these:

Top tips to manage social media use

e Establish a routine, check your messages at the same time every day rather than
responding to the ‘ping’ of every new message arriving

e Looking at a screen can disrupt your sleep patterns, consider turning off all screens
two hours before going to bed and make the bedroom a screen free zone

e When you are with your residents face to face, give them your undivided attention
to help you focus on what's happening where you are and not appear rude.

6 http://www.bbc.com/future/story/20180118-how-much-is-too-much-time-on-
social-media

15

Page 21


http://www.wlga.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=62&mid=665&fileid=1504
http://www.bbc.com/future/story/20180118-how-much-is-too-much-time-on-social-media
http://www.bbc.com/future/story/20180118-how-much-is-too-much-time-on-social-media

3. Getting started

A good place to start is to contact your Democratic Services officers and find out what
support and training is available.

Choose your medium and sign up. Signing up is very straightforward and will take you less
than five minutes! Facebook and Twitter are good places to start.

If you don't already have an account, ask a colleague, friend or family member for advice,
ask them to show you how they use social media. You might want to begin with a trial
personal account (rather than calling yourself “Councillor Jones”) and experiment with
family and friends. Make sure that you understand how people find you and who can
access your material.

Remember:

On Facebook you can control who has access to different parts of your account. You can
manage what the world sees and what your “friends” see.

On Twitter the whole world can see everything you tweet. You can ‘Protect my
Tweets’, which essentially makes your tweets private to only your current followers, but
that defeats the object of using Twitter to engage more widely.

When you are ready to set up your final account, consider the identity you use. The
name you give yourself online is important as it allows people to find you. Prefacing your
Twitter account with Clir lets people know exactly who you are and indicates that the
Code of Conduct will apply.

Consider:

o Different councillors have different views, but you might want to consider setting up
a separate personal and “councillor” account, at least at first - you can talk about the
amazing food in the restaurant around the corner to your friends and followers in
your informal account, and the plans for the new bypass to your friends and
followers on your councillor account.

Separate accounts can help you manage some of the online trolling that is likely to
come your way as a councillor — it can be a way of keeping your home life and
councillor life separate.

16

Page 22



However, many councillors think that some of their personal comments about food,
places they‘ve visited, football matches or TV helps break down perceptions of
councillors and proves that they are normal like everyone else!

e Make it easy for people to find you online. Many people will start their search for the
area that you represent, so make sure you mention your location frequently as this
will then be picked up by search engines. You will also want to make sure that your
social media account details are on your business cards, posters and flyers.

e Increase your social media following by following other people, retweeting other
people’s tweets, liking tweets or posts or commenting on people’s Facebook posts.
Find people on Twitter with links to your community, county or region or with similar
interests by searching using the ‘hashtag’ (#) symbol to prefix your search term for
example #llandrindod, #powys #midwales.

e Reach more people on Twitter by timing your tweets when the audience you want to
reach are online. Ask your friends for a retweet, use hashtags and include photos for
a larger and more noticeable post.

¢ Be disciplined about making time available to write new content and answer your
“friends” and “followers"” at a regular time each week to update your Facebook status
and throughout the day to check Twitter. If you use your mobile phone, you can set
notifications to alert you each time you are mentioned in a tweet.

e If you do not want to be available every hour of the day or night, tell people when
your account will be checked, for example you might add “available 9.00-7.00
weekdays” on your profile.

e Decide on what you are going to talk about and how. This could be

o Weekly updates of your own activities as a councillor - don't forget your
pictures! This works better on Facebook as you can include more detail.
Remember a tweet is only 280 characters and tends to me more instant and
timely.

o Regular updates on council policies and actions of interest to your community.
o Links and re-tweets of other relevant national activities.
o Issues on which you would like feedback.

o Notice of events and public meetings.

17

Page 23



e Using social media is all about two-way communication, it's good for providing
information to your community or flagging up press statements, but it’s better as a
tool to get useful feedback. You will get feedback and you should expect some people
to challenge your ideas or enter into a debate with you online. This is part and parcel
of social media.

e Keep your communications clear, positive, polite and professional. Plain language
helps. Many people use abbreviations on Twitter — you'll pick these up as you go
along!

e On Facebook, you will need to monitor and, if necessary, censor the contributions that
other people make to your page; or group and delete them if they do not match your
required standards of behaviour or language. Defamatory and offensive language
could be attributed to the publisher (that’s you!) as well as the original author and
could incur financial liability. It is up to you to decide if you want to remove posts that
disagree with your political position, however if you do remove them you may be
accused of censoring contributions on political grounds.

e Itis up to you to decide if you want to remove posts that disagree with your political
position, however if you do remove them you may be accused of censoring
contributions on political grounds.

e Bear in mind that constituents may find party political point scoring tedious and prefer
to hear information about what you are achieving.

o If appropriate, consider setting up an account for your ward with your fellow ward
members — this way you can share the administrative tasks.

e If you don't have anything to say...don’t say anything. Even though it's tempting to let
your followers know how busy you are they will soon become bored with constant
updates on your day without some relevant or interesting information.

Monitoring social media

It can be difficult to keep on top of what's happening online; people are posting and
tweeting all the time and if you are following many people or organisations, social media
can become ‘noisy’ and you could miss things of interest or significance.

A quick way to check up on things on Twitter is to visit the Twitter page of some of your
favourite people, organisations or news outlets to see what they’ve been saying. You could
also search for a particular theme or issue with a hashtag#.

18

Page 24



If you're keen to find out what people are saying about you, your local area or local
council for example, there are social media management applications that you can use
such as Hootsuite or Buffer. These are simple to set up and use and can allow you to see
how often people read or retweet your tweets. It also allows you to schedule tweets, for
example, to send a pre-prepared tweet at a certain time of day.

The Welsh Language

As a councillor you will want to use and promote the Welsh language and culture as much
as possible. There are also legal requirements which apply to the use of the Welsh
language on social media. How these rules apply, depends on the type of work you are
doing and which of the Welsh Language Standards apply to your local authority.

When you are representing your local authority, the same standards will apply to you as
they do to officers. So, if you are, for example, a cabinet member tweeting about a new
policy decision, a mayor blogging about your recent activities on behalf of the council, the
chair of a scrutiny committee undertaking a formal consultation on behalf of the committee
or letting people know about the forward work programme of the committee, then you
may be subject to the standards which apply to the officers in your authority.

This may mean that your communication, including responses to messages, must be
translated and the content and format of the message must treat the Welsh language no
less favourably than the English language. Your authority will provide you with guidelines
for how your local Welsh language standards apply when you are representing the
authority — if you are in any doubt, it's best to contact the council for guidance.

If you are acting in the capacity of a ward member, acting on behalf of individuals or
communities then the same rules apply as if you were a member of the public. So,
regardless of your role on the council, if you are tweeting about a local fete, commenting
on a council decision in, for example, your role on a local pressure group, or retweeting a
complaint about pot holes then you may communicate in the language of your choice.

The exception to this is when you are communicating in relation to an activity for which
you are using council resources (beyond the standard remuneration and equipment
provided to you as a member) for example council buildings for a community meeting.

Some of the practical guidance in the Welsh Language Commissioner’s guide for
businesses and charities about using Welsh on social media may be useful.

19

Page 25


https://hootsuite.com/
https://buffer.com/
http://www.comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru/hybu/SiteCollectionDocuments/Using%20Welsh%20on%20Social%20Media%20SA.pdf

4. Staying safe and dealing with trolls

Some form of online disagreement and criticism is inevitable and, if you're not online, you
or your policies may already be subject to debate without you. Disagreement and
challenge is a key feature of democratic debate, however, online it can easily spill over
into abuse or harassment.

You will therefore need to prepare yourself for some uncomfortable reading, which may
cause some upset. You cannot prevent online abuse, but you can take control of how and
whether you respond and, if it becomes serious, you can report it.

The WLGA has produced separate guidance on dealing with online abuse which
you may find useful. You can read it here.

Some advice

e Take Control
Decide for yourself and make it clear on your homepage what you expect from people
who are engaging with you on social media. You might say, for example, that whilst
you welcome an open and frank exchange of views, any inappropriate comments will
be removed and that any comment which is libellous or threatening or becomes
harassment will be reported.

¢ Remember that you don’t have to put up with abuse or harassment just
because you are a political figure
Be prepared to ‘Mute’, ‘Block’ or ‘Unfriend” abusive users from your account or ask them
to remove comments. If a comment crosses the line into abuse or harassment you can
report this to Facebook or Twitter or even the police.

e Respond or ignore?

When faced with an abusive comment give yourself some time to decide whether to
respond or ignore it. Trolls often have few followers or few followers of significance — if
you reply it can lead to a tit for tat argument fuelling further confrontation and provides
the troll with the “oxygen of publicity” or the satisfaction of seeing you riled. Chances
are you'll have far more followers than the troll, so if you reply, all of your followers will
be aware of the troll’s original tweet. Ignoring the comment can lead to short term
allegations of dodging an issue but may succeed in the long term.

20

Page 26


http://www.wlga.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=62&mid=665&fileid=1504

Don’t feed the troll!

e Stay calm and polite
Not every criticism is from a troll — sometimes a frustrated member of the public
may be critical or angry with you initially on social media, particularly if they are
trying to resolve a council service issue. If you respond constructively, their tone will
change and they may even apologise or show you appreciation online.

Bear in mind that for every troll there will be many more legitimate and sensible
followers. Think of them when you respond. One approach is to respond with facts
only or to refer the troll to a longer factual statement about the situation or a set of
“frequently asked questions” that you can post to pre-empt queries. You might want
to invite the troll to a public meeting. They may find it harder to be abusive in
public. You may also want to remind thetroll that you are more than happy to have
a political debate in your role as a councillor but that personal comments about you
or your family are unacceptable.

The Facebook and Twitter Help Pages have full details about how to block
users and how to report abuse

A Criminal Offence?

If someone sends threatening, abusive or offensive messages they may be committing an
offence. If you receive a message which you consider falls into this category, do not
respond to it, check out the guidance provided by the police and CPS and if appropriate
report it.

21

Page 27



https://en-gb.facebook.com/help/tools
https://help.twitter.com/en/safety-and-security/cyber-bullying-and-online-abuse
https://www.askthe.police.uk/content/Q770.htm
http://www.cps.gov.uk/legal/a_to_c/communications_sent_via_social_media/

5. Support from the council

A good place to start is to contact your Democratic Services officers and find out what
support and training is available

Councillors are generally provided with the ICT equipment that they need to do their job.
The Independent Remuneration Panel expects that this will include equipment, support
and training.

It is also reasonable to expect that you should have access to social media sites via council
ICT equipment to enable you to carry out your councillor role more effectively. You do not
need the council to set you up with a personal social media account, but you should take
advantage of any training or guidance provided to help you use it properly.

Most councils have a social media policy. You will need to abide by this and any social
media protocols that may have been agreed when using your “councillor” account.

It's worth remembering that the council is responsible for any information provided on
its website and is subject to legal responsibilities. You are personally responsible for the
material that you broadcast via your own social media accounts or websites — but more
of this later.

Advice will be available to you from a number of council officers. The Monitoring
Officer, Head of Democratic Services, the Communications Team and the ICT Manager
are likely to have useful advice.

Using social media in an emergency

During emergencies (such as severe weather events, pollution incidents or major fires)
partner agencies such as local authorities, police, health, Natural Resources Wales and fire
and rescue services will use social media to provide information to help people prepare,
keep them informed and to signpost where they can get help.

It's important during these situations that the most up to date and correct information is
communicated to the public and the partner agencies will coordinate the content and
timing of the information to be provided.

In an emergency situation, the council will also identify an official spokesperson - an officer
or a senior member - who will use the approved information to speak on behalf of the
council.

22



It's always best in these circumstances to restrict your own social media activity to sharing
official communications from the partner agencies responding to the situation.

For more information about how your council operates in these circumstances please
contact your council’s civil contingencies team so that you know what to do in an
emergency.

23
Page 29




6. Social media and council meetings

Your council’s social media policy and/or council constitution will provide you with
guidance about if and when you can use social media during council meetings. Other
than what your constitution or social media policy says, there is no legal reason why
you shouldn’t use social media during meetings. However, some common sense does
need to apply.

Tweeting on meeting progress and receiving comments from the community can be
helpful for transparency and engagement BUT excessive use of Twitter may give people
the impression that you are not concentrating on the business in hand or are even relying
on guidance from outside the meeting. For that reason, it is probably sensible not to use
Twitter during a planning or licensing debate. Committee chairs may want to decide how
to address this in their meetings and you should abide by the rules set out in your
constitution.

Many politicians tweet their contributions or questions to meetings or debates to keep
their followers informed of how they’re representing their communities’ interests.
Remember, you may not need to tweet about the detail of a meeting if the meeting is
being webcast. Your council may have official” twitter feeds for live on-line conversations
to run alongside the meeting webcast.

Remember that you should not tweet or communicate in any way the content of exempt
or confidential business dealt with by local authorities in closed session such as when
making formal appointments.

24

Page 30




7. Golden rules

e Think before you tweet or post on Facebook. Do not
say anything, post views or opinions that you would [ Warning \
not be prepared to:

Don't discuss
casework on social
media or encourage

people to contact

» Discuss face to face with the person you are
speaking about.

» Write on a placard and carry down your high street you about issues
and discuss and defend with anyone who sees it. that might be
» Be prepared to have minuted in a public meeting - personal to them.
remember, Twitter or Facebook effectively publicly Encourage them to
minutes everything for you as you go along! use more secure
channels.
e Remember that once you have said something it may k j

be seen by millions - friends, supporters, political
opponents and the press and could be re-tweeted around the world in minutes.

e Keep your messages professional, polite and positive.

e Remember to try to keep tweets and texts separate — many people tweet
comments that they would have texted to someone privately before the advent of
social media; this may be about meeting up later (do you want all your followers
knowing your plans and gate-crashing your lunch!?) through to ‘in’ jokes or banter
that could be misinterpreted.

e Exercise discretion when choosing who to follow on Twitter or ‘befriend’ on
Facebook, for example, some council employees might find it a bit uncomfortable or
inappropriate to have a councillor hanging on their every word. If you follow or are
Facebook “friends” with council employees, contractors who have been procured to
provide services to the council, a company or member of the public making a
planning application or pressure groups, this might be construed as having a close
personal association with them and therefore a personal interest.

e If you make a mistake admit it. Mistakes happen so don't try to cover it up as there
will always be a record of what you've said.

25

Page 31



e Don't tweet or post on Facebook when you are “tired or emotional”! It's probably
sensible to turn off your phone at any time when you think your judgement may be
impaired. Even if you exercise social media control, other people will still have their
smart phones, so may post a photo or video of you ‘enjoying yourself’; you need to
let your hair down, but it’s just one extra thing to consider as a councillor in the age

Page 32

of social media.

As with your own leaflets or newsletters, ask permission before taking a picture
that you intend to use. NEVER take photos of children without the express
permission of their parents based on an understanding of what you intend to
use the picture for. Your council will have a policy on taking pictures of children,

take advice on this before taking or using pictures.

Do not allow anyone else access to your social media accounts. Protect your
passwords and use robust, unique passwords and change them regularly especially

if you use a public or shared computer.

Just like email, you can be hacked on social media! Be wary about direct
messages via Twitter, even from people you know, with messages such as *Hi,
have you seen this photo of you on Twitter?’ Delete these before opening, as
the spam could then be sent to all of the people you are following. Do not open
videos or links on, for example, Facebook Messenger if you are not expecting

them. It could be a hack.

If you had a social media account before you were
elected as a councillor, it may be sensible to review
your historical posts through the lens of your new
‘political reputation” as well as the expectations of the
code of conduct. You may have posted personal photos
of social occasions, shared jokes, retweeted videos or
made or re-posted political views that you may no longer
agree with. If people see such historical posts, it may
cause embarrassment or reputational damage not only to
yourself but also to the council. It could even be referred
to the Ombudsman as a potential breach of the Code of
Conduct. Bear in mind that although you posted your
comments before you were a councillor, your social
media account is essentially still broadcasting them, and
they may still be re-posted by other people.

26

4 )

THINK before you
post; even if you
later delete your

post, someone
may have already
taken a screen
shot.

CHECK before you
share or retweet
information. Is it
true? Who said it

and why?

Do you trust the
source?

\_ J




8. Keep on the right side of the law...

Councillors new to social media tend to be concerned about the legal implications. It is an
important consideration, and some councillors and other politicians have fallen foul of the
law, but with careful use and following some ground-rules you will be fine!

The style of communication employed in the social media environment tends to be fast
and informal. Messages can appear lightweight and transitory.

Whenever you post something on social media, it becomes a publication, you have
effectively made a broadcast. As it is now in the public domain, it is subject to both the
Code of Conduct and to various laws.

Code of Conduct

If you conduct yourself on Twitter or Facebook as you would in person on the street or in
your leaflets, then you will be fine.

Remember that according to guidance from the Ombudsman, the Code of Conduct applies
to you whenever you are “Conducting the business of your authority, acting, claiming to
act or give the impression you are acting in your official capacity as a member or
representative of your authority” Also the Code applies if you “Conduct yourself in a
manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing your office or your authority into
disrepute” 7

If you can be identified as a councillor when you are using social media, either by your
account name or how you describe yourself or by what you comment upon and how you
comment, the requirements of the Code of Conduct apply. If you say something that could
be regarded as bringing your office or authority into disrepute the Code applies even if you
are not apparently acting in your official capacity or do not identify yourself as a member.

Remember that the Ombudsman’s guidance states that “Making unfair or inaccurate
criticism of your authority in a public arena might well be regarded as bringing your
authority into disrepute”

7 https://www.ombudsman.wales/quidance-policies/

27

Page 33


https://www.ombudsman.wales/guidance-policies/

In the same way that you are required to act in council
meetings or in your communities you should:

e Show respect for others - do not use social media
to be rude or disrespectful

¢ Not disclose confidential information about people or
the council

¢ Not bully or intimidate others - repeated negative
comments about or to individuals could be interpreted
as bullying or intimidation

e Not try to secure a benefit for yourself or a
disadvantage for others

e Abide by the laws of equality - do not publish
anything that might be seen as racist, sexist, ageist,
homophobic, anti-faith or offensive to any of the
groups with protected characteristics defined in the
Equality Act 2010. Even as a joke or “tongue in
cheek”

Predetermination

As a councillor, you are aware that when you act in a
quasi-judicial capacity, for example on a planning or
licensing committee, you should not make up your mind
about an issue that is to be formally decided upon before
you had heard all the relevant information. You are
allowed to be predisposed to a particular view but not to
have gone so far as to have predetermined your position.

It is important to remember therefore, that anything
relevant you might have said about particular issues on
social media could be used as evidence of your having
made up your mind in advance of hearing all the relevant
information.

28
Page 34

\_

/ Don’t become a troll \

yourself!

Social media is a great tool
for councillors to challenge
and scrutinise, but always
think about what you are
saying, how you are saying
it, how often and about
whom. If you are perceived
to be too aggressive or too
confrontational or too
frequent, it could begin to
damage your reputation,
undermine your
relationship with colleagues
or you could risk breaching
the Code of Conduct in
terms of bullying,
intimidation or lack of
respect for others.

It's therefore not
appropriate for you to use
social media to criticise
your council’s officers, who
often will not be in a
position to defend or
respond publicly.

Many councils have apps or
member referral services; it
is often best to use these
mechanisms to request
council services or report
local concerns as you are
likely to receive a
resolution to your request.

J




Criminal Offences

Don't panic! These generally apply to you already in your conduct as a councillor, but it
is worth considering them as they apply to social media:

Harassment - It is a criminal offence to repeatedly pursue a campaign against
someone where this is likely to cause alarm, harassment nuisance or distress.

Data Protection and the General Data Protection Regulation. - It is
illegal to publish personal data about individuals unless they have given you
their consent. This might apply to your constituents or service users. As a
councillor you are a data controller in your own right and therefore personally
responsible for what you publish. Make sure you understand the requirements of
the GDPR and Data Protection Act. There is more information about this here.

Contact the Data Protection Officer in your council for more information.
Incitement - It is a criminal offence to incite any criminal act.

Discrimination and Racially Aggravated Offences (or any other protected
Characteristic) - It is a criminal offence to make a discriminatory remark about
anyone based on a “Protected Characteristic” as defined in The Equality Act

2010 (such as their race, religion, sexual orientation etc).

Malicious & Obscene Communications - It is a criminal offence to send
malicious or obscene communications.

[ Remember \

If you receive a message or someone posts something on your page that you
consider to be unsuitable remove it as soon as possible. If you “like” or appear to
endorse or retweet a message or image you are regarded as having published it,
and will face any legal consequences. It is therefore important to regularly check

and moderate any site on which others can post. If you are in any doubt about

how to deal with a message you receive, consult your Monitoring Officer.

29

Page 35


http://wlga.wales/gdpr-information-for-councillors

Civil Law

This is where things get riskier for anyone who uses Twitter or Facebook, whether they
are councillors, members of the public or celebrities:

Defamation - It is against the law to make a false statement about someone
which damages their personal or professional reputation. Crucially - even if you
simply retweet or pass on information originally posted by others, you
may still be held equally as responsible as the original commentator. This
can also apply to publishing images. If found liable to another person, you could be
ordered to pay large sums of money as damages.

Copyright - The legal ownership of the contents of documents, photos, videos and
music belong to the person who created them. You could be in breach of copyright
if you reproduce such material without the owner’s permission. Always ask for
written consent before you use someone else’s material.

Political Comment and
Beware of Fake News!

Electioneering - Remember

that although it is acceptable to Social media is breeding ground for fake
make political points or canvass news or ‘click bait" (where a deliberately
votes via your own social media salacious headline with a link tries to
accounts this will not be draw you in, often to a very mundane
permissible if you are using this news item accompanied by lots of pop-
via council supplied computer up adverts); view all news or gossip with
equipment, certainly in the run- a discerning eye — it could be

up to elections. The Electoral embarrassing if you retweet or promote
Commission has further fake news and, worse, you could be
information about the return on breaking the law if you circulate false
expenditure that candidates statements about someone, even if you
need to provide on advertising are just retweeting something someone

or campaign literature. \ else has posted. /

30
Page 36




9. Further information, interesting sites and sources
of help

Bear in mind that information, sites and terminology change quickly. The next big social
media platform will soon be on its way. Here are some current examples of information
and useful sites but bear in mind that they may be quickly out of date.

Social Media websites

Sign up to Twitter here

Sign up to Facebook here

Social Media Checklist for Councillors (Local Government Association)

#FollowMe - A guide to social media for elected members in Scotland
(Scottish Improvement Service)

Nextdoor is a social network for neighbourhoods where people who live
within the same or neighbouring communities can share information, organise
events and take opinion polls. It's a useful platform for members to raise
awareness and tap into what is interesting or concerning local residents.

31
Page 37



https://twitter.com/
https://twitter.com/
https://en-gb.facebook.com/
https://en-gb.facebook.com/
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/comms-hub-communications-support/digital-communications/social-1
http://www.improvementservice.org.uk/documents/elected_members/follow-me-guide-to-social-media-for-elected-members.pdf
https://nextdoor.co.uk/about_us/

10. Links

Here is a list of the links that were used in this guide:

Monmouthshire County Council - https://twitter.com/Mon CC Scrutiny

Swansea Council - https://twitter.com/SwanseaScrutiny

‘Faces of Swansea Council 2018’ Twitter campaign -
https://twitter.com/hashtag/facesofswanseacouncil2018

Love the Lagoon - https://twitter.com/lovethelagoon?lang=en

‘In the Depot’ campaign, Torfaen County Borough Council -
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=G6UerjFCLdI

Naming gritting lorries, BBC News - https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-south-
yorkshire-42026485

Public using social media to choose the name ‘Boaty McBoatface’, BBC News -
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-36064659

Blogs

Caerphilly County Borough Council Leader’s blog - http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-
Council/Councillors-and-committees/Leader-s-blog

Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council Leader’s blog -
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/ TheLeadersBlog/RhonddaCynonTafCouncilLeadersBlI

0g.aspXx

Denbighshire County Council Chairman blog -
https://denbighshirecouncilchairman.wordpress.com/

Clir Peter Black - http://peterblack.blogspot.com/

Deputy Lord Mayor of Swansea 2018-19 - http://swanseamayoralmusing.blogspot.com/

Clir Neil Prior - https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/year-county-councillor-surviving-thriving-
elected-life-neil-prior/?published=t

Councillor Twitter accounts

Clir Debbie Wilcox - https://www.twitter.com/LeaderNewport

Cllr Rob James - https://twitter.com/ClirRobJames
ClIr Peter Fox - https://twitter.com/PeterFox61
CllIr Julie Fallon - https://twitter.com/Cllrjuliefallon
ClIr Saifur Rahaman - https://twitter.com/ClIrSaif

32

Page 38


https://twitter.com/Mon_CC_Scrutiny
https://twitter.com/SwanseaScrutiny
https://twitter.com/hashtag/facesofswanseacouncil2018
https://twitter.com/lovethelagoon?lang=en
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=G6UerjFCLdI
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-south-yorkshire-42026485
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-south-yorkshire-42026485
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-36064659
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Councillors-and-committees/Leader-s-blog
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Councillors-and-committees/Leader-s-blog
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/TheLeadersBlog/RhonddaCynonTafCouncilLeadersBlog.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/TheLeadersBlog/RhonddaCynonTafCouncilLeadersBlog.aspx
https://denbighshirecouncilchairman.wordpress.com/
http://peterblack.blogspot.com/
http://swanseamayoralmusing.blogspot.com/
https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/year-county-councillor-surviving-thriving-elected-life-neil-prior/?published=t
https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/year-county-councillor-surviving-thriving-elected-life-neil-prior/?published=t
https://www.twitter.com/LeaderNewport
https://twitter.com/CllrRobJames
https://twitter.com/PeterFox61
https://twitter.com/Cllrjuliefallon
https://twitter.com/CllrSaif

ClIr Fiona Cross - https://twitter.com/ClIrFionaCross

ClIr Elin Walker Jones - https://twitter.com/elinmwj
Clir Debbie Wallice - https://twitter.com/DebbieWallice
Cllr Alun Williams - https://twitter.com/Alun_Williams

Cllr Joshua Davies - https://twitter.com/CllrJoshuaPlaid
ClIr Lisa Mytton - https://twitter.com/ClirLisaMytton

Useful organisations’ Twitter accounts

Welsh Local Government Association - https://www.twitter.com/WelshLGA

Local Government Association - https://www.twitter.com/LGAComms

Welsh Government - https://www.twitter.com/WelshGovernment

Local Government Section, Welsh Government - https://www.twitter.com/WG localgov

National Assembly for Wales - https://www.twitter.com/AssemblyWales
BBC Wales News - https://www.twitter.com/BBCWalesNews

Councillor Facebook pages

Clir Neil Prior - https://www.facebook.com/cllrneilprior/

Clir Dhanisha Patel - http://www.facebook.com/dhanisha4ogmore/

Cllr Matthew Dorrance - https://www.facebook.com/ClirMatthewDorrance/

Cllr Steve Churchman - https://www.facebook.com/councillorstevechurchman/

Local Authority Facebook pages

Wrexham Council - http://www.facebook.com/wrexhamcouncil/

Isle of Anglesey County Council - http://www.facebook.com/IOACC/

Snowdonia National Park - https://en-gb.facebook.com/visitsnowdonia

Flintshire County Council - https://www.facebook.com/Flintshire-County-Council-
124912774260207/

Vale of Glamorgan Council - https://www.facebook.com/valeofglamorgancouncil/

33
Page 39



https://twitter.com/CllrFionaCross
https://twitter.com/elinmwj
https://twitter.com/DebbieWallice
https://twitter.com/Alun_Williams
https://twitter.com/CllrJoshuaPlaid
https://twitter.com/CllrLisaMytton
https://www.twitter.com/WelshLGA
https://www.twitter.com/LGAComms
https://www.twitter.com/WelshGovernment
https://www.twitter.com/WG_localgov
http://www.twitter.com/AssemblyWales
https://www.twitter.com/BBCWalesNews
https://www.facebook.com/cllrneilprior/
http://www.facebook.com/dhanisha4ogmore/
https://www.facebook.com/CllrMatthewDorrance/
https://www.facebook.com/councillorstevechurchman/
http://www.facebook.com/wrexhamcouncil/
http://www.facebook.com/IOACC/
https://www.facebook.com/Flintshire-County-Council-124912774260207/
https://www.facebook.com/Flintshire-County-Council-124912774260207/
https://www.facebook.com/valeofglamorgancouncil/

Council YouTube pages

Cardiff Council - https://www.youtube.com/user/cardiffcouncil/featured

Conwy County Borough Council - https://www.youtube.com/user/ConwyWeb

Gwynedd Council - https://www.youtube.com/user/CyngorGwynedd

Monmouthshire County Council -
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCZHCKKCI7DqgtxDabOkj Esg/featured

Powys County Council - https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCop U-YVW7OBO0jRIt3b8f1Q

Social media support pages

Facebook support pages - https://en-gb.facebook.com/help/tools

Twitter support pages - https://help.twitter.com/en/safety-and-security/cyber-bullying-and-
online-abuse

Welsh Language

Welsh Language Commissioner guidelines on using the Welsh language on social media -
http://www.comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru/hybu/SiteCollectionDocuments/Using%20Welsh
%?200n%20Social%20Media%?20SA. pdf

Guidelines

WLGA Councillors’ Guide to Handling Online Abuse -
http://www.wlga.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=62&mid=665&fileid=1504

Police social media guidelines - https://www.askthe.police.uk/content/Q770.htm

Crown Prosecution Service guidelines on social media communications -
http://www.cps.gov.uk/legal/a to c/communications sent via social media/

The General Data Protection Regulation - Information for Councillors, WLGA -
https://www.wlga.wales/gdpr-information-for-councillors

Local Government Association (LGA) social media guidelines -
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/quidance-and-resources/comms-hub-
communications-support/digital-communications/social-1

Scottish Improvement Service Social Media guide for elected members -
http://www.improvementservice.org.uk/documents/elected members/follow-me-guide-to-
social-media-for-elected-members.pdf

34

Page 40


https://www.youtube.com/user/cardiffcouncil/featured
https://www.youtube.com/user/ConwyWeb
https://www.youtube.com/user/CyngorGwynedd
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCZHCKKCl7DqtxDabOkj_Esg/featured
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCop_U-YVW7OB0jRIt3b8f1Q
https://en-gb.facebook.com/help/tools
https://help.twitter.com/en/safety-and-security/cyber-bullying-and-online-abuse
https://help.twitter.com/en/safety-and-security/cyber-bullying-and-online-abuse
http://www.comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru/hybu/SiteCollectionDocuments/Using%20Welsh%20on%20Social%20Media%20SA.pdf
http://www.comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru/hybu/SiteCollectionDocuments/Using%20Welsh%20on%20Social%20Media%20SA.pdf
http://www.wlga.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=62&mid=665&fileid=1504
https://www.askthe.police.uk/content/Q770.htm
http://www.cps.gov.uk/legal/a_to_c/communications_sent_via_social_media/
https://www.wlga.wales/gdpr-information-for-councillors
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/comms-hub-communications-support/digital-communications/social-1
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/comms-hub-communications-support/digital-communications/social-1
http://www.improvementservice.org.uk/documents/elected_members/follow-me-guide-to-social-media-for-elected-members.pdf
http://www.improvementservice.org.uk/documents/elected_members/follow-me-guide-to-social-media-for-elected-members.pdf

Useful links for social media websites
Twitter - https://twitter.com/

Facebook - https://en-gb.facebook.com/

Nextdoor - https://nextdoor.co.uk/about us/

WhatsApp - http://www.whatsapp.com/
Hootsuite - https://hootsuite.com/
Buffer - https://buffer.com/

35
Page 41



https://twitter.com/
https://en-gb.facebook.com/
https://nextdoor.co.uk/about_us/
http://www.whatsapp.com/
https://hootsuite.com/
https://buffer.com/

This page is intentionally left blank



Councillors Guide to Handling Online Abuse Xk

. P i
March 2018 1\(6 *
¥ x

ik

o S e

. : . . Ko *
Social media has become a powerful tool for councillors, helping them to
engage with communities, raise awareness of community issues, events, CLILC-WLGA

or council initiatives and to seek views and receive feedback.

Social media however has its darker side; online abuse and bullying or ‘trolling’ has reached
record levels and politicians, particularly women, are often the target of unacceptable,
unpleasant and, sometimes, threatening online abuse.

“Abuse of public servants is unacceptable and the online abuse of
councillors should not be tolerated”

The abuse of public servants is unacceptable and the online abuse of councillors should not
be tolerated. Councillors are committed individuals who invest a huge amount of time,
energy and emotion into serving their communities and the public. Councillors do not often
receive thanks or recognition for their efforts, but they should not expect abuse and
harassment.

Being a councillor can be a challenging and often vulnerable role. In the era of austerity and
cuts to public service funding, the Cabinet Secretary for Local Government Alun Davies AM
recently recognised that ‘...the most difficult job in politics in Wales today is that of a
councillor’. Councillors often take difficult or controversial decisions, which may affect the
communities in which they live; councillors are local, accessible and visible and can
therefore be subjected to personal challenge, criticism or, worse, abuse.

Elected politicians in general are increasingly subject to personal abuse and threats; these
issues were explored and several recommendations were made in the December 2017
Report of the Committee on Standards in Public Life Review into ‘Intimidation in Public
Life’.1

In February 2018, Prime Minister Theresa May MP announced that the UK Government
intends to consult on making it an offence in electoral law to intimidate candidates and
campaigners?. Politicians will continue to take a personal and collective stand in challenging
intimidation, however until a change in law, candidates and politicians will unfortunately
have to continue to seek support from colleagues in managing or reporting any abuse.

thttps://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/666927/6.3637
CO v6 061217 Web3.1 2 .pdf

2 https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/pm-speech-on-standards-in-public-life-6-february-
2018

Page 43



Online abuse is an unfortunate feature of modern society and it is difficult to prevent in the
age of social media. Online abuse is on the increase; the overall number of ‘malicious
communications’ recorded by Welsh police forces more than doubled in 2015, to 2,915
reports of cyberbullying, trolling, online harassment and death threats3.

Concerns about online abuse of councillors are growing* and several councillors who stood
down at the 2017 elections did so due to general abuse from members of the public.

“Challenge and scrutiny is a key part of democratic accountability
and should be welcomed; but it should remain constructive and
courteous”

Challenge and scrutiny is a key part of democratic accountability and should be welcomed;
but it should remain constructive and courteous. Some residents may feel frustrated about
an issue or wish to raise a legitimate complaint; but it should be polite and respectfully
raised.

Occasionally such instances can cross the line but can be managed as they are well-
intentioned; other instances however can be malicious and vexatious.

Online abuse is sadly likely to be an inevitable downside of being a councillor, so it is
important that councillors prepare themselves and consider the steps they can take to
manage, minimise and respond to any incidents.

“Councillors need to be particularly careful about what they post
online themselves”

Councillors need to be particularly careful about what they post online themselves.
Councillors are expected to uphold the highest of standards and are subject to a statutory
code of conduct. Councillors should therefore ensure that what they say and how they say
things online do not cause undue distress or upset to members of the public or other
councillors. The WLGA has produced a separate Social Media Guide for Councillors which
outlines the “Dos and Don’ts” of social media and the legal and code of conduct risks (and
protection) for councillors.

Some unsympathetically say that politicians should ‘grow a thicker skin’ and whilst it is true
that councillors do have to prepare themselves for likely abuse and sometimes the best
approach is to ignore it if you can, there are some approaches you can take, social media
companies and, ultimately, the law are all on your side.

“Social media companies and, ultimately, the law are on your side”

3 http://www.bbc.com/news/uk-wales-41729206
4 http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-41263983

Page 44



Your response to a particular online post or to a repetitive troll however requires personal
judgement, circumstances will vary and each post may require a different response
depending on the nature and subject matter of the message, the history of the individual
and so on.

This guide provides advice on how to manage or report online abuse or harassment and
points you in the direction of online resources® which will guide you through the process of
blocking, unfriending, muting, hiding or reporting online posts.

In summary, if you don’t like a social media comment you might choose to ignore it or
challenge it but if a social media comment is libellous, threatening or becomes harassment,
you can take action and report it.

If you are concerned about any social media activity, you may wish to seek the advice of
your Monitoring Officer in the first instance; should you wish to seek other support you may
wish to approach the Head of Democratic Services or other councillors in your group or in
your ward.

ngackling abuse on Twitter™

1. “No tit for tat on twitter”

No matter how tempting it might be, entering a ‘tit-for-tat’ debate with a troll is a risky
approach. You are unlikely ever to have the ‘last word’ and trolls, like all bullies, seek
attention and are looking for a reaction; a response may just fuel them further.

“Shall | put you down as a ‘Maybe’ then?”

Humour and sarcasm can sometimes work: one councillor who received unpleasant abuse
from a troll during the local elections succeeded in silencing the troll by responding: ‘Shall |
put you down as a ‘Maybe’ then?’

Sometimes it can work and it can certainly make you feel better, but it may end up
encouraging a more vitriolic and prolonged response and sarcasm does not always translate
well on social media, so you may confuse or offend some of your normal followers as a
result.

It is also more than likely that you will have many, many more followers than the troll will.
Most trolls have few followers and many of them may be sympathetic to the troll’s opinions
and style. If you do decide to react and reply to a troll’s tweet, all your many hundreds or
thousands of followers will see the troll’s original tweet and you will just help spread the

5 Links to resources are embedded in the text but are also included in footnotes, should the reader be using a
hard copy version.

Page 45



troll’s abuse, allegations or misinformation on his or her behalf. On balance, it is probably
not worth giving the troll the oxygen of publicity.

2. Whistling in the wind?

Check to see if the troll has many followers and who those followers are. As noted above,
the chances are that a troll will have few followers. If that’s the case, no matter how
concerning the comments made it is likely that few people (and few people you care about)
will have seen them.

3. Your right of reply

If a troll has posted some inaccurate information about you or the council, you may of
course wish to set ‘the record straight’. You should balance up the risks and likely success of
this approach and, if the information is libellous, you may wish to receive legal advice or
follow up through alternative routes.

4. Move the tweet into a different domain

If the tweet is a complaint about a council service, ask for contact details and pass the
information to officers to follow-up on. Inform the individual that this is the course of action
you are taking. This may help defuse any tensions.

5. Take a record of the abuse

If you have received online abuse, even if you are not overly concerned or if you intend to
ignore it, you should consider keeping a record should any incidents escalate in the future.
You can simply ‘screen shot’, ‘clip’ or ‘snip’ tweets on your phone or computer. You may
also decide to warn the troll that you are keeping a record of all messages and may refer
them to the appropriate authorities, which may scare them off posting further comments or
might encourage them to delete them.

6. Dealing with defamation

In addition to taking a record, if you believe that a tweet defames you (i.e. a false statement
that could harm your reputation) there are several options you may wish to take. You may
contact the individual initially to request that the tweet be deleted; some individuals may
have made a mistake without malice and will remove their post immediately. Depending on
the nature of the tweet and the number of followers who may have viewed the tweet, you
may wish to seek a correction and/or an apology.

Page 46



If this approach is unsuccessful or where a defamatory tweet causes serious concern or is
part of a concerted campaign, you may wish to issue a ‘notice and take-down’ letter via your
solicitor; although you may not have the intention of proceeding further, the threat of legal
action is often a powerful deterrent and can prompt a swift and successful resolution. You
may wish to seek informal advice from your Monitoring Officer, but a Monitoring Officer is
unlikely to be able to become involved unless the defamer is another elected member (in
which case it may be an alleged breach of the Code of Conduct).

7. Mute or Block Trolls

You may wish to unfollow, mute or even block a troll or someone who is persistently
tweeting you. Guidance about to mute and block is available from Twitter, but in summary:

Muting® allows you to remove an account's Tweets from your timeline but does not go as
far as unfollowing or blocking the account. Muted accounts will not know that they have
been muted and you can ‘unmute’ them at any time.

Blocking’ allows you to restrict specific accounts from contacting you, seeing your Tweets or
following you. Unlike muting, trolls can find out that they have been ‘blocked’” and may
accuse you of avoiding their scrutiny; this may be a small price to pay if their behaviour is
checked and can be easily rebutted if necessary.

According to Twitter, blocked accounts cannot:

+ Follow you

+ View your Tweets (unless they report you, and your Tweets mention them)

+ Find your Tweets in search when logged in on Twitter

« Send Direct Messages to you

+ View your following or followers lists, likes or lists when logged in on Twitter
« View a Moment you’ve created when logged in on Twitter

« Add your Twitter account to their lists

« Tagyouin a photo

8. Report the abuse to Twitter

Twitter itself promotes ‘Rules’ encouraging constructive debate but it explicitly prohibits
behaviour ‘...that crosses the line into abuse, including behaviour that harasses, intimidates,
or uses fear to silence another user’s voice.’®

5 https://support.twitter.com/articles/20171399
7 https://support.twitter.com/articles/117063
8 https://support.twitter.com/articles/18311?lang=en#

Page 47



If tweets are so offensive that you believe they violate Twitter’s rules, you can report them
to Twitter who may decide to take action. For further information about how to report
‘violations’ visit Twitter’s How to report violations® page.

9. Report the abuse to the Police

If someone sends threatening, abusive or offensive messages via any social networking site,
they could be committing an offence. The most relevant offences are 'harassment' and
'malicious communications'.

According to the Police, harassment means a 'course of conduct' (i.e. two or more related
occurrences) and the messages do not necessarily have to be violent in nature, but must be

oppressive and need to have caused some alarm or distress.

An offence relating to malicious communications may be a single incident, but a for an
offence to have been committed, a message must be indecent, grossly offensive, obscene or
threatening or menacing.

The Police advise that you may wish to initially report the matter to Twitter, but if you wish
to report either of these alleged offences to your local police force, you should not respond
to the message as it may encourage the sender and make the situation worse. The Police
also advise that you take a screen shot of the message so if it gets deleted later there will

still be a record of what was said.

Further information about social media and criminal offences is available via the Policel®
and Crime Prosecution Service!!

f Tackling abuse on Facebook™

You can take a similar approach to responding to abuse and harassment as you would to
Twitter or any other social media platform; you need to weigh up whether it’s best to
ignore, respond, refer, take legal advice or report any incidents.

That said, Facebook has slightly different ‘Community Standards’*? and alternative methods
of dealing with complaints.

% https://support.twitter.com/articles/15789#

10 https://www.askthe.police.uk/content/Q770.htm

1 hitp://www.cps.gov.uk/legal/a to c/communications sent via social media/
12 https://www.facebook.com/communitystandards#attacks-on-public-figures

Page 48



You are also more likely to encounter community or campaign groups or pages which
facilitate scrutiny of you, fellow councillors or your local council and some have been set up
specifically with that purpose in mind. Scrutiny and constructive challenge should be
supported, but if these groups are not moderated effectively, they can provide a conduit for
abuse and harassment.

Although Facebook encourages respectful behaviour and takes action to protect ‘private
individuals’*® from bullying and harassment, it permits ‘open and critical discussion of
people who are featured in the news or have a large public audience based on their
profession or chosen activities’ but does take action around ‘credible threats’ and ‘hate
speech’'4,

Responding to abuse or harassment

There are a range of options for you to manage abuse or harassment on Facebook and full
instructions are available on the Facebook help page?®®:

e If you want a post removed from Facebook, you can ask the person who posted it to
remove it.

e If you don't like a story that appears in your News Feed, you can hide it.

e If you are not happy with a post you're tagged in, you can remove the tag.

* You can leave a conversation at any time, though the other people in the
conversation will be notified and you will no longer receive messages from the
conversation.

* You can unfriend or block another user; they will no longer be able to tag you or see

things you post on your timeline.
e If the post goes against Facebook’s Community Standards you can report it to
Facebook.

Responding to abuse or harassment in Groups or Pages

Scrutiny and constructive challenge should be supported, although both can provide a
conduit for abuse and harassment from individuals or groups if they are not moderated
effectively.

Your council may have a policy or tactic on communicating and engaging with such groups,
particularly if they have been set up to criticise the council, so you should take advice from
the council’s communications officers.

13 https://www.facebook.com/communitystandards#bullying-and-harassment
1 https://www.facebook.com/communitystandards#attacks-on-public-figures
Bhttps://www.facebook.com/help/408955225828742?helpref=search&sr=6&query=unfriend

Page 49



There is no right or wrong way with regards responding to a group or page which regularly
criticises the council or councillors; some believe that it is beneficial to engage
constructively, to explain, inform or signpost and hopefully improve awareness,
understanding and support, whilst others are more reluctant as it will require emotional
energy and time and the likelihood of successful engagement may be limited.

If you are concerned about comments or postings about you in a group or page, you can
report the post to the Group Administrator.® If you concerned about a group that is abusive
and you think it has broken Facebook’s Community Standards, you can report the group to
Facebook.'’

Managing and moderating your own Group or Page

You may wish to set up your own personal, councillor or community page on Facebook.
These are valuable platforms to promote local information, news, events or council
developments or seek people’s views on community or council proposals.

Members or the community and others can contribute and comment in an interactive
manner and whilst most is constructive and uses acceptable language, some individuals may
use bad language or ‘cross the line’ into abuse or harassment.

The use of bad language can sometimes be unintentional and if you are the group or page
administrator you can politely rebuke the individual and advise on expected conduct and an
apology is often forthcoming.

If you are a Group or Page administrator, Facebook provides you with a range of tools to
manage and moderate other people’s content or contributions to your Group or Page for
more serious breaches of standards.

You can:

e Block certain words or apply a ‘profanity filter’ in the settings, this will stop such
postings appearing in your page;

* Hide or delete comments, photos or tags; and

* Ban or remove someone from your pages.

718

Useful guidance and instructions are available on the ‘Banning and Moderation’*® section of

Facebook.

Administering a large Group can be a lot of work, particularly if group members are active. If
that’s the case, you might want to share the responsibility with other councillors, friends or

16 https://www.facebook.com/help/436113899837980?helpref=search&sr=1&query=report%20to%20admin
17 https://www.facebook.com/help/266814220000812 ?helpref=related
18 hitps://www.facebook.com/help/248844142141117/?helpref=hc fnav

Page 50



trusted community members. Guidance on making other people administrators or
‘moderators is available on Facebook?®.

Tackling abuse on blogs

Blogs are a quick and easy way for members of the public or councillors to set up mini-
websites to discuss and air views on matters of interest.

Occasionally, blogs may take an interest in local, community matters and some have been
set up specifically to scrutinise the local council or councillors.

Whilst scrutiny is a key part of local democracy and accountability, on occasions, some blogs
may make unfair comments or untrue allegations or may include abusive or threatening
commentary. Unlike Facebook and Twitter, there are no ‘community rules or standards’ to
moderate or challenge such content.

Depending on the nature of the comments, councillors therefore have several choices:

* Ignore the blog altogether and hope that few people read and become aware of the
comments;

* Engage with the blogger and seek to assure, inform or correct the comments as
appropriate. As with trolls however, this course of action may fuel and prolong the
debate and abusive comments further; or

e If you are concerned that the blogger is harassing you, threatening you, spreading
malicious communications or is defaming or libelling you, you may wish to record
any evidence (e.g. take some screen shots) and seek further legal advice or refer the
matter to the Police.

19 https://www.facebook.com/help/148640791872225?helpref=search&sr=3&query=group%20admin

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 5

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE
7 MARCH 2019

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER
OMBUDSMAN ANNUAL LETTER
1. Purpose of Report
1.1 To provide Members with a copy of the Ombudsman’s Annual Letter for 2017/2018.
2, Connection to Corporate Improvement Plan / Other Corporate Priority

2.1 Standards are an implicit requirement in the successful implementation of the
Corporate Priorities:

e Supporting a successful economy — taking steps to make the county a good place
to do business, for people to live, work, study and visit, and to ensure that our
schools are focused on raising the skills, qualifications and ambitions of all people
in the county.

e Helping people to be more self-reliant — taking early steps to reduce or prevent
people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the Council and its services.

e Smarter use of resources — ensuring that all its resources (financial, physical,
human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as possible and
support the development of resources throughout the community that can help
deliver the Council’s priorities

3. Background

3.1 The Ombudsman’s Office publishes an Annual Letter detailing, the performance of
the Authority against an average for Local Authorities in Wales, and the wider public
sector report which contains statistical information about complaints considered in
the year.

4. Current situation / proposal

4.1  The Annual Letter for 2017 / 2018 reports that the number of complaints received
by the Ombudsman concerning Bridgend County Borough Council has decreased
during this period by 10% from 44 to 40. There were no public interest reports
against Bridgend and only 1 case was taken forward for investigation.

4.2 The letter notes that complaints regarding Children’s Social Services halved from
12 to 6 in the past year. However, particular attention is drawn to the fact that
complaints regarding Environment and Environmental Health have increased from 3
to 9.

4.3 The letter is attached as Appendix 1.

Page 53



5.1

6.

6.1

7.

7.1

8.

8.1

9.

9.1

Effect upon Policy Framework& Procedure Rules

None.

Equality Impact Assessment

There are no equality issues arising from this report.

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Implications

There will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon the achievement of well-
being goals/objectives as a result of this report.

Financial Implications
None.
Recommendation

The Committee is recommended to note the report.

Contact Officer: K Watson

Monitoring Officer

Telephone: (01656) 643106
E-mail: Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address Level 4,

Civic Offices,
Angel Street,
Bridgend
CF31 4WB

Background Documents

None

Page 54



pmbudsman
Ombwdsmon

PUBLIC SERVICES OMBUDSMAN FOR WALES
OMBWDSMON GWASANAETHAU CYHOEDDUS CYMRU

Our Ref: NB/CW/MA

l .

15 October 2018
Councillor Huw David

Sent by email: Clir.Huw.David@bridgend.gov.uk

Annual Letter 2017/18

Following the recent publication of my Annual Report, | am delighted to provide you with the
Annual Letter (2017/18) for Bridgend County Borough Council.

Despite a chailenging complaints context, | am delighted to be able to report positive progress
in the activities of the office over the past year.

Four public interest reports have been published in the past year, but none related to local
authorities.

A new Public Services Ombudsman Bill has been introduced to the National Assembly and is
currently at the second stage in the legislative process. This means that Members have agreed
the general principles of the Bill and a Financial Resolution was agreed on 17 July 2018. This
new legislation will help drive up public service standards as it is important that Wales
continues to adopt best practices in complaints handling and public service improvement. If
the Bill progresses | will be engaging with public bodies in Wales in preparation for the
introduction of the new powers within the Bill.

Overview of complaints

Overall the number of complaints and enquiries received by my office has increased by 5%
this year, this is attributed to an 8% rise in enquiries.

This year my office saw a 4% decrease in public body complaints. Despite complaints against
NHS bodies increasing by 7%, we have seen a 10% reduction in complaints against councils.

After Health, which comprises 41% of all complaints, housing (11%), social services (9%) and
planning and building control (8%) remain significant areas of complaint.

The number of Code of Conduct complaints increased by 14% in the past year, this is
attributed to a 33% increase in Code of Conduct complaints involving Community Councils.
Many of these complaints have arisen following changes in the membership of councils.

42% of Code of Conduct complaints received were with regards to the promotion of equality
and respect, 19% were with regards to disclosure and registration of interests and 16% were
with regards to integrity.

Page 55



We are pleased to report that the number of complaints received by the Ombudsman
concerning Bridgend has decreased this year by 10% from 44 to 40. There were no Public
interest reports against Bridgend this year and only 1 case was taken forward for investigation.
We are further pleased to see that complaints regarding Children’s Social Services has halved
from 12 to 6 in the past year. However, we would like to draw your attention to the fact that
complaints regarding Environment and Environmental Health have increased from 3 to 9.

You will find below a factsheet giving a breakdown of complaints data relating to your Local
Authority. This year we have included a new set of statistics regarding Ombudsman
interventions. These include all cases upheld by my office as well as early resolutions and
voluntary settlements.

Please would you present my annual letter to the Cabinet to assist Members in their review of
the Council's performance.

This correspondence has been copied to the Chief Executive of the Council and to your
Contact Officer within your organisation. | would again reiterate the importance of this role.
Finally, a copy of all annual letters will be published on my website.

Yours sincerely,

Nick Bennett

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales

CC: Darren Mepham, Chief Executive
Charlotte Branford, Contact Officer

Page 56



Factsheet

A. Complaints Received and Investigated with Local Authority average adjusted by population

Local Authority Complaints Received Average Complaints Investigated Average
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 10 17 0 0
Bridgend County Borough Council 40 36 1 1
Caerphilly County Borough Council 40 - 45 1 1
Cardiff Council 109 90 5 3
Carmarthenshire County Council 25 46 3 1
Ceredigion County Council 35 18 5 1
City and County of Swansea 62 61 1 2
Conwy County Borough Council 36 29 3 1
Denbighshire County Council 20 24 3 1
Flintshire County Council 50 39 6 1
Gwynedd Council 29 31 2 1
Isle of Anglesey County Council 29| 17 - 2 0
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 13 15 2 0
Monmouthshire County Council 16 23 0 1
Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council 35 35 2 1
Newport City Council 37 37 2 1
Pembrokeshire County Council 34 31 0 1
Powys County Council 39 33 3 1
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 36 60 0 2
Torfaen County Borough Council 15 23 - 0 1
Vale of Glamorgan Council 30 32 4 1
Wrexham County Borough Council 41 34 3 1

Page 57




B. Complaints Received by Subject

Bridgend County Borough Council

Adult Social Services
Benefits Administration
Childrens Social Services
Complaints Handling

Education

Complaints Received |

Environment and Environmental Health
Finance and Taxation

Housing

Planning and Building Control

Roads and Transport

Various Other

= a0 o |w o [w

C. Comparison of complaint outcomes with average outcomes for Local Authorities, adjusted for population distribution

§ £ [ g € ;6 % »
g e | 828 | 38| % : Esc | 8 H
2 3 858 | »2E 2 to 835 | st
County/County Borough = ® o g H <5 % £ ag gES Eg 3 E
Councils 3 E 552 | iE 8 28 | 5ot | 28 g;qf
s & 5¢5 Sx| 2 5 £25 | 3 -
5 89 gs | @ £ 8§ | &
o Q o [ =]
Bridgend County 10 16 5 0 0 0 0 39
Bridgend County (adjusted) 10 13 5 0 1 1 0 34

Page 58




D. Number of cases with PSOW intervention

No. of complaints with Total number of % of complaints with
PSOW intervention closed complaints PSOW interventions

Local Authority

Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 3 11 27
Bridgend County Borough Council 5 39 13
Caerphilly County Borough Council 3 39 8
Cardiff Council 37 123 30
Carmarthenshire County Council 1 24 4
Ceredigion County Council 4 35 1
City and County of Swansea 11 62 18
Conwy County Borough Council 4 32 13
Denbighshire County Coungil 1 15 7
Flintshire County Council 11 47 23
Gwynedd Council 1 26 4
Isle of Anglesey County Council 2 26 8
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 3 13 I 23
Monmouthshire County Council 1 14 7
Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council 4 31 13
Newport City Council 8 34 24
Pembrokeshire County Council 3 32 9
Powys County Council [¢] 38 16
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 6 36 17
Torfaen County Borough Council 1 16 6
Vale of Glamorgan Council 3 32 9
Wrexham County Borough Council 8 41 20

Page 59



E. Code of Conduct Complaints Closed

Closed after No Refer to Refer to
Bg;‘:‘"‘,{’g:::gls Initial Discontinued | evidence :‘;::;':“ Standards | Adjudication | Withdrawn | Total
q consideration of breach Y | Committee Panel
Bridgend 3 1 4
F. Town /! Community council Code of Conduct Complaints
n Closed after No o Refer to Refer to
Town(l:(;:r:;“umty initial Discontinued | evidence ::c::;:m Standards | Adjudication | Withdrawn Total
consideration of breach Y | committee Panel
Brackla 3 3
Bridgend 1 1
Garw Valley 2 1 1
Ogmore Valley 1 1
Pencoed 1 1
Ynysawdre 3 3

Page 60




Appendix
Explanatory Notes

Section A compares the number of complaints against the Local Authority which were
received and investigated by my office during 2017/18, with the Local Authority average
(adjusted for population distribution) during the same period.

Section B provides a breakdown of the number of complaints about the Local Authority
which were received by my office during 2017/18. The figures are broken down into subject
categories.

Section C compares the complaint outcomes for the Local Authority during 2017/18, with the
average outcome (adjusted for population distribution) during the same period.

Section D provides the numbers and percentages of cases received by the PSOW in which
an intervention has occurred. This includes all upheld complaints, early resolutions and
voluntary settlements.

Section E provides a breakdown of all Code of Conduct complaint outcomes against
Councillors during 2017/18.

Section F provides a breakdown of all Code of Conduct complaint outcomes against town or
community councils.

Feedback

We welcome your feedback on the enclosed information, including suggestions for any
information to be enclosed in future annual summaries. Any feedback or queries should be
sent to catrin.wallace@ombudsman-wales.org.uk or matthew.aplin@ombudsman-
wales.org.uk.

Page 61



Page 62



Agenda Iltem 6

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE
7 MARCH 2019

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

OMBUDSMAN CASEBOOK AND CODE OF CONDUCT CASEBOOK

1.

1.1

2.1

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

4.1

Purpose of Report

To provide Members with a summary of cases that have been undertaken by the
Ombudsman’s Office.

Connection to Corporate Improvement Plan / Other Corporate Priority

Standards are an implicit requirement in the successful implementation of the
Corporate Priorities.

Background

The Ombudsman’s Casebook is published on a quarterly basis and contains the
summaries of all reports issued during the quarter, as well as a selection of
summaries relating to quick fixes and voluntary settlements.

The Code of Conduct Casebook is published quarterly and contains the summaries
of all reports issued under section 69(4) of the Local Government Act 2000.

Where the Ombudsman decides that a complaint should be investigated, there are
four findings, set out under section 69 of the Act, which the Ombudsman can arrive
at:

(a) that there is no evidence that there has been a breach of the authority’s code of
conduct;

(b) that no action needs to be taken in respect of the matters that were subject to
the investigation;

(c) that the matter be referred to the authority’s monitoring officer for consideration
by the standards committee;

(d) that the matter be referred to the President of the Adjudication Panel for Wales
for adjudication by a tribunal (this generally happens in more serious cases).

In the circumstances of (c) and (d) above, the Ombudsman is required to submit the
investigation report to the standards committee or a tribunal of the Adjudication
Panel for Wales and it is for them to consider the evidence found by the
Ombudsman, together with any defence put forward by the member concerned. It is
also for them to determine whether a breach has occurred and, if so, what penalty
(if any) should be imposed.

Current situation / proposal

The Casebook for July — October 2018 is attached at Appendix 1.

Page 63



4.2 The Code of Conduct Casebook (attached as Appendix 2) contains the summaries
of those cases for which the hearings by the standards committee or Adjudication
Panel for Wales have been concluded and the outcome of the hearing is known.
The Casebook covers the period October to December 2018.

5. Effect upon Policy Framework& Procedure Rules
5.1 None.
6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1  There are no equality issues arising from this report.
7. Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Implications

7.1 The report supports all the wellbeing objectives.

8. Financial Implications
8.1 None.
9. Recommendation

9.1  The Committee is recommended to note the report.

Contact Officer: K Watson
Monitoring Officer

Telephone: (01656) 643106
E-mail: Kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address Level 4,
Civic Offices,
Angel Street,
Bridgend
CF31 4WB

Background Documents
None

Page 64



meudsman

UBLIC SERVICES OMBUDSMAN FOR WALES

The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

News

Strategic Plan Ombudsman Committee

Sounding Board Appearances

In September, the Ombudsman The Ombudsman appeared in front of the

hosted two sounding boards for Assembly Public Accounts and Finance

public bodies and service users. Committees as his 2017/18 annual report
and accounts and financial estimate for the

These were held to help shape forthcoming year were scrutinised.

the Ombudsman’s next three-year
strategic plan which is due to be
published in April 2019. Thank
you to all the organisations who
took part.

Page 65




mbudsman

PUBLIC SERVICES OMBUDSMAN FOR WALES

The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Contents

Section 22

Section 16

Health

Complaints Handling 39
Education 45
Environment and Environmental Health 46
Housing 47
Planning and Building Control 53
Roads and Transport 55
Social Services — Adult 57
Social Services — Children 60
Various Other 61

Page 66




The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Section 22

The following summary relates to public interest reports issued under Section 22 of the Public
Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005.

Wrexham County Borough Council — Finance and Taxation

Case number 201708129 — Report issued in July 2018

Mr D had previously (in 2014, 2015 and 2016) contacted Wrexham County Borough Council (“the Council”)
about Welsh language errors in the Council Tax bills he had received. In 2017, after again receiving a bill
containing language errors, Mr D complained formally to the Council and then to the Ombudsman. The
Ombudsman felt that he could resolve the dispute by using his powers under s 3 of the Act which enables
him to resolve complaints early as opposed to undertaking a full investigation. To this end, on 3 October
2017, the Council formally agreed to apologise in writing to Mr D for the deficiencies in the Welsh language,
to pay him redress of £50 for his trouble, and to give an assurance that those errors would be rectified in
time for the 2018/2019 billing period (if not before).

Mr D received a bill for 2018/2019 in March 2018. He noticed that there were again a humber of Welsh
language errors (and inconsistency between Welsh and English within the document). He complained to
the Ombudsman that the Council had failed to comply with his recommendations after all, and that it was a
sign of “disrespect to tax payers, the Welsh language, the law and the Ombudsman.”

After seeing the evidence, the Ombudsman decided that he was not satisfied that the Council had
implemented the recommendations in full as had been agreed. He determined that he would need to
invoke his powers to issue a special report in order to convey the message to other public bodies that
early resolutions under the Act are serious matters. Bodies are required to comply with them having
agreed. The report was critical of the Council’s failure to implement the recommendations in full despite
the Council formally agreeing to do so, and that it was only now working towards making the necessary
changes for the next tax year. Given the Council uses the same system for Housing Benefit notifications,
the Ombudsman was not confident of their accuracy either. Therefore, the Ombudsman made further
recommendations, as follows, and the Council agreed to implement them:

The complaint was upheld, and it was recommended that the Health Board:

a) To send a written apology to Mr D once again for the continued delay in correcting the linguistic errors in
the Council Tax document (within one month).

b) To offer £100 in compensation for the injustice caused to him and for his efforts in having to raise the
matter with me again (within one month).

¢) To create a formal and written process regarding the procedure the Council has told me it will use to
produce the annual Notice (within three months).

d) The Chief Executive to write to me to provide an assurance that the Council’s documents in relation to
Council Tax and Housing Benefits will be sent to the Council’s translation partners to be reviewed (and
corrected as required). This task should be completed so that they are issued to the software systems
for the next financial year (2019/2020) in relation to Council Tax, and for the following year (2020/2021)
for Housing Benefit.

e) In the meantime, to create an accurate individual Council Tax Notice (as they did for Mr D) for any
other individual who requests it in Welsh (as required, before releasing the new Notice for the next
financial year).

Page 67
. hOBEEEEEEaass



The Ombudsman’s

4 Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Section 16
The following summaries relate to public interest reports issued under Section 16 of the

Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005.

Powys Teaching Health Board — Continuing Care

Case number 201702418, 201702773 & 201703369 — Report issued July 2018

The complainants, Mr P, Mr H and Mr S, complained about delays in the determination of retrospective
claims for NHS funded continuing healthcare. At the time the complaints were made to the Ombudsman,
none of the complainants had received a determination of their claim.

The Welsh Assembly Government (as it then was) set up a system whereby retrospective claims submitted
to individual health boards between August 2010 and April 2014 (known as “Phase 2 cases”) were mostly
transferred to Powys Teaching Health Board (“the Health Board”) to be determined. In June 2014 the
Welsh Government issued guidance indicating that such claims should take no longer than two years to
process. In 2016 the Health Board introduced a new, two stage, process for the management of the large
number of outstanding Phase 2 cases. This involves a preliminary review of the claim, which may result in
a full review being carried out of a shorter period than that requested.

Mr P’s claim was made to Cardiff & Vale University Health Board on 17 May 2013 and was transferred to
the Health Board in July 2014. On 17 August 2017 Mr P was notified of the outcome of the Stage 1 review
of his claim, and that the Stage 2 review would be of part of the period claimed.

Mr H’s claim was made to Aneurin Bevan University Health Board on 13 March 2013 and was transferred to
the Health Board in July 2014. On 18 August 2017 Mr P was notified of the outcome of the Stage 1 review,
and that the Stage 2 review would consider the whole of the period claimed.

Mr S’s claim was made to a local authority on 13 September 2013 and was transferred to the Health Board
in July 2014. On 16 August 2017 Mr S was notified of the outcome of the Stage 1 review, and that the
Stage 2 review would consider part of the period claimed. Mr S’s claim has now been disallowed.

The Ombudsman found that the failure to determine the claims within the recommended timeframe, or even
within a reasonable time, was maladministration. The complainants suffered the injustice of not knowing
whether their claims would succeed and, if they were successful, the delay in receiving reimbursement for the
costs incurred. He recommended that the Health Board apologise to the complainants and make a payment
of £125 to each in recognition of the considerable delay they had experienced.

The Ombudsman also recommended that the Health Board make a similar payment to each claimant whose
claim had not been reviewed as at 7 September 2017 and who had waited in excess of two years from the
date of the claim being accepted by the relevant Health Board.

The Health Board agreed to implement the recommendations.

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board & Hywel Dda University Health Board — Clinical Treatment in Hospital
Case number 201701479 & 201702267 — Report issued in July 2018

Mr B complained that his son ("C") waited two and a half years for urgent paediatric surgery. Mr B said this
was an unnecessary wait and had a significant impact on C's quality of life. C was 11 years old and a patient
of Hywel Dda University Health Board (“the First Health Board”) but as it did not deliver the service C required

he was referred to Cardiff and Vale University Health Board (“the Second Health Board”). The Second Health
Page 68



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Board determined C needed urgent surgery. C received surgery 151 weeks (two years ten months and twenty
days) after he was referred for treatment. During that time C suffered frequent infections, which required
antibiotic treatment, and needed an open wound on his side dressed three times per week.

The Ombudsman found that this delay was unacceptable; C should have been afforded greater clinical
priority by the Second Health Board. The Second Health Board did not regularly review C and did not
consider the impact C’s condition had on his life. Further to this the Ombudsman found that the First Health
Board should have provided Mr B with the details of a person he could contact if C encountered a delay
with his treatment and that the Second Health Board did not inform the First Health Board that it could

not meet the Welsh Government Target for RTT time in this case, and consequently, alternative options for
treatment were not considered.

The Ombudsman said that the impact of the delay in treating the debilitating condition, which could

not improve without surgery, could not be underestimated and that C's human rights may have been
compromised. Both the Health Boards accepted the findings in the report and acknowledged their role in
the failings of this case.

The First Health Board agreed that within one month it would:
a) Apologise to C for its part in the failings identified in this report and make a redress payment to him of
£500 in recognition of the injustice he suffered as a result of its actions.

The First Health Board also agreed that within three months it would:

b) Ensure that all patients referred for a service outside of the Health Board are provided with a point
of contact at the First Health Board with whom they can raise concerns if the provider breaches (or
indicates it will breach) the 36-week Welsh Government target.

¢) Ensure that if a patient, for whom it has commissioned care, advises the First Health Board that they
have (or have been informed they will) wait beyond the 36-week Welsh Government target, a system is
in place to ensure that alternative options are considered, based upon the merits of each case.

The Second Health Board agreed that within one month it would:
d) Meet Mr B (and C, if he would like) to apologise for the failings identified in this report.

The Second Health Board also agreed that within three months it would:

e) Undertake a review of the complete pathway of care C received since his initial referral to the Second
Health Board, in 2009. Any further failings should be considered, along with those already identified in
this investigation, using a process akin to the redress arrangements. This should include consideration of
both the physical and psychological impact that the delay had on C.

f) Create a process for paediatric surgery cases, which have been commissioned by another health board,
which will trigger engagement with the commissioning health board, if the case is likely to breach the 36-
week Welsh Government target, so that alternative options may be considered. It should also commence
a review of the processes in place to alert the referring health boards in its other service areas.

g) Undertake a retrospective audit of the management of all urgent referrals on the waiting list, made to
the consultant referred to in this case, since June 2014, using an Independent Consultant Paediatric
Urologist. If it is established that the waiting list has not been appropriately managed, or there are other
cases Where, due to their circumstances, a patient should have been afforded greater clinical urgency,
create an action plan to address the concerns.

h) Refer this report to the Health Board’s Equality Manager and to the Quality, Safety and Experience
Committee, to identify how consideration of human rights can be further embedded into waiting
list decisions.

Page 69
I D 5



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Newport City Council — Adult Social Services

Case number 201700724 — Report issued in August 2018

Ms C complained that from September 2013 her relative, Ms D, who has learning difficulties, was not
provided with adequate care by Newport City Council (“the Council”) and it left her without support. In
particular, it did not assess her capacity to oversee her financial affairs or arrange for an appointee to do so.

The Ombudsman found that a formal capacity assessment was not carried out by the Council for a period
of almost four years, despite it identifying on five separate occasions that Ms D was vulnerable and did
not understand basic money calculations. The Council left Ms D to handle her own financial affairs and at
risk of exploitation. Further to this, the Ombudsman found that when the Council was made aware of Ms
D being potentially exploited financially, it did not make a safeguarding referral or investigate the concerns
that had been raised seriously enough. However, the Ombudsman found that overall the general support
offered to Ms D by the Council was reasonable.

The Ombudsman said that Ms D should have been safeguarded financially by the Council and it was a
significant injustice that she was not. The Council accepted the findings in the report and acknowledged its
role in the failings of the case.

The Council agreed to take the following actions:

Within one month:

a) Write appropriate letters of apology for the failings identified in this report.

b) Make a payment to Ms D of an agreed amount for the identified failing of not adequately assessing her
need for financial safeguards between September 2013 and April 2017.

¢) Make a payment of £500 to Ms C in recognition of the distress caused by its failure as outlined in (b) and
ignoring her correspondence.

Within three months:

d) Ensure that arrangements are in place, so consideration is given to financial management during its
annual review of cases and determine how it will review concerns it receives in relation to financial
issues and capacity.

e) Discuss the contents of this report with the Community Adult Learning Disability Team to identify
learning areas.

f) Ensure arrangements are in place so relevant staff are reminded of the need to take accurate notes and
evidence the rationale for decisions in relation to capacity.

g) Within six months:

h) Demonstrate that all relevant Social Workers have either recently undergone or will undergo refresher
training in relation to the Mental Capacity Act and how to undertake and record capacity assessments.

Cwm Taf University Health Board — Patient list issues

Case number 201703374 — Report issued in September 2018

Mrs A complained that Cwm Taf University Health Board (“the Health Board”) delayed in providing her son,
Mr B, with appropriate and timely mental health and autism spectrum disorder ("ASD"”) assessments. She
also complained about the Health Board'’s failure to provide her with a robust response to her complaints.

In 2015, a Crisis Team assessed Mr B’s psychiatric and psychological needs and referred him for both
ASD and mental health assessments. My investigation found that the Health Board’s practice of referring
patients for ASD assessment prior to a referral for a mental health assessment was contrary to guidance

Page 70
B hhBEEEEEaasss



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

and good clinical practice. In Mr B's case, his ASD assessment was not completed until May 2017. During
this time, the Health Board failed to take any action to either consider, or provide for, Mr B’s mental ill
health. It was therefore two years before his mental health needs were assessed.

The Health Board’s care fell below expected standards, good clinical practice and guidelines in terms of its
lengthy delay in completing Mr B's ASD assessment, its failure to consider Mr B’s co-existing mental health
needs, and its failure to refer Mr B for a mental health assessment at the same time as his ASD referral. It
was not possible to determine whether Mr B’s situation would have been different had the Health Board'’s
failings not occurred, but it caused him uncertainty and distress. His human rights under Article 8 were
engaged as a consequence of the Health Board'’s identified failings.

When the first Community Mental Health Team ("CMHT") finally assessed Mr B’s mental health needs,

it concluded that Mr B should be accepted for secondary mental health services. Mr B changed address
soon after this assessment and had to be assessed by the second CMHT. This concluded that Mr B was
not eligible for secondary mental health services. The investigation was unable to reconcile the differing
decisions of the two CMHTs within the same Health Board and only six weeks apart.

The Health Board’s complaints response failed to address some of Mrs A’s specific concerns.

The Ombudsman upheld Mrs A's complaints and made recommendations which were accepted by the
Health Board. These included:
a) Financial redress payments and appropriate apologies to both Mrs A and Mr B for the failures identified.

b) A review of current practice to ensure it follows guidelines to allow patients with dual ASD and mental
health needs to be assessed concurrently.

¢) An audit of a sample of patients who had been referred for ASD and mental health assessments to
ensure others had not been similarly disadvantaged.

d) An audit of a sample of mental health assessments from both the first and second CMHTSs for a
consistent application of the criteria for access to secondary mental health services.

e) A reassessment of Mr B's mental health needs and eligibility for secondary mental health care services.

Page 71




" Ei The Ombudsman’s
:

| Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Health

Upheld

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Clinical Treatment in Hospital

Case number 201703367 — Report issued in July 2018

Mrs M complained about the care and treatment her late brother Mr A received in Ysbyty Glan Clwyd (“the
Hospital”) between 1 and 8 March 2017.

The Ombudsman’s investigation concluded that whilst broadly the care provided to Mr A was reasonable
and appropriate, he also found similar shortcomings in nursing care to that of Betsi Cadwaladr University
Health Board (“the Health Board”). The investigation also found some inadequacies in record keeping and
communication which meant that it was not always possible to be clear as to the quality of nursing care
delivered to Mr A. The Ombudsman concluded that the shortcomings identified amounted to service failings
and maladministration. To this extent only he upheld this part of Mrs M’s complaint.

The Ombudsman made a nhumber of recommendations which included the Health Board apologising to Mrs
M and her family for the failings identified as well as the Health Board reminding medical and nursing staff
of their professional accountability when it comes to record keeping and communication with patient and
family members.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board & Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust

— Clinical Treatment in Hospital

Case number 2010702470 & 201703840 — Report issued in July 2018

Miss X complained about the care and treatment provided to her late brother, Mr Y, by the Welsh
Ambulance Services NHS Trust (WAST) and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the Health Board”).
She complained about a delay in the ambulance crew attending Mr Y, the time taken to transport him to
hospital and whether his prioritisation was appropriate. She complained that when he arrived at hospital,
there was a delay in transferring Mr Y to the Emergency Department ("ED”) and that his observations were
not carried out frequently enough which led to a delay in identifying a brain haemorrhage. Miss X was
concerned his condition was not taken seriously due to an assumption of alcohol consumption. Miss X was
also concerned that Mr Y did not received appropriate nursing care.

The investigation found that the prioritisation of the call was appropriate. It also found that that whilst
there was a delay in an ambulance arriving at the scene, WAST had made every effort to attend Mr Y as
soon as reasonably practicable within the resources it had. However, the delay in transporting Mr Y to
hospital once paramedics had arrived was outside the bounds of acceptable clinical practice. This element
of the complaint was upheld.

The investigation also found there was a delay in transferring Mr Y’s care to ED. However, the hospital was
under extreme operational pressure which was being managed, Mr Y was regularly monitored and, as soon
as his condition deteriorated, he was transferred to ED.

There was no evidence to substantiate Miss X’s concern about alcohol consumption. Shortcomings in record
keeping relating to nursing care indicated that nursing care was not of the standard expected. This element
of the complaint was upheld.

Page 72
B hhOBEEEEEss



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board — Clinical Treatment in Hospital

Case number 201703179 — Report issued in July 2018

Mr S complained about the care and treatment that his late mother, Mrs M, received at the Royal Gwent
Hospital’s Maxillofacial & Oral Surgery Unit (‘the Unit") where she underwent surgery to excise a cancerous
growth from her nose. Mr S complained that:

1. Mrs M was told that the surgery would be carried out under general anaesthetic (GA) and that she
should remain nil by mouth on the day of the operation. However, on arriving at the Royal Gwent
Hospital, Mrs M was shocked and upset to discover that the procedure would be carried out under local
anaesthetic (LA)

2. Mrs M was inadequately anaesthetised and found the procedure extremely unpleasant. She subsequently
experienced avoidable post-operative distress, pain and discomfort

3. A consent form was not completed prior to the procedure and Mrs M was not, therefore, properly
informed of the risk of post-operative pain and other complications that she subsequently experienced.

The Ombudsman, assisted by his clinical adviser, found that although the LA that Mrs M received was
anaesthetically adequate, in view of the extensive nature of the surgery, she should have been offered the
option of a GA. As there was no evidence of any compelling medical reasons for not offering her a GA, the
Ombudsman upheld complaint number two.

Whilst the Ombudsman’s investigation could not determine how Mrs M came to believe that she would
receive a GA rather than a LA, and whilst appropriate consent forms were completed, he nevertheless
partially upheld complaints one and three on the basis that the decisions and discussions about these
matters were not adequately recorded in Mrs M’s medical records (in accordance with relevant guidance).
The Ombudsman considered that this failing resulted in an injustice to Mrs M (and to Mr S), as these
elements of the complaint could not be fully evaluated.

The Ombudsman recommended that Aneurin Bevan University Health Board (“the Health Board”) provides
Mr S with a fulsome apology for the identified failings and, in recognition of the distress and uncertainty
that they gave rise to, makes a payment to him of £500.

The Ombudsman also recommended that:

1. Physicians at the Unit are reminded of contemporary developments in guidance governing how consent
is obtained and recorded, and of their obligation to keep clear, accurate records of discussions and
decisions

2. The Health Board conducts an audit of facial surgery procedures conducted at the Unit since 2015. The
audit should examine and report on the relative frequency of the use of local and general anaesthetic to
ensure that decisions about anaesthesia are based on the clinical circumstances of each case and reflect
established practice in this domain.

The Health Board has agreed to implement these recommendations.

Cwm Taf University Health Board — Clinical Treatment in Hospital

Case number 201700805 — Report issued in July 2018

Mrs A complained about the care and treatment her late mother, Mrs X received from Cwm Taf University
Health Board (“the Health Board”). Specifically, Mrs A complained that the identification of a mass on Mrs
X's liver should have prompted further investigations and, that Mrs X should have been given a follow up

Page 73
. hhOBEEEEEss



A Coshsok

Issue 34 July - October 2018

appointment following gallbladder surgery. Mrs X also complained that there was a failure to appropriately
administer Mrs X’s medication and meet her needs following her stroke. Mrs A also said that Mrs X's
discharge from hospital was unsafe. Mrs A said that, in her view the Health Board prioritised the care of
Mrs X’s cancer rather than the stroke and that the cancellation of a diagnostic procedure caused a delay
in retrieving a biopsy of Mrs X’s tumour. Finally, Mrs A complained that there was poor communication and
that the Health Board failed to adequately respond to her complaints.

The investigation found that there had been a failure to document when and why medication had not been
administered to Mrs X. The investigation also found that Mrs X had been discharged from hospital following
significant diagnosis without any discharge assessment or referral to community support services. The
investigation found that, following her stroke, the Health Board failed to meet Mrs X’s needs and maintain
her dignity. Finally, the investigation found that the Health Board had failed to appropriately respond to Mrs
A’s complaint in accordance with the Putting Things Right complaints process.

It was recommended that the Health Board apologises to Mrs A and pays her £500 in recognition of

the poor complaint handling and distress in having to bring her complaint to this office. It was also
recommended that the Health Board reminds complaint handlers to review complaint responses and ensure
that technical terms are fully explained. It was recommended that the Health Board reminds nursing staff
that, when medication has not been administered, an explanation should be noted in the medication chart
and, the Occupational Therapy Team of their record keeping responsibilities. Finally, it was recommended
that the Health Board reminds all staff of their responsibilities when safely discharging a patient.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Clinical Treatment in Hospital

Case number 201702513 — Report issued in July 2018

Mr A complained that Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the Health Board”) failed to diagnose

his condition correctly when he attended one of its Emergency Departments with sudden and severe
abdominal pain. He also complained that the Health Board took too long to respond to his complaint about
that issue.

The Ombudsman determined that the Health Board had misdiagnosed Mr A's condition. He indicated that it
should have made a provisional diagnosis of biliary colicl and not constipation. He upheld the clinical care
element of Mr A's complaint. The Ombudsman found that the Health Board’s response to Mr A’'s complaint
had been unreasonably delayed and that the involvement of a particular staff member, in its investigation
of that complaint, had been inappropriate. He upheld the complaint handling part of Mr A's complaint. He
recommended that the Health Board should apologise to Mr A for the clinical care and complaint handling
failings identified. He asked the Health Board to pay Mr A £500 in recognition of the adverse impact that
the clinical care failings specified had probably had on Mr A and his wife, Mrs A. He also recommended that
the Health Board should explain to Mr A why its written response to his complaint had been delayed. The
Health Board agreed to implement these recommendations.

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board — Clinical Treatment in Hospital

Case number 201701827 — Report issued in July 2018

Mrs Y complained that following the admission of her late husband (*Mr Y”) to A&E at the Princess of
Wales Hospital, his pain was not managed appropriately and there had been a delay in his treatment. She
was also concerned that he did not have an operation to address an infection in his elbow quickly enough.
Sadly, Mr Y died of an infection after his operation.

Page 74
10



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

The Ombudsman found there had been a delay in administering Mr Y with antibiotics in accordance with
the Health Board’s sepsis1 toolkit. However, there was no uncertainty that this delay would have affected
the progression of his infection. The Ombudsman considered however that this uncertainty amounted to

an injustice to Mr Y’s family and accordingly upheld the complaint. The Ombudsman did not however find
sufficient evidence to conclude that Mr Y’s pain management had been inadequate. He also considered that
Mr Y’s operation was undertaken in a timely manner.

The Ombudsman recommended that Abertawe Bro Morgannwg Health Board apologise to Mr Y’s family and
conduct an audit of patients admitted to the hospital to ensure that the administration of antibiotics occurs
in accordance with the timescales in its sepsis toolkit.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Clinical Treatment in Hospital

Case number 201702784 — Report issued in July 2018

Mrs B complained to the Ombudsman that her late husband, Mr B, who was very unwell had been
inappropriately moved from the cardiac ward of Ysbyty Gwynedd into a store room on the ward. This
happened on two separate occasions during the early hours of the morning. Mrs B was also concerned that
the room was ill-equipped to look after patients safely and questioned why Mr B had been selected to be
moved into the store room when on the face of it, less ill patients were not moved.

The Ombudsman found that it is commonplace for hospitals to have to use non-clinical spaces as escalation
areas when capacity to accept patients is exceeded. This was the case on the two occasions Mr B was
moved into the store room. The Ombudsman recognised Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the
Health Board"”) staff do not wish to take such action, but it is necessary to ensure overall patient safety. He
did not uphold this element of the complaint. However, in Mr B’s case the store room had not been used
previously to nurse patients and staff were not expecting or prepared to use it in this way.

The Ombudsman found that as a result, it was inappropriate to have used this room to care for Mr B
given its inadequate provision and facilities. He upheld this element of the complaint and recommended
the Health Board review all escalation areas to ensure that they are suitable and sufficiently equipped to
provide appropriate patient care.

Finally, the Ombudsman found that it would have been clinically acceptable to have transferred Mr B to the
store room (had it been appropriately equipped) but was unable to comment on whether it would have
been more appropriate to move other patients instead of Mr B as it dependent on their individual clinical
situation.

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board — Health

Case number 201703578 — Report issued in August 2018

Ms N complained that Aneurin Bevan University Health Board (“the Health Board”) removed her daughter,
K, from dialectical behaviour therapy (DBT) without considering the effect this decision would have on her
and without a suitable treatment plan in place. Ms N was also unhappy that the Health Board failed to
communicate with K leading up to and following her removal from DBT.

The Ombudsman’s investigation found that the Health Board undertook a carefully considered decision
to remove K from DBT, that it was made in her best interests and there were suitable support packages
available following her removal. The Ombudsman did, however, conclude that communication between

Page 75
BT



A Coshsok

Issue 34 July - October 2018

the Health Board and Ms N and K was strained at times due to the multitude of professionals involved
in K’s care. This resulted in confusion, mixed messages and the Health Board giving K a handout with
inappropriate advice.

The Ombudsman recommended that the Health Board apologise to both Ms N and K for the failings
identified. He also recommended that the Health Board reviews how it communicates with young patients,
that it considers a single point of contact in complex cases when multiple professionals are involved, and it
reviews its DBT handouts to ensure they are appropriate for young people with complex disorders.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Health

Case number 201705880 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr C complained about the overall care and treatment he received in Ysbyty Glan Clwyd (“the Hospital”)
between 11 and 27 September, including whether he was discharged appropriately.

The Ombudsman'’s investigation determined that following Mr C’s admission after suffering a seizure at

his holiday home, and a further seizure whilst in the ambulance, Mr C suffered a third seizure whilst in

the Emergency Department. This was contrary to what Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the
Health Board”) had told Mr C. Following two X-rays, Mr C was found to have dislocated and fractured both
his shoulders. The Ombudsman, however, could not be certain when these injuries occurred because of
inadequate record keeping. After successful surgery on both shoulders, the Hospital discharged Mr C but
the Ombudsman found that the discharge planning was inadequate. Poor communication between staff
regarding whether Mr C would stay locally or return to England, led to delays in follow-up treatment and Mr
C having to find a local GP himself.

The Ombudsman upheld Mr C's complaint and recommended financial redress in recognition of the delay
in identifying his injuries and the poor discharge planning. The Ombudsman also recommended that

the Health Board considered how it could improve its communication and discharge process for ‘holiday’
patients when they required further acute care.

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board — Health

Case number 201704527 — Report issued in August 2018

Ms C complained that she suffered complications as a result of an operation to remove her gall bladder. In
particular, Ms C was concerned that she was not kept in overnight when she suffered a capsular tear to her
liver during the procedure. She was also concerned about the standard of communication with her and her
family and that when she was readmitted to hospital, there was a delay in diagnosing and treating sepsis.
Ms C was also concerned about her pain management during these admissions.

The Ombudsman found that the operation was carried out to an appropriate standard and Ms C suffered
a recognised complication of the procedure. It was appropriate in the circumstances for her to have been
discharged home. The Ombudsman found that when Ms C was readmitted, her sepsis was recognised and
addressed within a reasonable timescale. However, the Ombudsman was critical of delays in carrying out
a CT scan and in reviewing the scan once it was available. This caused a small delay in Ms C’s subsequent
operation. To that extent only, he upheld the complaint. The Ombudsman did not uphold the complaints
about pain management and communication. The Ombudsman recommended that Cardiff and Vale
University Health Board apologise to Ms C, that it should review its procedure for authorising CT scans,
and review its practice in deciding which is the appropriate surgical team to refer a patient to in the
circumstances in which Ms C was admitted.

Page 76
12



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board — Health

Case number 20170503 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr A complained about the care and treatment provided to his late partner Ms D during her inpatient stay
at the Royal Gwent Hospital (“the Hospital”) between March and April 2017. He also complained about the
Aneurin Bevan University Health Board’s (“the Health Board”) handling of his complaint.

The Ombudsman'’s investigation found that there were shortcomings in the nursing care provided to Ms D,
who was vulnerable and at high risk of choking due to her condition. He considered the failure caused Ms
D discomfort at a time when her condition was slowly deteriorating and caused additional and unnecessary
distress to Ms D and her partner.

The Ombudsman was of the view that had a personalised nursing care plan been in place from the outset
it would have prevented Ms D being fed porridge and being given mouth wash for oral hygiene. The
investigation also identified shortcomings, some of which the Health Board had identified, in the completion
of nursing assessments such as food and fluid charts as well as poor communication.

The investigation also found that Mr A was caused distressed by seeing his partner left in an undignified
way shortly after her death. The Ombudsman made it clear that dignity is as important after death as

in life and that where this is not taken care it can have a significant impact on the family member left
behind and how they cope with their loved one’s death. Mr A's complaint was upheld. The Ombudsman’s
recommendations included the Health Board apologising to Mr A for the shortcomings identified and paying
Mr A £500 for the distress caused by the clinical failings which were compounded by failings around dignity
and £250 for inadequacies in complaint handling.

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board — Health

Case number 201701687 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr P complained to the Ombudsman about the care and treatment he received following his referral to

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board’s (“the Health Board”) Trauma & Orthopaedic Directorate with pain

and loss of function in his right shoulder. Mr P complained that:

a) Clinicians declined to conduct an ultrasound (“US") scan of his shoulder as requested by his GP. Whilst
this decision reflected changes to the Health Board’s US guidelines, it delayed / prevented a definitive
diagnosis being reached.

b) For over a year, he attended physiotherapy outpatient appointments but, despite repeated requests, he
was never seen by a consultant or referred to a shoulder surgeon.

C) After a year of increasing pain and frustration, he sought a private orthopaedic opinion. A private
surgeon quickly diagnosed and surgically repaired a rotator cuff tearl. Mr P complained that, for over a
year, NHS clinicians failed to identify this common shoulder condition.

The Ombudsman, through his Clinical Adviser, upheld Mr P’s complaints. He recommended that the Health
Board provides a fulsome written apology to Mr P which recognises the clinical and communication failings
identified in the report and which also address the Health Board’s significant delay in confirming that it
accepted the report’s findings and recommendations.

The Ombudsman also recommended that the Health Board, in recognition of these failings, makes a
payment to Mr P in the sum of £1,000.

Page 77
. hhhSEEEEEEscs



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

The Ombudsman further recommended that senior physicians at the Health Board’s Trauma & Orthopaedic
Directorate are reminded of the need to ensure that patients who fail to respond to conservative treatment
receive a consultant-led, clinical assessment and appropriate investigative scans in a timely manner.

Finally, the Ombudsman recommended that the Health Board reviews its revised US guidelines and
considers:

a) Clarifying and specifying the criteria for accepting shoulder-scan referrals in greater detail (so that
GPs know where and when to refer patients)

b) Co-ordinating and integrating the use of US scans into the treatment pathway for patients with
suspected impingement and rotator cuff tears.

I am pleased to note that the Health Board has agreed to implement these recommendations.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Health

Case number 201702075 — Report issued in August 2018

Ms T complained that, having been referred to the Urology Service at Ysbyty Gwynedd by a private
Consultant Urologist for an investigative cystoscopy procedure (the findings of which were normal), she
was discharged with no plan for further investigation of her symptoms of persistent urinary tract infections
(UTIs) and overflow urinary incontinence.

Ms T described how:

« She felt ‘abandoned’ by NHS clinicians, who failed to take account of her history of spinal nerve
compression and failed to note that a scan, conducted some days before the cystoscopy, revealed that
her cauda equina (a nerve junction in the spine) appeared “compromised”

» She subsequently felt obliged to obtain a referral to a second private Consultant Urologist who promptly
arranged for her to undergo urodynamic assessments.

The Ombudsman upheld Ms T’s complaint and recommended that Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board
(“the Health Board”) provide her with a fulsome apology for the failings identified, together with a payment
of £500 in recognition of the expense and inconvenience that she encountered in pursuing alternative
sources of treatment and in pursuing her complaint about this matter.

The Ombudsman also recommended that the Health Board reminds Urology Service physicians that
referral of patients to the NHS from private consultations does not relieve them of the duty of care owed to
patients referred to the NHS from any other source. The Health Board accepted these recommendations.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Health

Case number 201702873 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr X complained that there had been a delay in undertaking a template biopsy of his prostate following a
referral from the Consultant Urologist and, that there had been poor communication on the part of Betsi
Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the Health Board”).

The investigation found that, whilst the decisions relating to the type of treatment Mr X received were
reasonable, the delays in providing that treatment were unreasonable and not in accordance with

the Welsh Government'’s Referral Guidelines for Suspected Cancer. The investigation also found that,
throughout the process, there had been little communication or support provided to Mr X by the
Health Board.

Page 78
. hhOBEEEEasve



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

The complaint was upheld, and it was recommended that the Health Board apologise to Mr X and pay him
£3750 in recognition of the delays, poor communication and lack of support experienced during this difficult
time. It was also recommended that the Health Board provide a further update on its capacity to provide

or to commission template biopsies within 31 days of referral and review its process for the provision of
support to patients who have been informed that they may have cancer. Finally, it was recommended that
the Health Board discuss the findings of this report with the relevant clinicians and officers.

GP Practice in the area of Aneurin Bevan University Health Board — Health

Case number 201702516 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr Y complained that Mrs X had been issued with prescriptions over the telephone without being examined
by a GP at a GP Practice (“the GP Practice”) in the area of Aneurin Bevan University Health Board. Mr Y also
raised concerns over whether tests and investigations carried out into Mrs X's condition were reasonable
and appropriate, and if opportunities had been missed to diagnose Mrs X with bowel cancer. Mr Y also
complained that, during a telephone call to the GP Practice he was told by the receptionist to call the Out
of Hours ("OOH") GP service once the GP Practice had closed.

The Ombudsman found there was an occasion when Mrs X was prescribed medication without being seen
and deemed this was inappropriate. There was no evidence however that this was a regular practice and
the complaint was partially upheld. The Ombudsman was unable to conclude with any confidence whether
the provision of tests and investigations were reasonable due to the inadequate record keeping by GP’s.
This element of the complaint was upheld.

The Ombudsman found that it was unacceptable that the task of telephoning a patient fell to a receptionist.
The advice given to contact an OOH GP would have been acceptable had a GP undertaken a telephone
assessment and recorded the rationale for the decision not to visit Mrs X; however, this was not the case
and the complaint was upheld. The Ombudsman recommended that the GP Practice apologise to Mr Y

for the failings identified, remind relevant staff of the importance of full and accurate record keeping

and review its practices to ensure that correspondence concerning patients was immediately available
electronically for GPs to access.

GP Practice in the area of Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Health

Case number 201703689 — Report issued in August 2018

Ms A complained about the way a GP Practice (“the GP Practice”) in the area of Betsi Cadwaladr University
Health Board, administered a contraceptive injection and that it did not appropriately inform her about its
side effects. Ms A said the contraceptive injection caused an abscess which required surgery under general
anaesthetic.

The Ombudsman found that the way the GP Practice administered Ms A’s contraceptive injection was not
in line with good practice and guidance and could have increased Ms A’s risk of an adverse reaction. He
also found documentation relating to the administration of the injection did not appear to be in line with
required standards. The Ombudsman upheld this element of the complaint.

The Ombudsman found that the approach adopted by the GP Practice in respect of advising Ms A about
side effects was appropriate. He did not uphold this element of the complaint.

Page 79
. hSEEEEEasTe



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

The Ombudsman recommended that the GP Practice write to Ms A to apologise for the failings identified
and provide a redress payment of £250 to reflect the distress and inconvenience she experienced. He also
recommended that the findings were shared with relevant staff at the GP Practice, and that it reported the
incident to the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency.

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board — Health

Case number 201705098 — Report issued in August 2018

Mrs B complained about the care and treatment her daughter ("C") received from the Aneurin Bevan
University Health Board (“the Health Board”). She complained that the Health Board failed to diagnose C's
condition during Mrs B's pregnancy, failed to recognise that C's medical history and ongoing symptoms were
due to the undiagnosed condition (resulting in C not being diagnosed until she was four) and then took too
long to arrange an appointment with a specialist following the diagnosis. Mrs B also said the Health Board
failed to arrange a meeting to discuss unresolved concerns and the request was poorly handled.

The Ombudsman found that that the overall care C received was good. There were some delays in the
pathway but, generally, the care was timely and appropriate and there is nothing to indicate that more
regular reviews by the Paediatric Orthopaedic Service would have changed C's care or treatment. Whilst the
referral to the specialist took an extended period, appropriate referrals were made for treatment whilst the
family awaited that appointment and the delay did not impact on the treatment given to C.

The Ombudsman also found that despite chasing the Health Board on numerous occasions, a meeting
requested by Mrs B never happened. The Health Board eventually stopped responding to Mrs B’s advocate’s
requests to be updated and this was unacceptable. The Health Board agreed to apologise to Mrs B and
make a payment of £100 in recognition of the inconvenience caused.

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201700182 — Report issued in September 2018

Mrs J complained about the care and treatment she received from a Consultant Orthopaedic Surgeon
between 5 January and 22 June 2016. Mrs J underwent four surgical interventions during this time to address
pain in her left hip. In particular, Mrs J complained about the Consultant Orthopaedic Surgeon’s failure to take
into account her pre-existing conditions and explain the risks and possible outcomes of a hip operation that
left her with one leg significantly shorter than the other and having to wear an external shoe raise.

The Ombudsman’s investigation found that the Consultant Orthopaedic Surgeon failed to appropriately
inform Mrs J of all the risks of her complex surgery or outline what non-surgical options might be available.
He also failed to record adequate notes, which brought into question whether Mrs ] had given informed
consent. The Ombudsman also found that whilst Mrs J suffered a fracture following her first surgery that
impacted her significantly, the Consultant Orthopaedic Surgeon carried out the operation competently.

The Ombudsman upheld Mrs J’s complaint and recommended an apology and significant financial redress.
The Ombudsman also recommended that the Consultant Orthopaedic Surgeon undergoes refresher training
on obtaining consent and creates a patient information document that details the risks and possible
outcomes for patients of hip revision surgery.

Page 80




The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Hywel Dda University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201704879 — Report issued in September 2018

Mrs X attended Prince Philip Hospital on 5 April 2016 for a total hip replacement. Following this procedure,
she was unresponsive, and her drowsiness was assumed to be because of post-operative recovery. She
was unsuccessfully administered antidotes for anaesthesia. Mrs X was later found to have suffered a major
stroke. Mrs Y complained about the treatment her late sister, Mrs X received between 5 and 8 April 2016,
that her hole in the heart had only been detected on 8 April and Mrs X had not been in a private setting
when she died on 14 April.

The Ombudsman found that on 5 April, Mrs X should have had a full neurological examination, the antidotes
administered considered and a CT head scan arranged. A CT scan conducted the next day led to a failure in
informing Mrs X’s family the severity of her situation. He had no criticism that Mrs X's hole in the heart was
not detected until 8 April, as it did not need investigation before the procedure. The Ombudsman found that
on 14 April, there was no suitable room available for Mrs X’s end of life and while not the best option, in the
circumstances it was appropriate. Hywel Dda University Health Board agreed to implement the Ombudsman’s
decision and apologise to Mrs X's family for the failings, make a redress payment of £750, remind staff that
an appropriate assessment tool be used for drowsy patients and reviews whether a handover tool should be
used when moving a patient from the recovery ward to the wards and from the wards to ITU.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201800346 — Report issued in September 2018

Mr F complained that, between 5 August 2016 and 9 June 2017, Betsi Cadwaladr University Health
Board (“the Health Board") failed to appropriately diagnose and treat the cause of his Eustachian tube
(which connects the back of the nose to the middle ear and regulates pressure in the ear) dysfunction,
misinformed him about his condition and treatment options, and inappropriately referred him to another
hospital for treatment which it did not offer.

The Ombudsman found that the Health Board appropriately and promptly diagnosed Mr F’'s Eustachain
tube dysfunction and offered treatments in line with accepted reasonable clinical care, although Mr F
should subsequently have been referred for an MRI scan to ensure there was no alternative cause of his
symptoms. Furthermore, when Mr F was referred to another hospital for treatment the Health Board should
have clearly explained what was available, and that there was no guarantee the referral would result in any
further treatment.

The Health Board agreed to apologise to Mr F for failing to manage his expectations appropriately, and
for the misleading and futile referral. It also agreed to reflect on the Ombudsman’s findings, particularly
its duty to provide honest and realistic opinions and manage patient’s expectations appropriately, and
to consider why the MRI scan was overlooked. Finally, it agreed to ensure there is a process in place by
which all Consultants maintain up to date awareness of what treatments are offered by their colleagues
throughout the Health Board, and the wider medical community.

Hywel Dda University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201704013 — Report issued in September 2018

Mr A complained about the care and treatment he received from the Accident and Emergency department
("ED") at Glangwili Hospital on 17 February 2017 and Withybush Hospital on 22 March. Mr A also
complained about poor communication and complaint handling.

Page 81



’* _ il The Ombudsman’s

| Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

The Ombudsman'’s investigation found that broadly the clinical care provided to Mr A at both Hospitals’

ED departments was reasonable and this also applied to the follow up care at Glangwili Hospital.

The Ombudsman concluded that given the extent of Mr A’s injury there was deficiency around pain
management. He also found that there were shortcomings around communication and complaint handling.
Mr A's complaint was upheld to that extent.

Amongst the recommendations the Ombudsman made were that Hywel Dda University Health Board (“the
Health Board”) should apologise to Mr A for the failings identified and pay him a sum of £250 for the
distress and frustration the failings in communication and complaint handling had caused. In addition, the
Health Board was to make a further payment of £125 for poor pain management following Mr A’s initial
discharge. The Ombudsman also made recommendations around clinical care.

GP practice in the area of Cwm Taf University Health Board and Cwm Taf University Health Board — Clinical
treatment in hospital
Case number 201704158 & 201705303 — Report issued in September 2018
Mrs T complained about:
a) the GP Practice’s failure to:
» Recognise the seriousness of her mother, Mrs J’s, iliness and arrange appropriate investigations
» Ensure Mrs J received adequate pain relief in the last weeks of her life.
b) the failure of Cwm Taf University Health Board’s (“the Health Board"”) district nursing service to:

e Control Mrs J's pain in the last weeks of her life
¢ Appreciate Mrs J was nearing the end of her life (when she died an hour after their last visit).

The Ombudsman found that the GP Practice had, initially, responded appropriately as Mrs J's symptoms
gave doctors no reason to believe that further investigations were necessary. However, it was likely that
Mrs J's diagnosis would have been made a month sooner if her pain had been explored earlier, although
this would not have affected the outcome. Mrs J’s pain had been managed appropriately after her
diagnosis. The Ombudsman partly upheld the complaint against the GP Practice.

The Ombudsman found that the district nursing service had managed Mrs J's pain appropriately, although it
should have been more proactive to ensure additional pain relief was available at a weekend, if needed. He
could not determine what had been said during the nurse’s final visit as accounts differed. He partly upheld
the complaint against the Health Board.

Hywel Dda University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201703648 — Report issued in September 2018

Mr G complained that, as a result of a medication dispensing error by clinicians at Glangwili Hospital’s
Special Care Baby Unit (SCBU), his granddaughter, Baby K (then two days old), was given an excessive
dose of the antibiotic Gentamicin. Mr G complained that, despite Hywel Dda University Health Board’s (“the
Health Board”) assurance that Baby K was not harmed by this error, it placed her at risk of developing
hearing loss. Mr G also complained that:

a) There was a considerable delay before clinicians informed Mr G's daughter, Ms B (Baby K's mother),
about this error. The manner in which this was done was upsetting for Ms B and was made worse by
a junior doctor incorrectly suggesting that the excessive dose of Gentamicin could result in Baby K
suffering liver damage.

Page 82
BT



A Coshsok

Issue 34 July - October 2018

b) There was a protracted delay in the Health Board providing its formal, written response to the family’s
complaint about this matter. Mr G considered that the response was defensive and that it failed to
recognise the impact the incident had on the family.

The Ombudsman, through his clinical advisers, upheld Mr G’s complaints. He determined that the error
came about as a result of a junior doctor mis-entering the dates on a prescription chart which nurses
subsequently failed to scrutinise. Although Baby K was given the correct dose of Gentamicin, it was given
24 hours before it was due.

Whilst there was no evidence that Baby K was harmed as a result of this error, it was a traumatising
experience for Ms B and her family as they had to wait for Baby K to undergo screening by a Paediatric
Audiologist before they could be confident that Baby K's hearing had not been damaged.

The Ombudsman also found that clinicians were slow to inform Ms B about the error and that the manner
in which this was done was upsetting for her (as she was alone at the time). This failing was compounded
by a junior doctor incorrectly suggesting that the excessive dose of Gentamicin could result in Baby K
suffering liver damage.

Finally, the Ombudsman agreed that there were failings in the Health Board’s handling of the
family’s complaint.

The Ombudsman recommended that Ms B receive a fulsome apology and £500 in recognition of the
distress caused to her by the identified failings of care and complaint-handling. He also recommended that
the Health Board share the report with all relevant clinicians on the SCBU and provides the Ombudsman
with evidence of the re-training that the nurses and junior doctors received following the incident. The
Ombudsman recommended that the Health Board considers developing a Patient Information Leaflet that
answers frequently asked questions about the septic screening of neonates and the use of blood tests,
antibiotics and common treatment regimens; and develops an exemplar prescription chart for the use of
Gentamicin on the SCBU to help junior doctors see clearly what is expected and to clarify the standards
required by the Health Board.

Finally, the Ombudsman recommended that the Health Board shares the report with the Concerns Team
and draws to its attention the complaint handling failings identified.

The Health Board accepted the Ombudsman’s recommendations.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201607513 — Report issued in September 2018

Ms B complained about the clinical care given to her late brother, Mr B, by Betsi Cadwaladr University
Health Board (“the Health Board”) and the Health Board’s related communication. She made this

complaint in her own right and on behalf of her other brothers, Mr C and Mr D. The clinical care aspect

of her complaint concerned fluid, nutrition and medication withdrawal, mobilisation and the diagnosis and
treatment of pneumonia. Its communication element pertained to decisions about the completion of a ‘Do
Not Attempt Cardio-Pulmonary (sic) Resuscitation ("DNAR") Form” and treatment withdrawal. Ms B also said
that the Health Board took too long to respond to her complaint.

The Ombudsman could not determine that the withdrawal of Mr B’s fluid, nutrition and medication had
been clinically inappropriate. He found that Mr B’s mobilisation had been clinically reasonable. He did

Page 83
19



A Coshsok

Issue 34 July - October 2018

not consider that the apparent delay associated with the diagnosis and treatment of Mr B’s pneumonia
was clinically significant. He did not uphold the clinical care aspect of Ms B’s complaint. The Ombudsman
determined that the Health Board’s management of the DNAR decision-making process was deficient.

He partly upheld the communication element of Ms B’s complaint. The Ombudsman found that the

Health Board’s response to Ms B’s complaint was unreasonably delayed and that it had not addressed

Mr C's concern about that response. He upheld the complaint handling part of Ms B’s complaint. He
recommended that the Health Board should apologise to Ms B for the failings identified. He asked it to
send Mr C a full response to his concern. He also recommended that it should formally remind clinicians of
the consultation requirement that relates to DNAR decisions. The Health Board agreed to implement these
recommendations.

Cwm Taf University Health Board — Appointments/ admissions/ discharge and transfer procedures

Case number 201703636 — Report issued in September 2018

Mr D complained to the Ombudsman about the treatment his late mother, Mrs D, received from Cwm Taf
University Health Board (“the Health Board”) following her admission to the Royal Glamorgan Hospital in
April 2017. In particular, Mr D was concerned about the arrangements that Hospital staff had put in place
to ensure that Mrs D was discharged appropriately. He was also concerned, that during her admission and
upon her discharge home, Mrs D was not given appropriate antibiotic treatment. A few days following her
discharge home, Mrs D’s GP prescribed antibiotic treatment for an infection.

The Ombudsman found no evidence that Mrs D’s discharge was planned. Mrs D was clearly at risk of
falling and needed the use of a zimmer frame to move around. Whilst it is accepted that Mrs D was
medically fit for discharge, the Ombudsman was of the view that she should have received an assessment
before discharge. The manner in which Mrs D was discharged was not in keeping with the Health Board’s
discharge procedure. Whilst the Ombudsman could not determine with certainty that if an appropriate
assessment had taken place, Mrs D would not have been discharged in any cae. However, the Ombudsman
is of the view that if an assessment had taken place, Mrs D’s discharge could have happened in a safer
manner and this may have served to alleviate Mr D and his sister’s concerns at the time. The Ombudsman
upheld this aspect of the complaint.

The Ombudsman also found that, whilst Mrs D had been reported as having a urinary tract infection, as she
did not exhibit any adverse symptoms it was reasonable not to have treated her with antibiotics during her
admission. He did not uphold this element of the complaint.

The Ombudsman recommended the Health Board apologise to Mr D and his sister for the shortcomings
identified. He also recommended that the Health Board should evaluate and take action in relation to any
findings stemming from a documentation audit it was undertaking to ensure that there was appropriate risk
assessment, discharge planning and communication with patients and relatives.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201704913 — Report issued in September 2018

Mrs X complained that Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the Health Board"”) failed to appropriately
investigate and manage her late husband’s blood condition, she said it failed to communicate the diagnosis,
prognosis and the associated risks.

The investigation found that Mr X was suffering from neutropenia when he was admitted to the Emergency
Department (“"ED"), advice should have been sought from Haematology prior to discharge and the

Page 84
20



A Coshsok

Issue 34 July - October 2018

timeframe advised for a referral post discharge was not reasonable. The Locum Consultant Haematologist
(“the Consultant”) did not arrange a biopsy in a timeframe that was appropriate to Mr X's condition. The
Consultant believed that Mr X was suffering from Myelodysplasia Syndrome however the condition and poor
prognosis were not communicated to him. The Consultant did not inform Mr X that he was susceptible to
Sepsis nor did he advised ways in which he could attempt to guard himself. Mr and Mrs X were denied the
opportunity of preparing for the likely outcome of his illness, obtaining symptom control and/or palliative
care. When Mr X attended the ED, there was a delay in assessment and administration of treatment
however the investigation found that the service failure would not have altered the sad outcome.

The Health Board agreed to apologise to Mrs X for the shortcomings identified, make a redress payment of
£1,000 in recognition of the injustice she and Mr X suffered and refer the Consultant to the General Medical
Council. In addition, it was agreed that training would be provided to all relevant staff in the ED regarding
the urgent approach that needs to be taken when profound neutropenia is identified.

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201706550 — Report issued in September 2018

Mr X complained about the care and treatment his wife, Mrs X received from Cardiff and Vale University
Health Board’s (“the Health Board”) Out of Hours GP Service ("OOHGP Service”). Mr X complained that
appropriate medical checks were not undertaken by the Nurse Practitioner and Mrs X was misdiagnosed.

The investigation found that there were omissions in relation to the investigation and history taking

at the consultation. Consequently, a cardiac cause for Mrs X's chest pain could not be ruled out. Mrs X
should have been referred to an urgent care setting to ensure further investigations were undertaken to
confirm a cardiac cause for her symptoms. If Mrs X had undergone the necessary investigations, it was
likely her cardiac difficulties would have been diagnosed at an earlier juncture and treatment would have
been administered sooner. If this had happened, the damage caused to Mrs X's heart would have been
significantly reduced, it is likely that Mrs X would not have developed a potentially fatal irregular heart
beat and insertion of an Implantable Cardioverter — Defibrillator would not have been necessary. Mrs X's
rehabilitation would have been simpler, and Mrs X would have had a shorter hospital stay.

The Health Board agreed to apologise to Mr X for the failings identified and pay a redress payment of
£3,000 in recognition of the injustice suffered. It was agreed that the Nurse Practitioner would use the
complaint as a source of personal reflection during her revalidation with the Nursing and Midwifery Council.
The Health Board also agreed to implement and establish a Chest Pain Protocol aimed at reducing the
incidences of missed cardiac events within the OOHGP setting and to ensure that onward referrals are
appropriate and timely.

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201700124 — Report issued in September 2018

Miss D complained about the care and treatment her late partner, Mr P, received at the Royal Gwent
Hospital in 2016 prior to his sad death. Miss D complained that Aneurin Bevan University Health Board
(“the Health Board”) failed to treat Mr P’s gallbladder infection appropriately and that communication with
her throughout his admission was unsatisfactory. Miss D also complained that Mr P was not adequately
monitored during the bank holiday weekend prior to his death, that he should have been moved to a
private room when he was seriously ill and that the medical notes kept throughout his admission

were unclear.

Page 85
21



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

The Ombudsman found that Mr P received reasonable treatment and that there were no concerns with
the medical records kept. These complaints were not upheld. The Ombudsman upheld Miss P’s complaint
that communication with her was poor and partially upheld her complaints that Mr P was not adequately
monitored during the bank holiday weekend and that Mr P should have been considered for a private room
when he was seriously ill.

The Ombudsman recommended that the Health Board apologises to Miss P and provides financial redress
in the sum of £600 for the distress caused to her by the lack of adequate communication. The Ombudsman
also recommended that the Health Board provides evidence that it has learnt from the communication
shortcomings identified and undertakes a refresher training session regarding the appropriate monitoring of
patients, to the Health Board staff who cared for Mr P during the bank holiday weekend. The Health Board
agreed to these recommendations.

Hywel Dda University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201702721 — Report issued in September 2018

Miss T complained that the care and treatment afforded to her in response to a suspected deep vein
thrombosis ("DVT”) in her leg, both during and after her pregnancy, was inadequate. Miss T also
complained that Hywel Dda University Health Board’s (“the Health Board”) decision, not to admit her
postnatally to a maternity ward with her baby for treatment, was unreasonable.

The Ombudsman was unable to provide a robust response to Miss T's complaint that her treatment during
pregnancy was inadequate, as the Health Board were unable to provide her medical records from this
admission. This element of Miss T's complaint was upheld. The Ombudsman recommended that the Health
Board apologised to Miss T for the record loss and acts to prevent a similar incident reoccurring. The Health
Board agreed to these recommendations.

The Ombudsman was satisfied that Miss T's postnatal care and treatment was appropriate, and that Miss T
did not have a DVT in her leg at any stage of her treatment. This element of Miss T's complaint was
not upheld.

The Ombudsman was unable to make a finding in relation to Miss T's complaint that she should have been
readmitted, postnatally, to a maternity ward with her baby for treatment, as he was unable to obtain the
personal information required that would need to be considered to make conclusions on this element of
Miss T's complaint.

Powys Teaching Health Board & Wye Valley NHS Trust — Other

Case number 201701007 & 201706029 — Report issued in September 2018

Mrs C complained about the way Powys Teaching Health Board (“the Health Board”) and Wye Valley NHS
Trust (“the Trust”) treated her referral for surgery. Mrs C said that they did not undertake the surgery
within a reasonable amount of time and that the Trust did not action a concern from her GP practice about
the amount of time it was taking for surgery to be arranged. Mrs C also said the Health Board did not

fully consider her request for funding an alternative provider and that the Health Board did not properly
investigate her complaint. Mrs C sought some reimbursement of the cost of private treatment

The Investigation found that Mrs C was appropriately graded as routine by the Trust and the date that was
offered for surgery would have fallen only a few days outside of the Welsh Government target time for
referral to treatment. In any event, Mrs C received her private surgery before the target could be breached.

Page 86
22



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

The Investigation found that the Health Board provided Mrs C and her GP practice with information on how
she could seek to expedite her treatment if her clinical condition had changed, and she now believed she
should be treated urgently. This advice was not followed, and Mrs C instead sought private treatment.

The Investigation did partially uphold Mrs C's complaint about the way her complaint was handled and
communication with Mrs C. The Ombudsman found that the Health Board had not provided Mrs C with
clear advice on how long it was likely to be before she underwent the operation, and this contributed to
Mrs C's decision to receive private treatment. He also found that there were missed opportunities for the
Health Board to direct Mrs C to the complaints process earlier than it did, and this created some confusion
for Mrs C.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201702648 — Report issued in September 2018

Mrs X complained that her husband, who had longstanding and worsening heart-related problems, was
inappropriately moved from the Coronary Care Unit (of Ysbyty Gwynedd) to a gastroenterology ward and
he did not, as a result, receive the palliative care he needed. Mrs X complained that the family should have
been made aware sooner that Mr X was at the “end of life” stage of his illness. Mrs X was aggrieved that
the Consultant Cardiologist responsible for Mr X’s care had implied that he had had a discussion with them
over a weekend, which they denied happened. Mrs X complained that Betsi Cadwaladr University Health
Board (“the Health Board”) had failed to provide her with a copy of a statement prepared by one of the
nurses involved in Mr X's care.

The investigation found that moving Mr X to the gastroenterology ward had been inappropriate, considering
his condition, and that there had been an unacceptable delay in involving the palliative care team in his
care. Mrs X had asked for a copy of the statement in question during the local resolution meeting, but the
Health Board failed to action that request. These complaints were upheld. The complaint regarding whether
a discussion had taken place over the weekend was not upheld.

It was recommended that the Health Board should apologise to Mrs X for the failings found, ensure that
lessons were learned from this case, offer a copy of the statement to Mrs X, undertake an audit to ensure
that the policy restricting the movement of patients with certain conditions was being observed and provide
evidence that palliative care training had been undertaken at the Hospital. The Health Board agreed to
implement the recommendations.

Not upheld

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board — Clinical Treatment in Hospital

Case number 201702780 — Report issued in July 2018

Mr Y complained that his late father Mr X’s cancer should have been identified earlier. Mr Y complained that
surgical intervention had not been considered for his father because of his age (90 years).

The Ombudsman found that surgical intervention had not taken place because of Mr X’s general fitness and
medical problems, rather than his age. He also found that there was no criticism of Mr X’s treatment and
observations. The Ombudsman found that Mr X’s cancer could not have been identified any earlier than 19
August. The Ombudsman did not uphold Mr Y’s complaint.

Page 87
23



The Ombudsman’s

4 Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Cwm Taf University Health Board — Clinical Treatment in Hospital

Case number 201702835 — Report issued in July 2018

Mrs P complained that, between 28 May and 19 August 2016, the Health Board failed to diagnose her
Postural Tachycardia Syndrome (“POTS"), a condition which causes an abnormal increase in heart rate after
sitting up or standing. POTS typically causes dizziness and fainting related to altered blood flow to the brain
and other associated symptoms, which Mrs P complained Cwm Taf University Health Board (“the Health
Board”) did not treat and manage appropriately.

The Ombudsman found that the Health Board undertook appropriate investigations into Mrs P’s symptoms,
and there was no evidence of delay or carelessness on the part of any of the clinicians involved in her care.
He did not uphold any element of the complaint.

Cwm Taf University Health Board — Clinical Treatment in Hospital

Case number 201702718 — Report issued in July 2018

Mrs J complained about the care and treatment she received from Cwm Taf University Health Board

(“the Health Board”) during her pregnancy, which, sadly, ended in her baby daughter being stillborn

on 3 February 2016. Mrs J was aggrieved that there was a failure to spot static growth at 36 weeks of
pregnancy. Mrs ] also complained that measurements were not taken during a visit to the antenatal clinic
on 28 January when her baby was found to be in the breech position (when the baby is lying bottom first
or feet first in the womb instead of in the usual head first position).

The Ombudsman found there was no evidence to indicate that a growth scan was indicated at 36 weeks
of pregnancy and did not uphold this element of the complaint. In relation to Mrs J's complaint that
measurements were not taken on 28 January, the Ombudsman did not find any evidence to suggest there
were grounds for clinicians to be concerned about foetal growth at the time. He noted that when further
measurements were taken on 2 February there had been continued foetal growth since the previous
measurements taken on 17 January. The Ombudsman did not consider there was a failing on the part of
the Health Board in not recording SFH measurements on 28 January and did not uphold the complaint.

A GP practice in the area of Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Clinical Treatment outside Hospital
Case number 201702443 — Report issued in July 2018

Mrs A complained that a GP Practice (“the Practice”) in the area of Betsi Cadwaladr University Health
Board, failed to provide appropriate care and treatment for her mother, Mrs D, between 12 May 2015 and 6
April 2016, which led to a delayed diagnosis of lung cancer.

The complaint was not upheld. The Ombudsman concluded that the Practice had acted reasonably in
considering and treating Mrs D’s symptoms and that there did not appear to be any evidence that Mrs D’s
cancer could have been identified earlier.

A dental practice in the area of Powys Teaching Health Board — Clinical treatment outside hospital

Case number 201702361 — Report issued in July 2018

Mrs V complained that the care and treatment provided to her by the Dental Practice was inadequate. She
specifically complained that, in response to her presenting symptoms, she was only offered a denture and
that no other alternative NHS or private treatment options were discussed with her. Mrs V also complained
that, when she received the denture, she was unable to wear it as it was ill-fitting.

Page 88
28



The Ombudsman’s

4 Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Whilst the Ombudsman could not determine if different treatment options had been explained to Mrs
V during her appointments at the Dental Practice, he was satisfied that a denture was the only suitable
treatment option available to her in response to her presenting symptoms. This element of Mrs V’s
complaint was not upheld.

In consideration of whether the denture was ill-fitting, the Ombudsman found that the Practice made
adjustments to the denture and that, whilst it was unfortunate that Mrs V was unable to wear the denture,
there was no evidence that this was because the denture had been poorly made. This element of Mrs V's
complaint was also not upheld.

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201706059 — Report issued in July 2018

Mrs D complained that clinicians at Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board (‘the Health Board’)
failed to fit her daughter, Ms C, with an Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillatorl (ICD) and that Ms C's death
could have been prevented had they done so.

The complaint was not upheld. The Ombudsman found that, with the benefit of hindsight, had Ms C been
fitted with an ICD, it might have prevented her death. However, the decision made not to fit Ms C with an
ICD was appropriate and in line with clinical guidance, based on Ms C’s clinical condition at the time and
the risks associated with fitting an ICD.

Cwm Taf University Health Board — Appointments/ admissions/ discharge and transfer procedures

Case number 201607748 — Report issued in July 2018

Mrs X complained that there had been a lack of intervention and support from mental health services for
her son, Mr Y. Mrs X considered that Mr Y was neglected in the community when he was clearly unwell and
in @ manic state. She felt he suffered unduly as a result. She said he had completely lost his dignity when
his predicament may have been avoided with earlier intervention and support.

Mrs X was aggrieved that Cwm Taf University Health Board’s (“the Health Board”) complaint handling was
poor. Mrs X said that she wasn't provided with answers to her questions about the care provided to her son
despite having attended meetings with Health Board staff about the matter.

The investigation found that Mr Y was not neglected in the community by mental health services when
he was unwell, and the service did strive to provide sufficient, adequate and appropriate intervention and
support. The investigation also found that the Health Board’s response to the complaint made against it
had not been unreasonable, in the circumstances.

The complaints were, therefore, not upheld.

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board — Health

Case number 201704084 — Report issued in August 2018

Ms X complained about the cardiac care given to her partner, Mr Y, by Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University
Health Board (“the Health Board”). She indicated that the Health Board should have placed Mr Y’s hame
on its urgent, and not its routine, waiting list for heart surgery and a related procedure. She also said that
the Health Board had failed to advise Mr Y of what he should do if his condition deteriorated while he was
waiting for surgery.

Page 89
S 25



The Ombudsman’s

4 Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

The Ombudsman found that the Health Board had prioritised Mr Y’s treatment appropriately. He did not
uphold the prioritisation part of Ms X’s complaint as a result. The Ombudsman could not determine, without
independent corroborative evidence, that the Health Board had given Mr Y advice about what to do if his
condition worsened. However, he did not uphold the advice aspect of Ms X's complaint because he was
unable to conclude that Mr Y had suffered an injustice because of this potential failing.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Health

Case number 201702689 — Report issued in August 2018

Ms X complained about the treatment provided to her six-year-old daughter, Y, when she attended the
Emergency Department (“the ED") of Wrexham Maelor Hospital on 25 November 2016. Ms X said that a
laceration to Y’s forehead should have been stitched, as opposed to closed with medical glue.

The Ombudsman found that that the decision made by the ED Consultant to clean and glue the wound
to Y’s forehead was reasonable and appropriate and in line with relevant guidelines. The complaint was
not upheld.

Cwm Taf University Health Board — Health

Case number 201704823 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr and Mrs A complained that there had been a failure to diagnose their daughter, Baby B with Ventricular
Septal Defect (“"VSD") prior to her discharge from hospital in May 2017.

Whilst the Ombudsman found that Cwm Taf University Health Board’s monitoring and reviewing of Baby
B would have been better, the investigation could not establish any impact upon Baby B’s prognosis. The
complaint was therefore not upheld.

Cwm Taf University Health Board — Health

Case number 201705057 — Report issued in August 2018

Ms X complained to the Ombudsman about the treatment that she received from Cwm Taf University
Health Board. Ms X said that the clinicians made a ‘best interests’ decision not to inform her of the Local
Authority’s decision to issue care proceedings following the birth of her baby.

The investigation found that the decision taken had been one of professional judgement, not a ‘best
interest’ decision. Ms X and her unborn baby’s health were at the forefront of the clinician’s decision making
and the decision taken was reasonable in the circumstances. The complaint was, therefore, not upheld.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Health

Case number 201706197 — Report issued in August 2018

Mrs D complained that she waited too long for orthopaedic surgery and that, had Betsi Cadwaladr
University Health Board (“the Health Board”) applied its procedures properly in her case, she would have
received her surgery at an earlier date and it may not have been as complex.

The investigation found that all patients waiting for the same surgeon experienced a similar delay and so
were equally adversely affected. Furthermore, there was no evidence to suggest that Mrs D’s case was
inappropriately graded as routine or that the surgery she received was more complex because of the delay.
Finally, Mrs D had been offered surgery with a different surgeon which would have reduced her waiting
time but decided not to accept that offer. The complaint was not upheld.

Page 90
26



’* _ il The Ombudsman’s

| Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201703379 — Report issued in September 2018

Miss A complained about the procedure undertaken by Aneurin Bevan University Health Board (“the Health
Board”) for her chronic knee pain. Miss A complained that the treatment was inappropriate, a lack of follow
up appointments, and that she was not properly informed of the risks associated with the procedure. Miss
A considered the Health Board’s complaints response was biased in the clinician’s favour and contained
factual inaccuracies.

The investigation found that there was no fault in the Health Board’s care provided to Miss A in respect of
the procedure. The investigation was unable to reach a definitive view on what was said and/or understood
by the respective parties about the risks associated with the procedure due to the differing version of
events provided. No finding could be reached on this aspect; however, it was concluded that no clinical
harm was caused to Miss A by the procedure itself, or from a complication of that procedure.

Finally, the investigation concluded that the Health Board’s complaint response appropriately addressed the
issues raised in Miss A's complaint. Based on all the available evidence, Miss A's complaints were
not upheld.

GP Surgery in the area of Hywel Dda University Health Board — Clinical treatment outside hospital

Case number 201706625 — Report issued in September 2018

Mrs Y complained about the treatment her late father Mr X received from a GP on 2 August 2016. Sadly, on
3 August Mr X died, his cause of death was recorded as sepsis due to a community acquired pneumonia.
Mrs Y said that the GP at her father’s home visit had not identified the seriousness of his condition or taken
into account his underlying blood condition. Mrs Y said that had further weight been given by the GP to her
father’s condition and it might have led to a different outcome for him.

The Ombudsman had no criticism of the GP’s examination of Mr X and the diagnosis of probable chest
infection. The Ombudsman found that the GP had not conducted a CRB65 severity assessment (“the
CRB65-a point awarded for each of the following - confusion, raised respiratory rate, low blood pressure
and aged over 65 years, a score of zero - low risk, one or two — intermediate risk, three or four — high
risk”) or considered a hospital admission for Mr X. He found that even had Mr X been admitted to hospital
after the GP’s visit it would not have affected the outcome and the complaint was not upheld. The
Ombudsman invited the Practice to consider its policy on implementing the CRB65. The GP Practice has
adopted access for GPs at consultations and home visits to the CRB65.

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201706625 — Report issued in September 2018

Miss M complained that Cardiff and Vale University Health Board (“the Health Board”) failed to recognise
that her partner, Mr A, was suffering from metastatic cancer (cancer that has spread from where it first
formed to other parts of the body, forming new tumours) and take appropriate action to treat the disease.

The Ombudsman found that the Health Board gave due thought to Mr A’'s wishes, and that ultimately the
decision to monitor his condition with serial imaging was within the bounds of reasonable clinical practice.
He found that there was a delay in carrying out diagnostic thoracic surgery, which was not explained,
however, this delay did not materially affect Mr A’'s condition or the course of his disease as it progressed.
Therefore, the Ombudsman did not uphold the complaints.

Page 91



The Ombudsman’s

j Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Hywel Dda University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201706145 — Report issued in September 2018

Mr A complained about the care and treatment his wife Mrs A received following knee replacement surgery
on 22 August 2017 at Bronglais General Hospital. He expressed concern that his wife was discharged too
soon after the surgery despite having an infection which subsequently worsened and required further
hospital admission.

The Ombudsman’s investigation concluded that Mrs A’'s care and management was reasonable and
appropriate. He noted however that whilst it was far from ideal that Mrs A required further hospital
admission, he was satisfied from the evidence considered that the infection that Mrs A suffered
subsequent to her discharge was an unfortunate but recognised complication of the surgery. He did
not uphold Mr A’'s complaint.

GP Practice in the area of Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Clinical treatment outside hospital
Case number 201704800 — Report issued in September 2018

Mrs S complained to the Ombudsman about the care provided to her late mother, Mrs X, by her GP (“the
GP"). She complained that the GP had failed to provide Mrs X with appropriate antibiotic treatment for a
chest infection. She also complained that the GP had refused to visit her mother and disputed that he was
on annual leave at the time the visit was requested.

The Ombudsman found that there was no evidence within the GP records that Mrs X had a chest infection
during the period in question and that there was no indication that the GP should have provided antibiotic
treatment for a chest infection. The GP Practice also provided compelling evidence to support the fact that
the GP was on holiday at the time Mrs S requested that he visit her mother. Accordingly, the Ombudsman

did not uphold the complaint.

GP Practice in the area of Hywel Dda University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201707339 — Report issued in September 2018

Ms X and Mrs Y complained to the Ombudsman about the care and treatment afforded to their late
father, Mr Z, by the Nurse Practitioner based within the GP Practice on 30 June 2017. In particular, they
complained about the nature of the examination at the consultation and the subsequent diagnosis. Mr Z
suffered a cardiac arrest and sadly died a few weeks later.

Whilst the investigation identified that an abdominal examination should have been undertaken, and
explorative questions regarding the pain asked during the consultation, it was unlikely that the additional
investigation and examination would have resulted in a suspicion of a cardiac cause of Mr X's reported
symptoms. The investigation concluded that the failings identified did not cause Mr Z, Ms X nor Mrs Y to
suffer an injustice. The complaint was not upheld.

Dental Practice in the area of Cardiff and Vale University Health Board — Clinical treatment outside hospital
Case number 201703972 — Report issued in September 2018

Mrs A complained about the care and treatment she received from a dentist (“the Dentist”) in January and
February 2017. In particular, she complained that the Dentist removed a tooth without her consent.

The Ombudsman’s investigation found that overall the care provided to Mrs A was reasonable and
appropriate and therefore did not uphold this aspect of Mrs A's complaint. He was also satisfied that on
balance the treatment options were discussed with Mrs A and that she consented to the treatment. Again,

he did not uphold this part of Mrs A's complaint.
Page 92



i The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Early Resolution and Voluntary Settlement

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Clinical Treatment in Hospital

Case number 201801417 — Report issued in July 2018

Mr H complained about the failure of Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the Health Board”) to
respond to his claim since October 2017. Although the Health Board had apologised for the delay there was
no set response date. The Ombudsman decided that he would not investigate the complaint at this time,
however, the Health Board was contacted regarded the delay.

The Health Board agreed to take the following step to settle the claim:
a) Apologise and respond to the complaint by 31 July 2018

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board — Appointments/ admissions/ discharge and transfer procedures
Case number 201800717 — Report issued in July 2018

Miss T complained that Aneurin Bevan University Health Board (“the Health Board”) had falsified her
medical records to indicate that she had failed to contact its booking centre to arrange an outpatient
appointment at its Ear, Nose and Throat Department. She requested that the Board amended its records
and advised her local Surgery to correct any misinformation.

The Ombudsman considered the information submitted to his office and found that there had been an error
by the booking centre. It contacted the Board which agreed to:

a) Write a letter of apology to the complainant explaining the error in issuing the incorrect reasons on the
letter from the Bookings department in March 2018.

b) Provide a copy of a letter the Board intends to send to her GP correcting the information originally
provided and requesting that it be removed from her medical records.

¢) Provide her with reassurance that her name will not be placed on any list of “non- attendees” at
appointments and that no such list is in existence.

This should be provided within 20 working days of the date of my decision letter.

Powys Teaching Health Board — Clinical Treatment in Hospital

Case number 201800998 — Report issued in July 2018

Mrs X complained that for a period of approximately eleven years, her child had suffered various health
issues which were misdiagnosed and mistreated. She complained to the Health Board in March 2017 but at
the time of bringing her complaint to the Ombudsman, she had not received a response.

The Ombudsman contacted Powys Teaching Health Board (“the Health Board”). The Health Board advised
that the matter had been considered by a Redress Panel in September 2017, but the outcome had never
been communicated to Mrs X.

The Health Board had recently met with Mrs X to express its apologies and explain the outcome. It had
also agreed to undertake the following actions:

a) Provide a written response within 30 days after the meeting.
b) Offer £250 in recognition of the delay in communicating its outcome.

Page 93
29



The Ombudsman’s

4 Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201801195 — Report issued in July 2018

Mr X complained that Cardiff and Vale University Health Board (“the Health Board”) failed to diagnose his
late father’s tumour. Mr X believed that had the tumour been diagnosed, the appropriate treatment would
have been provided, and his father still alive.

The Ombudsman recognised that Mr X had been offered, and had attended, a meeting with the Health
Board, and been supplied with a recording of that meeting. A formal Putting Things Right ("PTR") response,
in line with PTR Regulations, had, however, not been issued.

The Health Board apologised for this oversight, assured the Ombudsman that its staff had been reminded
of their duty to issue a PTR response. It asked for an opportunity to apologise to Mr X and his family
directly. The Health Board also assured the Ombudsman that a PTR response would be sent by 31 July
2018. The Ombudsman considered this to be a reasonable resolution of the complaint.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Other

Case number 201706736 — Report issued in July 2018

Ms B complained that Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the Health Board”) failed to supervise
and/or assist her late father, Mr C, when he was trying to give a urine sample. She indicated that she

was dissatisfied because the Health Board did not interview Mr C, or other members of his family, when
investigating the circumstances surrounding Mr C’s related fall. She also complained that it did not give her
information about that investigation.

The Ombudsman noted that the Health Board had not addressed the issue of qualifying liability,1 in

accordance with the ‘Putting Things Right” ("PTR") arrangements,2 when responding to Ms B’s complaint.

Ms B confirmed that she wanted the Ombudsman to refer her complaint back to the Health Board for

further consideration as a result. The Ombudsman obtained the Health Board’s agreement to:

a) Send Ms B a further written response to her complaint, which addresses the issue of qualifying liability,
in accordance with the PTR arrangements.

He then referred Ms B's complaint back to the Health Board. The Ombudsman considered, consequently,
that Ms B’s complaint had been settled.

GP Surgery in the area of Abertawe Bro Morgannwg — Health

Case number 201801667 — Case issued in August 2018

Mrs H complained that a GP Practice (“the GP Practice”) in the area of Abertawe Bro Morgannwg stopped
prescribing her mother medication including Thyroxine which she needed due to having both her thyroid
glands removed. Mrs H explained that neither the GP Practice nor the Care Home, where her mother lived
informed her that they had stopped her mother’s medication. The Ombudsman found that the GP Practice,
knowing that her mother had Alzheimer’s and was in a care home, should have considered Mrs H and her
father as suitable people to make a complaint.

The GP Practice agreed to undertake the following action, within 6 weeks of the day of the Ombudsman’s
decision, in settlement of the complaint:

a) Apologise and issue a formal complaint response letter

Page 94
30



The Ombudsman’s

4 Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board — Health

Case number 201802054 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr X complained about his care and treatment whilst a patient at a hospital under Cardiff and Vale
University Health Board (“the Health Board”) in early 2015, when he had contracted infections and other
illnesses following neurological procedures. This had resulted in a complex recovery. Having pursued
complaints with the Health Board, Mr X also complained that he had not received a reply to his most recent
letter sent in April 2018.

Having considered the evidence before him, the Ombudsman declined to investigate the substantive issue.
It was significantly out of time as the Health Board had first responded to Mr X's complaint in July 2015.
Since, Mr X had been in consultation with solicitors, with a continued express intent to pursue a legal claim.
The Ombudsman also considered there to be another remedy reasonably available to him.

The Ombudsman found that no reply had been sent to Mr X’s latest letter, and so contacted the Health

Board. It agreed to do the following, as a resolution of the complaint, within 14 days:

a) Write to Mr X to offer to facilitate a meeting to discuss the outstanding concerns set out in his
(unanswered) letter

b) Write to Mr X to offer to instruct an independent clinical expert to review the care delivered to him.

GP Surgery in the area of Hywel Dda University Health Board — Health

Case number 201801770 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr D complained that a GP Surgery (“the GP Surgery”) had failed to diagnose and take appropriate

action when presented with symptoms of his late wife’s illness. She had suffered with Chronic Obstructive
Pulmonary Disease for many years. He complained that the GP Surgery had failed to consider that swelling
to her legs and feet was an indication of Cor Pulmonale, which she was later diagnosed as suffering with
before she sadly passed away.

The Ombudsman found that the Hywel Dda University Health Board (“the Board”) had not considered
the complaint under its Putting Things Right ("PTR") complaints process. It contacted the Board and it
agreed to:

a) Write a letter to Mr D confirming that it will consider his complaint in line with its PTR process.

This will be done within 20 working days of the date of this decision letter. The Ombudsman believes that
this will resolve his complaint at this time.

GP Practice in the area of Hywel Dda University Health Board — Health

Case number 201802274 — Report issued in August 2018

Mrs X complained about the care and treatment provided to her late mother by a GP Practice (“the GP
Practice”) in the area of Hywel Dda University Health Board (“the Health Board”). Mrs X also had concerns
about the way in which the GP Practice communicated with her family, and about the Health Board's
handling of her complaint.

The Ombudsman considered that the substantive issues regarding the care provided by the GP Practice
was out of time for investigation by his office. However, it appeared from the information provided that the
Health Board did not have full regard for the “Putting Things Right” Regulations when responding to Mrs X's
complaint. Additionally, Mrs X’s family felt that it had not received a genuine apology from the GP Practice.

Page 95
s



The Ombudsman’s

4 Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Therefore, the Health Board agreed to complete the following actions by 9 October 2018:

a) Apologise for the complaint not being properly considered in accordance with the Putting Things Right
Regulations

b) The GP Surgery to apologise directly to Mrs X for the deficiencies identified in the Health Board’s report.

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board — Health

Case number 201802462 — Report issued in August 2018

Ms X complained that her father died as a result of poor clinical judgement of hospital staff under Abertawe
Bro Morgannwg University Health Board (“the Health Board”) and its failure to diagnose and provide

the treatment to a reasonable standard. She complained that the staff were rude and did not act in a
professional manner.

Ms X also complained of the Health Board’s handling of her complaint, that it failed to communicate with
her and she had still not received a response to a complaint she raised in August 2017.

The Ombudsman contacted the Health Board to obtain its comments and was advised that its investigation
was complete. Its final report and letters had been passed to the Nurse and Medical Director to ensure the
information contained within them was accurate.

It agreed with the Ombudsman that the final documents would be issued to Ms X no later than 31 August 2018.

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board — Health

Case number 201801566 — Report issued in August 2018

Mrs J complained about the extensive delays and poor communication she experienced after making a
complaint to Aneurin Bevan University Health Board (“the Health Board”) in February 2017. Following

an initial complaint acknowledgement on 17 February 2017, communication was sporadic and required
much chasing by Mrs J's solicitors. This resulted in Mrs J bringing a complaint to the Ombudsman’s office
concerning the Health Board’s communication and complaint handling.

Upon assessing the information available, the Ombudsman felt that there was an opportunity for the matter

to be resolved in a manner which was agreeable to all parties. Aneurin Bevan University Health Board

agreed to undertake the following action in settlement of Mrs J’'s complaint:

a) A payment of £250 to be made to Mrs J (by 1 September 2018) by way of redress for the prolonged wait
she had endured.

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board — Health

Case number 201801787 — Report issued in August 2018

Miss X complained about the care and treatment provided to her father from his admission to hospital in
March 2013 until his death in May 2013. Miss X believed that Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health
Board (“the Health Board”) failed to provide an acceptable standard of care as her father had a fairly
good quality of life before the fall that led to his hospital admission. Miss X was also concerned that the
Health Board had failed to deal with her complaint in an appropriate and timely matter in accordance with
its formal complaint’s procedure. In particular, she said that the Health Board had not given sufficient
consideration to whether ‘qualifying liability’l arose in relation to the care provided or in terms of
appropriate redress.

Page 96
32



’* _ il The Ombudsman’s

| Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

The Ombudsman concluded that the aspects of the complaint that related to the care and treatment

provided by the Health Board were out of time for consideration by his office. However, there were some

aspects of the complaint that were within time and related to the Health Board’s handling of Miss X’s

original complaint. Because of this, the Ombudsman contacted the Health Board and it agreed to carry out

the following, within one month, in settlement of this aspect of the complaint:

a) Provide Miss X with a final response to set out the Health Board’s position on whether a breach of duty
had occurred and if qualifying liability was admitted

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board — Health

Case number 201801998 — Report issued in August 2018

Ms X, who is a solicitor, complained about the delay by Aneurin Bevan University Health Board (“the
Health Board”) in responding to correspondence on a client’s complaint, which she had sent to them on
22 January 2018.

From the papers Ms X provided, the substance of her client’s complaint related to the care and treatment
she received from medical staff in May 2017. Ms X first wrote to the Health Board on 08 September 2017
about the complaint, and the Health Board replied under ‘Putting Things Right’ on 04 December 2017. Ms
X then wrote again, raising some further questions, on 22 January. The Health Board acknowledged this on
24 January and indicated a reply could be expected by 24 March. However, despite chasing correspondence
and holding letters being exchanged which repeatedly indicated a reply would be sent ‘shortly’, the Health
Board had not provided a substantive reply.

The Health Board agreed to:

a) Provide the complaint response to Ms X by 20 August 2018;
b) Apologise for the delay in providing the response; and

¢) Review the management of the complaint.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Health

Case number 201800923 — Report issued in August 2018

Ms Y complained that there had been a significant delay of ten years before Betsi Cadwaladr University
Health Board (“the Health Board”) diagnosed her son (“Child X”) with Inconsistent Speech Disorder (“"ISD").
She explained that, since the diagnosis was made, Child X's Speech and Language Therapy provision had
been adapted to meet his needs better, and that as a result his speech and communications skills are
improving.

The Ombudsman found that, whilst the Health Board had issued a response to the complaint, it had not
fully addressed Ms Y’s concerns. However, the Health Board had subsequently appointed an Independent
Therapist to reconsider Ms Y’s complaint. The Health Board agreed to issue its final response by 17 August
2017, and to ensure that it addressed Ms Y’s outstanding concerns that:
a) Despite it being established by 2011 that Child X’s hearing impairment was not significant enough to
be affecting his speech, his ISD was not diagnosed until in 2017, when Ms Y enquired about a further
assessment
b) Child X’s care and support would have been different, and his speech could have been better improved,
if the diagnosis had been known earlier.

Page 97
33



The Ombudsman’s

4 Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Hywel Dda University Health Board — Health

Case number 201801771 — Report issued in August 2018

Mrs B complained that she had experienced significant delays in receiving total right hip replacement
surgery under Hywel Dda University Health Board (“the Health Board”), which resulted in increased and
prolonged pain and subsequent complications. Mrs B said that she was referred to a Hospital Consultant,
who advised her in August 2015 that she would be placed on the “urgent” waiting list for surgery, but
she did not undergo the operation until November 2016. Mrs B also complained about the way the Health
Board handled her complaint.

The Ombudsman found that the Health Board’s response was issued 11 months after Mrs B’s complaint
was first raised, which constituted an unacceptable delay. Furthermore, it failed to respond to the crux of
Mrs B’s complaint or consider whether the extended delay from the referral to the time of her operation
represented a breach in its duty of care.

The Health Board agreed to undertake the following actions, within four weeks of the Ombudsman’s
decision, in settlement of the complaint:
a) Apologise for the delay, and for failing to respond to all the issues Mrs B raised in her initial
complaint letter
b) Offer Mrs B £500 in recognition of her time and trouble, and the complaint handling failures identified
¢) Provide a full response to Mrs B’s complaint about the length of time she had to wait following the initial
referral in June 2015.

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board — Health

Case number 201801021 — Report issued in August 2018

Mrs A complained about aspects of her late husband’s management including resuscitation during his last
admission at the Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board’s (“the Health Board") Princess of
Wales Hospital.

The Health Board agreed to review against the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence’s guidance
how it had dealt with the issue of resuscitation in Mr A's case. This was to enable it to reflect on whether
there were areas for improvement.

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board — Health

Case number 201704401 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr A complained to the Ombudsman that the hospital transport provided to their late son by Cardiff and
Vale University Health Board (“the Health Board”) was inappropriate and not equipped to deal with his
needs. During the investigation, the Health Board proposed a settlement which the Ombudsman considered
reasonable to settle the complaint.

The Health Board agreed to:

a) Within one month apologise to Mr A for the distress caused by the transportation and acknowledge that
other options could have been explored

b) Within three months, review the way in which patients are assessed for return journeys from the Day
Surgery Unit, including documenting the options available along with any limitations and making sure
these are explained to the patient and family.

The Ombudsman was pleased to note the action that the Health Board had taken to settle the complaint.

Page 98
O 34



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board — Health

Case number 201801021 — Report issued in August 2018

Mrs X complained to the Ombudsman about a failure by Abertawe Morgannwg University Health Board
(“the Health Board”) to identify that her husband had fractured his hip, compromising his rehabilitation
following the amputation of a part of his leg. Mrs X considered that the Health Board should not have
discontinued her husband'’s rehabilitation following the fracture and was concerned that his treatment and
support following the identification of the fracture was inadequate.

Following the commencement of the Ombudsman’s investigation the Health Board reviewed Mr X’s care
and identified that it had breached its duty of care towards Mr X in that it had not performed an X-ray of Mr
X's hip after he had attended a rehabilitation appointment, having reported a fall and complaining of pain.

The Health Board offered that Mr X could engage with the redress element of the “Putting Things Right”
process and that he be given the opportunity to have free legal advice (from a list of accredited solicitors)
and access to independent clinical advice in order to determine whether there was redress liable to him for
the identified breach in the Health Board’s duty of care. The Ombudsman considered this to be a reasonable
settlement and concluded the investigation on the basis of the action the Health Board agreed to take.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Health

Case number 201801466 — Report issued in August 2018

Mrs A complained about the care and treatment afforded to her late mother in hospital from October to
December 2017. Further, that she had not been informed that a Safeguarding referral had been made and
that her mother’s discharge was unnecessarily delayed.

Although the Ombudsman declined to investigate Mrs A's complaint, he recognised that Betsi Cadwaladr
University Health Board (“the Health Board”) had failed to inform Mrs A of the lessons learned in relation
to how staff had communicated with her about her mother’s Safeguarding needs and how this may have
delayed her discharge. Further, that the Health Board’s complaints response contained slightly misleading
information about the initial Safeguarding referral and why a subsequent referral had to be made. In its
complaint’s response, the Health Board identified that there was no documentation to explain changes to
Mrs A's mother’s skin, for which it provided an explanation and an apology, but it did not indicate that any
action had been taken in response to this.

Because of this, he contacted the Health Board and it agreed to do the following within one month:

a) To provide Mrs A with a full apology and explanation of the Safeguarding referral and information about
the lessons learned in relation to communicating the Safeguarding needs of her mother with her.

b) To offer Mrs A a redress payment of £50 in recognition of the failure to provide this information.

¢) To consider whether any record keeping concerns can be addressed with relevant staff members.

Hywel Dda University Health Board — Health

Case number 201801503 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr Y complained to the Ombudsman that Hywel Dda University Health Board (“the Health Board"”)
incorrectly invoiced his wife for NHS treatment as an overseas visitor. Mr Y complained that the Health
Board referred the case to a debt collection agency whilst the invoice was in dispute and before it

had received advice and clarity from Welsh Government on his wife’s liability to pay the charges. Mr Y
complained that the Health Board did not respond to one of his complaint letters.

Page 99
35



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Although the Ombudsman declined to investigate Mr Y’s complaint, he recognised that following dispute
of the original invoice in January 2018, the Health Board had amended the total charges, but it had failed
to adequately acknowledge and apologise for its error. Further, that the Health Board had passed the

case to a debt collection agency whilst the invoice continued to be in dispute and prior to receiving Welsh
Government advice. The Ombudsman clarified that the dispute is ongoing and that the Health Board is yet
to provide a definitive decision on this case, dependent on information provided by Mr Y.

The Ombudsman contacted the Health Board and in addition to providing My Y with a final decision in

relation to the invoice, it agreed to do the following within one month:

a) Provide a full written apology to Mr Y for the uncertainty and distress caused from the original invoice
and for referring his case to a debt collection agency, whilst the invoice was in dispute and whilst
awaiting clarification from Welsh Government.

b) To provide Mr Y with a redress payment of £125, in recognition of the time and trouble taken to raise his
concerns and to receive a definitive response.

GP Practice in the area of Aneurin Bevan University Health Board — Health

Case number 201801382 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr A complained to the Ombudsman about an incident at a GP Practice (“the GP Practice”) in the area of
Aneurin Bevan University Health Board (“the Health Board”) regarding a medication prescription. Mr A said
his medication was stopped without consultation and when he tried to complain staff were obstructive. Mr
A said the Practice failed to address his concerns and he felt discriminated against. He also said it copied a
letter about his behaviour to the Community Health Council, but he was unsure why.

Although the Ombudsman declined to investigate Mr A's complaint, he recognised the Practice’s actions in

respect of Mr A’'s medication prescription were reasonable and appropriate. However, Mr A's concerns about

his complaint being obstructed had not been addressed adequately. Because of this, he contacted the

Practice and it agreed to do the following within one month of the date of this decision.

a) To provide Mr A with a written apology for not addressing all his concerns adequately.

b) To provide Mr A with a written explanation about why a letter concerning his behaviour was copied to
the Community Health Council and an apology that this was not made clear to him.

¢) Arrange to meet with Mr A to explain and clarify the Practice’s policy on how a complaint can be made
and discuss his concerns about staff attitude.

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board — Appointments/ admissions/ discharge and transfer procedures
Case number 201802482 — Report issued in September 2018

Ms X complained about a delay in being referred for treatment to an Orthopaedic Consultant and the way
in which Cardiff and Vale University Health Board (“the Health Board”) managed its waiting list. Ms X
subsequently paid for private treatment.

The Health Board’s complaint response was issued on 26 March 2018. Ms X had two outstanding concerns

following the response. As more than five months had passed since the response, and Ms X was seeking

reimbursement of costs for private treatment, the Health Board agreed to complete the following action by

24 October 2018:

a) Provide a further response to Ms X’s outstanding concerns in accordance with the ‘Putting Things Right’
Regulations.

Page 100
36



’* _ il The Ombudsman’s

| Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201702850 — Report issued in September 2018

Mrs A complained about the skull fracture that her son sustained at the time of his birth in February 2017.
Mrs A said that she had initially been told that a failed forceps procedure may have caused this injury. Mrs
A also complained about the way in which Cardiff and Vale University Health Board (“the Health Board”)
dealt with her concerns and the delays in receiving its final response. Here, Mrs A said that that she was
not contacted by the Health Board on its own initiative at any point during the investigation and believed
that the final response would not have been issued in July 2018 had she not consistently chased it.

The Ombudsman concluded that, as the Health Board’s final response included a report from an
independent expert on the probable cause of the skull fracture, it was unlikely that an investigation by this
office would achieve anything more for Mrs A. Therefore, he declined to investigate the complaint relating
to her son’s injury. The Ombudsman did, however, make enquiries with the Health Board regarding Mrs
A's concerns about the handling of her complaint. Because of this, although the Health Board had already
apologised to Mrs A for the lack of communication and for the prolonged delay in providing her with the
final response, it agreed to carry out the following, within 20 working days, in settlement of this aspect of
the complaint;

a) Offer Mrs A £250 in recognition of the delays that she had experienced

b) Offer Mrs A £250 in recognition of the time and trouble of her having to bring the matter to the
Ombudsman

Hywel Dda University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201801052 — Report issued in September 2018

Ms P complained that Hywel Dda University Health Board (“the Health Board”) had failed to monitor her
medication for five and a half years, even after she had queried it with her GP. She said that the adverse
effects she experienced from the medication had been overlooked, and that her medical records contained
factual inaccuracies which had not been acknowledged or addressed.

Ms P also said that the response she received from the Health Board did not address all of her concerns or
explain what lessons had been learned from her case, despite seeming to acknowledge that there had been
a lack of monitoring throughout that time.

The Ombudsman found that there had been some shortcomings in the Health Board’s response. The
Health Board agreed to apologise to Ms P for not providing a full response under PTR and offer her £250
for her time and trouble in pursuing it. The Health Board also agreed to provide a fulsome response to the
complaint which addressed all of Ms P’s concerns and confirmed the improvements that have been made to
facilitate better liaison between primary care and the Health Board.

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201801875 — Report issued in September 2018

Mrs H complained that her husband has been in severe pain since he underwent a total knee replacement
in 2016, but the cause of it has never been identified. She said that, in over a year, her husband’s knee had
not been X-rayed or examined and he underwent unnecessary referrals to other departments to investigate
whether the source of the pain was in his hip, or back, and that there have been inordinate delays in
receiving those appointments, which have “all come to nothing”.

Page 101



i The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

The Ombudsman found that during a meeting with Mr and Mrs H Abertawe Bro Morgannwg Health Board
(“the Health Board") had appeared to accept that there have been significant delays in diagnosing Mr

H’s pain and treating the underlying cause. However, its complaints process had not been completely
exhausted because it had not provided a full, written response to Mrs H and her husband, following

that meeting.

The Health Board agreed to undertake the following actions, within six weeks of the date of the
Ombudsman’s decision, in settlement of the complaint:

a) Apologise for not having provided a full response yet
b) Offer £50 redress in recognition of Mrs H’s time and trouble pursuing the complaint
¢) Provide a full complaint response

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board — Other

Case number 201707234 — Report issued in September 2018

Mrs A complained about considerable delays and other failings by Aneurin Bevan University Health Board
(“the Health Board”) in progressing an Integrated Service for Children with Additional Needs’ ("ISCAN")
referral. Given her son’s learning and behavioural issues, Mrs A was concerned about the impact the
delayed referral was having on her son’s education.

Shortly after Mrs A’'s complaint to the Ombudsman, the Health Board took action to progress the ISCAN
referral. The Health Board subsequently agreed to the Ombudsman’s proposals that it should:

a) apologise to Mrs A for the failings identified

b) make a payment to Mrs A of £750, in recognition of the distress and additional stress the referral delays
had caused her and her family.

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board — Clinical treatment in hospital

Case number 201802552 — Report issued in September 2018

Mr X complained that there had been a delay in the treatment of his neck and lower back injuries. Mr X
also complained that there had been a failure to adequately respond to his complaint. The Ombudsman
was pleased to accept Cardiff and Vale University Health Board’s offer to remedy Mr X’s complaint by:

a) Paying Mr X £250 in recognition of its failure to respond to his letter regarding the cancellation of his
surgery in May 2018;

b) Paying Mr X £250 in recognition of the time and trouble he had taken in contacting this office; and

¢) Undertaking to ensure that Mr X's surgery was completed within 12 weeks of his MRI scan.

Page 102
38



’ ‘ B The Ombudsman’s

B Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Complaints Handling

Upheld

Cardiff and Vale University Health board — Health

Case number 201705987 — Report issued in July 2018

Mrs X complained about the care and treatment that she received from Cardiff and Vale University Health
Board’s (“the Health Board”) Orthopaedic Department. Specifically, Mrs X complained that there had been
a delay in diagnosing and treating an injury to her wrist and that the Health Board had failed to adequately
respond to her complaint in accordance with the “Putting Things Right” regulations.

The investigation found that, given the difficulties associated with diagnosing wrist injuries, the care and
treatment received by Mrs X had been reasonable. However, the Health Board had failed to fully respond to
Mrs X’s complaint about the care and treatment that she received from her GP.

It was recommended that the Health Board apologise to Mrs X and pay her £500 in recognition of its failure
to address her complaint and the time and trouble taken in bring her complaint to this office.

Early Resolution or Voluntary Settlement

Public Health Wales — Health

Case number 201800865 — Report issued in July 2018

Mrs A complained that she had been provided with an unreasonable patient experience at Breast Test Wales,
and that the handling of her subsequent complaint, which was made to Public Health Wales, was poor.

Although the Ombudsman declined to investigate Mrs A's complaint, he was concerned that the main point
of the complaint brought by Mrs A had not been addressed in the first letter sent to Mrs A by Public Health
Wales, and that the second letter sent to Mrs A was confusing.

Because of this, he contacted Public Health Wales who agreed to apologise to Mrs A for not addressing
her concerns as expressed in her initial complaint letter, and for any confusion caused by their second
response letter.

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council — Adult Social Services

Case number 201801211 — Report issued in July 2018

Mr C complained that Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council (“the Council”) had not addressed
safeguarding concerns about the care his late father had experienced at a privately-run Residential Home.
Mr C also complained that the Council did not respond in an accurate or timely manner to his requests for
information about complaining.

Although the Ombudsman declined to investigate Mr C's complaint, he was concerned that there were
some issues with the communication from the Council to Mr C.

Because of this he contacted the Council who agreed to do the following within one month:

a) To apologise for not providing a full and reasoned explanation as to why the Council would not be
investigating Mr C’s concerns and for providing incorrect advice in relation to the complaint process; and

b) To provide an assurance to Mr C that information had been updated to ensure that correct advice in
reIatiﬂhtﬁ éoTH%Jnts handling was provided to potential complainants.



’* _ il The Ombudsman’s

| Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

City and County of Swansea — Various Other

Case number 201800689 — Report issued in July 2018

Mr B complained that the City and County of Swansea Council (“the Council”) had failed to approve

the funding for an organization Mr B was part of, which they had received annually in the past. The
organization had spent money on an activity on the basis that they received funding in the past. He asked
the Council to pay the invoice. Mr B also complained that the Council had failed to respond to their email
about the funding and the formal complaint made thereafter.

The Ombudsman did not have the authority to investigate the financial aspects of the case as these are
decisions for the Council. The Council had told Mr B that there was a strong possibility that they would not
be able to fund the organization and a full application (including appropriate documents to be supported)
should be sent to be considered. That was not done with any formality although Mr B send an email with a
funding bid. A reply was sent to Mr B regarding the bid and formal complaint once the Ombudsman’s office
contacted the Council.

Student Loans Company — Benefits Administration

Case number 201800515 — Report issued in July 2018

Mr X complained that Student Loans Company (“SLC") had failed to respond to his appeal, complaint,
or enquiries regarding his disagreement with its Disabled Students’ Allowance assessment and failure to
reimburse him for equipment and support services.

SLC informed the Ombudsman that it had issued correspondence to Mr X on three occasions in 2017
following his complaint. However, it did not appear that Mr X received that correspondence. The
Ombudsman was not persuaded that further enquiry by his office would achieve anything further regarding
the correspondence which had not been received by Mr X.

However, the information provided by SLC did not indicate that a further complaint made by Mr X in

August 2017 was acknowledged or responded to, despite being received. Therefore, in settlement of Mr X’s

complaint, SLC agreed to complete the following actions by 9 August 2018:

d) Apologise for failing to respond to Mr X's email dated 7 August 2017

e) Issue a response to Mr X’s email

f) Offer a payment of £250 to Mr X in recognition of the delay in responding to his email, and the time and
trouble in making his complaint to the Ombudsman. Should Mr X remain dissatisfied with the response
and offer of payment he should be provided with a point of contact to escalate the complaint to stage 3
of SLC's complaint process.

Hywel Dda University Health Board — Health

Case number 201801521 — Report issued in July 2018

A complaints advocate on behalf of Mr X advised that a formal complaint was first submitted to Hywel
Dda University Health Board (“the Health Board”) in September 2017. Mr X complained that at the time of
bringing his complaint to the Ombudsman he had still not received a response to his concerns.

After considering this complaint the Ombudsman contacted the Health Board for its comments with
regards to the status of its investigation. He was advised that it had been a very complex investigation. A
response had been drafted and sent to the Head of Nursing for approval. However, it was felt that further
information could be provided.

Page 104
v



The Ombudsman’s

i Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

On this basis, the Ombudsman considered that the Health Board’s agreement to ensure that Mr X was sent
the response by 31 July 2018 was a sufficient resolution of the complaint.

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board — Health

Case number 201800114 — Report issued in July 2018

Mr X and Mr Y complained to the Ombudsman that the correspondence that they had received from
Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board (“the Health Board”), in response to their concerns
about the care and treatment afforded to their late father during 2017, was incomplete.

The Ombudsman found that the correspondence did not address all of Mr X and Mr Y’s concerns.

The Health Board agreed to the following within 30 days:

¢) Apologise to Mr X and Mr Y for failing to respond to all of the concerns raised in the original
complaint letter.

d) Provide Mr X and Mr Y with a full complaint response.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board — Complaints Handling

Case number 201802216 — Report issued in August 2018

Mrs B complained that Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the Health Board”) had failed to put
together a timely care package for her husband when he was discharged from hospital to a Care Home.
This caused a delay of approximately 3 weeks. She also complained that the physiotherapist that attended
to him had ended the treatment too early. She also complained that the Board had failed to meet with her
after providing it as an option in its complaint response letter.

The Ombudsman contacted the Board and it agreed to;
a) Write to Mrs B to arrange a local resolution meeting.
This will be completed within 20 working days of the date of this letter.

Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust — Complaint Handling

Case number 201801937 — Report issued in August 2018

Mrs B complained that the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust (“the Trust”) had failed to respond to her
complaint about the care provided to her late mother, Mrs C, which was made in February 2018.

The Ombudsman found that the Trust had failed to update Mrs B during the course of investigation. The
Trust stated that it had written to Mrs B in July 2018 in order to obtain her consent for it to access Mrs C's
records from the relevant Health Board and to submit the case to the next available Redress Panel.

The Trust therefore agreed to complete the following in settlement of Mrs B’s complaint:

a) Expedite the response to Mrs B’s complaint on receipt of the relevant consent form

It also agreed to complete the following actions by 27 September 2018:

b) Apologise for the delay in responding to Mrs B’s complaint, and for the failure to keep her updated

¢) Explain the reason/s for the delay and lack of updates

d) Make a payment of £125 to Mrs B in recognition of the delay, failure to provide updates and for the time
and trouble in making her complaint to the Ombudsman.

Page 105
e



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Newport City Council — Complaints Handling

Case number 201802476 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr X complained that Newport City Council (“the Council”) had failed to respond to his complaint about a
number of housing matters which the Ombudsman referred to it in March 2018.

The Ombudsman made several enquiries with the Council to obtain updates on the status of its
investigation of Mr X’s complaint. Further to the Ombudsman’s enquiries, the Council subsequently agreed
to undertake the following in settlement of Mr X's complaint:

a) Issue its response to Mr X’s complaint

b) Apologise to Mr X for the delay in responding to his complaint

The Council completed these actions on 16 August 2018.

The Ombudsman did not consider the £50 redress payment offered by the Council to Mr X for his time and
trouble in making the complaint to be sufficient given the delays.

The Council therefore agreed to complete the following action by 17 September 2018:
¢) Make a payment of £150 to Mr X in recognition of the delay in responding to him, and for the time and
trouble in making his complaint to the Ombudsman.

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board — Complaints Handling

Case number 201802530 — Report issued in August 2018

Ms X complained that Aneurin Bevan University Health Board (“the Health Board”) had failed to provide
its Protection of Vulnerable Adults ("POVA") and ‘Putting Things Right’ ("PTR") responses to her complaint
which was made in August 2017 about care provided to her father.

The Health Board confirmed to the Ombudsman that it was in the process of linking both its POVA and

PTR reports into one response. The Health Board therefore agreed to complete the following actions by 25

September 2018 in settlement of Ms X's complaint:

a) Issue the joint POVA and PTR response

b) Apologise for the delay in responding to Ms X’s complaint

¢) Make a payment of £250 to Ms X in recognition of the delay she had experienced and for the time and
trouble in making her complaint to the Ombudsman.

Hywel Dda University Health Board — Complaints Handling

Case number 201802722 — Report issued in August 2018

Mrs X complained about the care and treatment provided to her late mother by a GP Practice (“the GP
Practice”) in the area of Hywel Dda University Health Board (“the Health Board”). Mrs X also had concerns
about the way in which the Practice communicated with her family, and about the Health Board’s handling
of her complaint.

The Ombudsman considered that the substantive issues regarding the care provided by the Practice was
out of time for investigation by his office.

However, it appeared from the information provided that the Health Board did not have full regard for the
Putting Things Right Regulations when responding to Mrs X's complaint. Additionally, Mrs X's family felt that
it had not received a genuine apology from the Practice.

Page 106
. EEEEEEaasrrs



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

The Health Board agreed to complete the following actions by 9 October 2018:

a) Apologise for the complaint not being properly considered in accordance with the Putting Things
Right Regulations

b) The GP to apologise directly to Mrs X for the deficiencies identified in the Health Board’s report.

Flintshire County Council — Complaints Handling

Case number 201802838 — Report issued in August 2018

Miss X complained that Flintshire County Council (“the Council”) had repeatedly failed to collect her refuse
and had not responded to her email of complaint dated 17 July 2018.

The Council confirmed that it had received Miss X's complaint, but that it had been “overlooked”. The
Council therefore agreed to complete the following actions by 27 September 2018 in settlement of Miss X’s
complaint:

a) Apologise for failing to respond to Miss X

b) Consider and respond to Miss X's complaint under Stage 2 of its complaint’s procedure.

GP Practice in the area of Hywel Dda University Health Board — Health

Case number 201801683 — Report issued in September 2018

Mr I complained that during the winter he made an appointment at the GP Practice as he needed help
with his condition of anxiety and PTSD. Mr I explained that due to his anxiety he was unable to enter
the Practice and although he attempted to make the appointment that he has trouble speaking on the
telephone. Mr I felt discriminated against because of his condition.

The Ombudsman found that the GP Practice wrote to Mr I stating that he could nominate someone to
make an appointment on his behalf. He felt this was a reasonable offer but that to assist Mr I the Practice
could move matters forward.

The GP Practice agreed to undertake the following action, on receipt of the Ombudsman’s decision, in
settlement of the complaint:
a) Send Mr I a letter with a suggested appointment to discuss his health.

Hywel Dda University Health Board — Health

Case number 201802868 — Report issued in September 2018

Mrs J complained that at the time of submitting her complaint to the Ombudsman, in August 2018, she had
not received a response from Hywel Dda University Health Board (“the Health Board”) to a complaint she
had submitted in September 2017.

Upon receiving the complaint, the Ombudsman contacted the Health Board and it agreed to undertake the

following in settlement of the complaint by 22 October 2018:

a) Write to Mrs ] apologising for the delay in responding to her complaint

b) Pay £250 to Mrs J in recognition of the time and trouble in making a complaint to this office and in
recognition of its delay in responding to her complaint.

The Health Board also agreed to complete the following by 30 September 2018:
¢) Issue its complaint response.

Page 107
-



y The Ombudsman’s

B Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust — Health
Case number 201802977 — Report issued in September 2018

An MP complained that the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust (“the Trust”) had failed to respond to the
complaint he had made to it on 10 May 2018 on behalf of Ms X.

In settlement of the complaint, the Trust agreed to complete the following actions by 2 October 2018:
a) Issue its complaint response
b) Apologise for the delay in issuing the response.

Carmarthenshire County Council — Planning and Building Control

Case number 201803115 — Report issued in September 2018

Mr X complained that Carmarthenshire County Council (“the Council”) had failed to respond to his
correspondence about a range of issues related to a new school in its area.

Mr X made a formal complaint to the Council on 1 May 2018. The Council, in responding to the
Ombudsman, confirmed that it was yet to respond to Mr X’s complaint. The Council therefore agreed to
complete the following actions by 10 October 2018:

a) Issue its response to Mr X's complaint
b) Apologise for its complaint handling delays
¢) Explain the reason for the delays.

Isle of Anglesey County Council — Finance and Taxation

Case number 201802200 — Report issued in September 2018

Miss A complained that Isle of Anglesey County Council (“the Council”) was enforcing payment of her
council tax arrears by way of deductions from her wages that were not affordable.

The Ombudsman found that the Council had not provided Miss A with the correct information for her

to make an informed choice about repaying her arrears. He also found that, despite having assessed

Miss A’s financial circumstances, in June 2018, it initiated deductions from her wages that it knew to be

unreasonable. This caused financial hardship to Miss A. The Ombudsman contacted the Council and agreed

to undertake the following actions in settlement of the complaint;

a) apologise to Miss A for its misleading letter of 7 February 2018,

b) refund the second attachment of earnings deducted from her wages in June and July and August 2018;
and

¢) make a redress payment to Miss A of £100 in recognition of the financial hardship caused by its failure
to take account of her ability to pay.

Page 108
B



The Ombudsman’s

B Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Education

Early Resolution or Voluntary Settlement

Admissions Appeal Panel — Education

Case number 201802558 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr X complained about the administrative arrangements for the School Admission Appeal Panel (“the
Panel”) hearing in respect of his daughter, Miss X, held on 25 June. There had been a procedural flaw in
that on 25 June he was given an additional document by the Clerk to the Panel, which had been prepared
by the Headteacher, shortly before the hearing began. Mr X complained that he had not been given
sufficient time to read, consider and respond to the document prior to the Panel’s hearing. Mr X said that
this was in contravention of section 4.22 of the School Admissions Appeal Code, which states that such
documents should be supplied at least 7 days (5 working days) before the hearing. Despite an exchange of
correspondence with the Clerk to the Panel, the Council Admissions Authority concluded that the Code had
not been breached and that it was not appropriate to hold a second appeal.

The Ombudsman considered that there was sufficient prima facie evidence to indicate that there had been
a breach of the Code, and that breach had caused Mr X — and Miss Y - injustice. Given that the complaint
involved a School Admission Appeal, the Ombudsman felt that the most appropriate remedy in this case
would be to ask the Council Admissions Authority to hold a fresh hearing of Mr X’s Appeal.

The Council Admissions Authority agreed to:
a) Hold a fresh Appeal Panel Hearing in respect of Mr X's appeal; and

b) Investigate whether any other school appellants similarly affected wished to take up the offer of a fresh
Appeal Panel Hearing.

Page 109
s



’ ‘ B The Ombudsman’s

B Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Environment and Environmental Health

Not upheld

Denbighshire County Council — Noise and other nuisance issues

Case number 201702158 — Report issued in July 2018

Mrs X complained about Denbighshire County Council’s (“the Council”) handling of the noise nuisance
complaint she raised with it about vibro-piling work being carried out on a new school development near
to her home. The Ombudsman was satisfied that, overall, the Council’s actions in dealing with Mrs X’s
complaint, were in line with its procedure. He did not uphold the complaint.

Early Resolution or Voluntary Settlement

Cardiff Council — Refuse Collection/ Recycling and Waste Disposal

Case number 201801232 — Report issued in July 2018

Mrs A complained that her waste was not consistently collected under Cardiff Council’s (“the Council”)
“Assisted Lift"1 scheme. Mrs A also complained that when she telephoned the Council to report a missed
collection, she was not able to speak to a relevant member of staff and her calls were not returned.

Although the Ombudsman declined to investigate Mrs A's complaint, he was concerned that this was the
second complaint Mrs A had made to his office regarding the same issues.

Because of this he contacted the Council who agreed to do the following:

a) To apologise to Mrs A for the failures in collecting her waste and in relation to complaints handling.

b) To offer Mrs A a payment of £250 for the time and trouble experienced in bringing a complaint to the
Ombudsman for a second time.

¢) To update Mrs A in relation to the introduction and training of staff on in-cab technology.

d) To place a “marker” on Mrs A’s address so that if further complaints were made of missed collections,
the complaints handler was aware that they should update Mrs A regarding what steps would be taken
to collect the missed collection.

Conwy County Borough Council — Pest Control/ Dog Nuisance/ Fouling

Case number 201707029 — Report issued in July 2018

Ms B complained that she was approached by a representative of Conwy County Borough Council (“the
Council”) Officer in a secluded area and advised that, as her dog was walking off lead she would be issued
with a fixed penalty notice. Ms B complained about a lack of signage and being approached on private land.

Ms B paid the fine immediately and did not appeal, although she acknowledged she was aware of her right
to do so. Ms B said the Officer did not advise her that he was filming the encounter and had she known
this she said she would have used her right of appeal.

The Ombudsman commenced an investigation and based upon the information which came to light the
Council agreed it was appropriate to settle the complaint. The Council said that within one month it would
apologise to Ms B for failing to advise her that she was being filmed and pay her £100 for the time and
trouble taken in pursuing her complaint.

The Council agreed to review the training provided to its officers and ensure it is satisfied that staff are
aware of what to do if they are issuing a fixed penalty notice in a secluded area. The Council also agreed
that the Officer should review the footage of the incident and consider it in his future practice.

Page 110
v



’ ‘ o The Ombudsman’s

| Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Housing

Upheld

Vale of Glamorgan County Council — Housing

Case number 201606493 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr Y complained that the Vale of Glamorgan County Council (“the Council”) had failed, either in a timely
fashion or at all, to complete the previously agreed schedule of rectification work to his property. Mr Y also
complained that construction work to the main roof and annex roof of his property had been undertaken
without appropriate Building Regulations approval.

The Ombudsman found that there were some avoidable delays on the Council’s part, although the
majority of the delays Mr Y experienced were due to a combination of factors, including complex access
negotiations with neighbours and a tendering process. The Ombudsman found that the Council had
reasonably exercised its professional judgement in relation to the issue of Building Regulations issues and
the Ombudsman could not intervene.

The Ombudsman recommended that the Council apologise to Mr Y for the avoidable delays.

Flintshire County Council — Group or block repair/ improvement grants (not DFGs)

Case number 201704323 — Report issued in September 2018

Mr S complained about Flintshire County Council’s (“the Council”) management and monitoring of works to
install an external wall insulation ("EWI") system at his home. He was concerned that the identified faults
with the installation had not all been put right. Mr S also complained about the way the Council dealt with
his concerns about the issue.

It was concerning that, over two years after the EWI system had originally been installed, some issues
remained outstanding at Mr S” home. The Ombudsman found that there had been some failings in the
monitoring of the initial works and that some (but not all) of the subsequent delays were due to the
Council. To that extent he upheld that part of the complaint. The Ombudsman found that for the most part
the Council had responded to Mr S’ concerns in a timely manner; however, there was a delay in responding
to some questions he had put to it. To that extent he upheld that part of the complaint. The Ombudsman
recommended that the Council apologise to Mr S, pay him £500 to reflect the time and trouble he had been
put to, and take steps to resolve the outstanding works in a timely manner.

City and Council of Swansea — Neighbour disputes and anti-social behaviour

Case number 201704517 — Report issued in September 2018

Miss A complained that the City and County of Swansea Council (“the Council”) had not adequately
investigated her complaints of anti-social behaviour ("ASB”) and had not taken into account its equality
duties when considering her complaints. She also complained about the Council’s handling of her
complaint.

The Ombudsman'’s investigation concluded that the Council had responded to Miss A’'s and her partner’s
complaints of ASB and had acted appropriately within its ASB guidelines. There was also evidence that the
Council had applied the correct approach when reaching its discretionary decision on the equality aspects
of Miss A's complaint. The Ombudsman did not uphold these parts of Miss A’'s complaint.

Page 111



The Ombudsman’s

4 Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

The Ombudsman did uphold to a very limited extent the complaint handling aspect of Miss A's complaint,
given that there was a delay in the Council undertaking action that it said it had taken in its initial complaint
response to her. The Ombudsman therefore recommended that the Council apologise in writing to Miss A
for this shortcoming.

Early Resolution or Voluntary Settlement

Pembrokeshire County Council — Repairs and Maintenance (inc. dampness/ improvements and

alterations e.g. central heating or double glazing)

Case number 201800781 — Report issued in July 2018

Mrs A complained about Pembrokeshire County Council’s (“the Council) failure to complete damp repair
works to her property despite reporting the problems for over four years. She also raised concerns about
repairs to fencing and water pressure. Having initially contacted the Council, the Ombudsman was provided
with a definite timescale for completion of the works by the end of October 2018.

The Ombudsman was satisfied that this timescale was reasonable and that the Council had adequately
explained why it had been unable to complete the works sooner. The Ombudsman was also satisfied that
the Council had already acted to address the other repairs. However, he was concerned that no definite
timescale had been provided to Mrs A when the extensive nature of the damp works which required
completion was first identified in August 2017. Because of this, the Ombudsman contacted the Council who
agreed to carry out the following in settlement of Mrs A's complaint:

a) To write to Mrs A immediately with a definite timetable/schedule for completion of the damp works

b) Within one month, to provide a written apology for the failure to confirm the timescale for the
completion of the works when the issues were first identified

¢) Within one month, to offer a redress payment of £250 in recognition of the uncertainty caused to Mrs A
due to the failure to provide a definite timescale and her time and trouble in pursuing her complaint.

Clwyd Alyn Housing Association Ltd — Other

Case number 201801046 — Report issued in July 2018

Ms A complained that the Clwyd Alyn Housing Association (“the Housing Association”) failed to
acknowledge her report that there was no Telecare equipment in her property and that it continued to
charge her for the monitoring and maintenance of the service.

Although the Ombudsman declined to investigate Ms A's complaint, he recognised that the Housing

Association had no record to confirm that Telecare equipment was available in the property at the

beginning of Ms A’s tenancy and it also failed to investigate when Ms A reported that she did not have the

equipment. Because of this, he contacted the Housing Association and it agreed to do the following within

one month:

a) provide a full written apology to Ms A for poor administrative practice and for failing to investigate when
she reported that she did not have Telecare equipment in her home.

b) to provide Ms A with a redress payment of £250, in recognition of the failure to investigate and the
uncertainty caused by lack of records.

¢) to review its process on assignment of a property, to ensure that all charged for services are available
and in working order.

Page 112
B hhEEEEaasrre



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Coastal Housing Group Ltd — Housing

Case number 201802808 — Report issued in August 2018

Ms B complained that a Coastal Housing Group Ltd (“the Housing Association”) had failed to carry out
repairs to her boiler and roof. Ms B had not fully exhausted the Housing Association’s complaints procedure
as her complaints had been treated as service requests. The Housing Association confirmed that, on
receipt of Ms B’s complaints, home visits were undertaken by its Housing and Maintenance Officers to “try
and address” Ms B's concerns.

Therefore, the Housing Association agreed to complete the following actions by 27 September 2018 in
settlement of Ms B’s complaint:

a) Apologise to Ms B that her complaints did not receive a formal written response
b) Explain the reason/s why Ms B's complaints did not receive a formal written response
¢) Provide a formal written response to Ms B at the final stage of its complaint’s procedure.

Wrexham County Borough Council — Housing

Case number 201707022 — Report issued in August 2018

Mrs B was employed by Wrexham County Borough Council (“the Council”) as a Warden in a sheltered
housing complex and had tied accommodation at the premises for which she paid rent by way of
deductions from her wages. The Council failed to deduct the correct amount causing significant rent
arrears and Mrs B’s later application for Council housing was subjected to an exclusion period of six months
because of the debt. Mrs B complained that the Council’s decision to apply an exclusion period was unfair
given that it bore some responsibility for her arrears and that she had been repaying the debt. Mrs B also
complained about the Council’s handling of complaint.

The Ombudsman found that, when taking the decision to exclude Mrs B, the Council failed to consider
the full facts of her case and to follow Welsh Government guidance. Furthermore, Mrs B was not properly
advised of the reasons for the decision, the grounds for a review of that decision, when the exclusion
period came to an end and the requirement to reapply for housing at the end of the exclusion period.
These failings not only undermined the soundness of the Council’s decision but also prejudiced Mrs B's
ability to challenge the decision and prevented her from reapplying as soon as she could. Finally, the
Ombudsman found that the Council had failed to respond to Mrs B’s complaint.

The Council was able to assure the Ombudsman that Mrs B had not missed out on an allocation of housing

because of these failings and agreed to take the following action in settlement of the complaint:

a) To make a payment of £500 to Mrs B, in recognition of the uncertainty and distress caused by the poor
handling of her housing application and the failure to respond to her complaint.

b) To reinstate Mrs B’s place on the housing waiting list as if she been waiting from 12 September 2016,
when she first applied and write to her to confirm when this has been done.

¢) To provide training to relevant staff on the statutory conditions which must be satisfied before an
exclusion can apply and the proper recording of decisions.

d) To carry out a review of its policy and procedures to ensure that they meet with the statutory
requirements and good administrative practice.

Page 113
. hhEEaarre



The Ombudsman’s

4 Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

North Wales Housing — Housing

Case number 201707922 — Report issued in August 2018

Ms A complained about a lack of effective action being taken by North Wales Housing (“the Housing
Association”) to bring noise nuisance from her neighbour to an end. She said that the noise was causing
her sleepless nights and impacting significantly on her quality of life.

The Ombudsman found no evidence of failure by the Housing Association to take appropriate and timely
action in response to Ms A reports of noise nuisance. However, its communication with Ms A during the
course of its investigations had been poor giving her the impression that it was doing little in response to
her concerns and that the impact of the nuisance she was experiencing was not being taken seriously.

In recognition of this, the Housing Association agreed to:
a) Apologise to Ms A for the communication failings in this case; and to
b) make a payment of £250 to Ms A in recognition of the distress this had caused.

Powys County Council — Housing

Case number 201707713 — Report issued in August 2018

Mrs A complained to the Ombudsman that Powys County Council (“the Council”) had failed to investigate
and remedy damp issues in her home in line with its repair obligations as a social housing landlord.
Notably, Mrs A was unhappy that cavity wall insulation had not been removed.

The Council agreed to;

a) Remove the cavity wall insulation

b) Install external wall insulation and damp course

¢) Carry out appropriate re-plastering and decorating

d) Provide Mrs A with redecoration vouchers for the bedroom

e) Carry out appropriate works to make good after repairs are completed

The Ombudsman discontinued his investigation into the complaint.

Clwyd Alyn Housing Association Ltd — Housing

Case number 201801830 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr B complained that Clwyd Alyn Housing Association (“the Housing Association”) continued to charge him
for a Telecare service after he had reported that it was not working. He complained that despite raising his
concerns with the Housing Association, it failed to remove the arrears that had accrued on his account. Mr
B was unhappy with the Housing Association’s complaints response, as he felt that it had not addressed all
the issues that he had raised.

Although the Ombudsman declined to investigate Mr B’s complaint, he recognised that the Housing
Association had failed to investigate when it was notified of the potentially faulty equipment or
acknowledge in any of its complaints responses that Mr B had notified it of the issue. The Housing
Association failed to ensure that the charged for service was operable for Mr B’s benefit and it continued
to charge him until 2018, when the service was no longer compulsory.

As a result, the Ombudsman contacted the Housing Association and it agreed to do the following

within one month:

a) remaye the Telecgre service charge arrears on Mr B's account and inform him of the action taken.
Page 112



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Trivallis — Repairs and maintenance (inc. dampness/ improvements and alterations

e.g. central heating/ double glazing)

Case number 201801539 — Report issued in September 2018

Ms A complained that her property had not been re-wired which was causing electrical goods to fail. She
also complained that floor tiles in her living room were cracked and lifting, and at the time the complaint
was made, had not been repaired. Ms A also complained about various other repairs to her property and
about communication issues with Trivallis.

Although the Ombudsman declined to investigate Ms A's complaint, he was concerned that there had been
a delay in addressing some of the issues raised by Ms A.

Because of this he contacted Trivallis who agreed to do the following:

a) To apologise to Ms A for the delay of seven days in replacing the living room floor tiles;

b) To make a payment of £5 to Ms A for the inconvenience caused to her by this;

¢) To apologise to Ms A for failing to fit her new electrical consumer unit in a timely manner;

d) To ensure that the electrical consumer unit was fitted and an up to date Electrical Installation Condition
Report completed;

e) To make a payment of £250 to Ms A for failing to ensure that her electrical supply was remedied within a
reasonable timescale.

Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd — Repairs and maintenance (inc. dampness/ improvements and alterations
e.g. central heating/ double glazing)

Case number 201802078 — Report issued in September 2018

Ms B complained that Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd had unreasonably decided that it would not allow her
to install a multi-fuel burner at her home. Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd’s Heating Policy stated that it would
not allow tenants of its properties to install multi-fuel burners unless they were considered to be in “Fuel
Poverty”.

Although the Ombudsman declined to investigate Ms B’s complaint, he was concerned that Cartrefi
Cymunedol Gwynedd had incorrectly completed their assessment tool to consider if Ms B was in
Fuel Poverty.

Because of this he contacted Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd who agreed to do the following:

a) To re-assess whether Ms B and her family were in Fuel Poverty;

b) To apologise to Ms B for the error in the original Fuel Poverty calculation, and to re-consider her
application to install a multi-fuel burner and for any other relevant support, should she be deemed to be
living in Fuel Poverty;

c¢) To offer Ms B a payment of £125 for the time and trouble she had experienced in bringing her complaint
to the Ombudsman;

d) To amend its Heating Policy to include references both to Disability Living Allowance and Personal
Independence Payments;

e) To ensure that all calculations of Fuel Poverty completed since April 2016 had been completed correctly,
and/or to rectify any cases where errors had occurred, if any.

Page 115
51



’* _ il The Ombudsman’s

| Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Cartrefi Conwy — Right to buy

Case number 201802745 — Report issued in September 2018

Mr A (who was a tenant) complained that he had tried to complete the purchase of his property from
Cartrefi Conwy and that they had delayed without signing the documents, and at the last minute, insisted
Include a frustration clause in the transfer document. This, said Mr A, had caused inconvenience who, by
that time, was in rent debts and Cartrefi Conwy was unable to complete the sale and was financially losing.

In assessing the complaint, the Ombudsman stated that the purchase was controlled by the Housing Act
1985 (“the Act”) and Cartrefi Conwy neglected the content of the clause in the initial documents, although
they were entitled to include it under the Act before the final date. In addition, Cartrefi Conwy was entitled
to require the rent account to be clear as Mr A’s legal obligations, as a tenant, continued until the transfer.
However, it was agreed that Mr A was bothered by having to sign two documents, and his time, due to the
stated negligence. Cartrefi Conwy agreed to the Ombudsman’s suggestion for resolving the complaint,

as below:

a) Apologize to Mr A in writing, and offer him £ 50 for his trouble in terms of the time and inconvenience
identified (in a month)

b) Agree to proceed with the sale of the property, if Mr A still wished, on the same conditions (with a clear
rent account) and complete the process by 31 December 2018.

Cardiff Council — Tenancy rights and conditions/ abandonment and evictions

Case number 201803185 — Report issued in September 2018

Ms X complained that when she took up tenancy of her new property, it transpired that there was a serious
blockage of the kitchen sink which rendered it unusable. The tenancy commenced on 6 August 2018 yet
despite raising the matter with Cardiff Council (“the Council”), the issue with the blockage was not resolved
until 13 August. Ms X was happy with the work which was carried out.

However, because the blockage rendered the sink unusable, Ms X felt that the property did not meet the
standards set out in the ‘What to Expect in Your New Home’ brochure she had been given by the Council,
and therefore the property was not fit to let. Consequently, she raised this point with the Council and
requested a reduction in rent to reflect the sub-standard condition of the property between 6 and 13
August. In its response, the Council failed to fully address this request which led Ms X to complain to

this office.

The Ombudsman is of the view that an opportunity exists in this case for the Council to take certain action
to settle the complaint, under section 3 of the Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005, in relation
to the fact that the Council failed to address the request for a reduction in rent which has resulted in Ms

X having to come to the Ombudsman which might have been avoided had the Council responded to the
complainant on this point. I would therefore like to propose the following as a way of resolution for Ms X’s
concerns and her complaint to this office:

a) Consider Ms X's request for a reduction in rent and respond to her regarding this matter within four
weeks (5 October 2018)

Page 116
S 52



’ : ; The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Planning and Building Control

Early Resolution and Voluntary Settlement

City and County of Swansea — Planning and Building Control

Case number 201801745 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr X complained that the City and County of Swansea (“the Council”) had failed to take enforcement action
against a restaurant which had not installed a ramp as per its planning application and about the length of
time the Council had taken to respond to his concerns.

Mr X made an enforcement enquiry to the Council in February 2018 and understood that a response would
be provided within 12 weeks. Mr X subsequently complained and received a Stage 1 complaint response in
June 2018.

The Council explained to Mr X that enforcement investigations can take longer than 12 weeks. It did not
offer an apology for the time taken, nor did it provide information to Mr X on how to escalate his complaint.

The Council therefore agreed to complete the following actions:

a) Apologise to Mr X for the length of time taken in investigating the enforcement enquiry

b) Explain the reasons for the delay

¢) Provide information to Mr X on how to escalate his complaint to Stage 2 of its complaints procedure if he
remained dissatisfied with its response.

The Council provided evidence that it had written to Mr X on 23 August 2018 and had complied with the
actions outlined above.

Arthog Community Council — Planning and Building Control

Case number 201801524 — Report issued in August 2018

Ms A complained about the process followed by Arthog Community Council (“the Council”) when it
considered an application to Modify the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way in the area as part of
a statutory consultation. In addition, Ms A complained about the way in which her complaints were
considered by the Council.

The Ombudsman was satisfied that the Council had acted reasonably following receipt of the consultation
exercise in arranging for it to be considered and discussed by its members at a public meeting in the
absence of any prescribed guidance or procedures for the consultation.

The Ombudsman noted that Ms A’'s complaints about the actions of the Council had not been handled
appropriately. In that the Council did not have a formal complaints process in place, did not provide a full
and detailed response within a reasonable timeframe or provide any review or escalation advice in line with
principles of good administration and Welsh Government’s Model Complaints Process.

The Council agreed to the following proposals by the Ombudsman:
a) Apologise that to the Complaint for the way in which her complaint was handled.
b) Adopt a formal complaints procedure within two months.

Page 117
. 53



,' | B The Ombudsman’s

' Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Flintshire County Council — Tree management/ TPOs/ High Hedges

Case Number 201802271 - Report issued in Semptember 2018.

Mrs X complained that Flintshire County Council (“the Council”) had failed to undertake a site visit to
inspect a tree near the road opposite her home, despite the Ombudsman having referred her complaint
to the Council several months earlier.

The Council acknowledged that the matter had been overlooked and, following the Ombudsman’s
intervention, arranged for a site visit to be undertaken. In recognition of the administrative failings in not
having arranged the site visit promptly, the Council agreed to:

a) Apologise to Mrs X
b) Pay Mrs X £100 in recognition of the additional time and trouble to which she had been put in pursuing
the matter.

The Ombudsman considered this to be a reasonable resolution.

Page 118
S 58



’ . ; The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Roads and Transport

Early Resolution and Voluntary Settlement

Caerphilly County Borough Council — Roads and Transport

Case number 201802541 — Report issued in August 2018

Mrs X complained that Caerphilly County Borough Council (“the Council”) failed to take into account
mitigating circumstances when she made an appeal to it against an Excess Charge Notice ("ECN") for
car parking.

Whilst the Ombudsman does not perform an appellate function in these matters, he can consider the
process the Council followed in responding to Mrs X’s appeal (i.e. unnecessary delay in responding or failing
to advise on any rights to appeal).

In making enquiries with the Council regarding its ECN appeals procedure, the Ombudsman was informed
that the Council had an “internal procedure” to deal with appeals and that this was a three-stage process.
The Council said that appellants were not normally made aware of the three-stage process and that the
procedure was not currently a written policy. The Ombudsman considered this to be a service failure on
the part of the Council.

The Council therefore agreed to complete the following actions in settlement of Mrs X’s complaint:

Within twenty working days of the Ombudsman’s decision:

a) Apologise to Mrs X for failing to inform her of her right to escalate her appeal to Stage 2 of its appeal
procedure

b) Offer Mrs X the opportunity to appeal at Stage 2

c) Make a payment of £50 to Mrs X for the time and trouble in making her complaint to the Ombudsman,
and in recognition of the failure outlined above.

Within two months of the Ombudsman’s decision:

d) Review its appeal procedure, including the way in which appellants are made aware of their rights to
escalate appeals, and the way in which the procedure is published

e) Identify any other individuals — since 1 April 2018 — who have not been informed of their right to
escalate their appeal and contact them to advise them of their right.

Caerphilly County Borough Council — Parking

Case number 201803391 — Report issued in September 2018

Mr X complained that Caerphilly County Borough Council (“the Council”) failed to take into account
mitigating circumstances when he made an appeal to it against an Excess Charge Notice ("ECN") for
car parking.

Whilst the Ombudsman does not perform an appellate function in these matters, he can consider the
process the Council followed in responding to Mr X’s appeal (i.e. unnecessary delay in responding or failing
to advise on any rights to appeal).

Page 119
. 55



n The Ombudsman’s

" Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

The Council had an “internal procedure” to deal with ECN appeals, which has three stages, although
appellants are not routinely made aware of this and there was no written policy. The Ombudsman
considered this to be a service failure on the part of the Council.

The Council therefore agreed to complete the following actions in settlement of Mr X’s complaint:

Within twenty working days of the Ombudsman’s decision:

a) Apologise to Mr X for failing to inform him of his right to escalate to Stage 2 of its appeal procedure

b) Offer Mr X the opportunity to appeal at Stage 2

c) Make a payment of £50 to Mr X for the time and trouble in making his complaint to the Ombudsman,
and in recognition of the failure outlined above.

Since, in relation to a similar complaint, the Council had already agreed to review its procedure and identify
other individuals who had been similarly affected, the Ombudsman consider the agreed actions to be
reasonable.

Page 120
S 56



’ ‘ o The Ombudsman’s

| Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Social Services — Adult

Upheld

Newport City Council — Adult Social Services

Case number 201700724 — Report issued in August 2018

Ms C complained that from September 2013 her relative, Ms D, who has learning difficulties, was not
provided with adequate care by Newport City Council (“the Council”) and it left her without support. In
particular, it did not assess her capacity to oversee her financial affairs or arrange for an appointee to
do so.

The Ombudsman found that a formal capacity assessment was not carried out by the Council for a period
of almost four years, despite it identifying on five separate occasions that Ms D was vulnerable and did
not understand basic money calculations. The Council left Ms D to handle her own financial affairs and at
risk of exploitation. Further to this, the Ombudsman found that when the Council was made aware of Ms
D being potentially exploited financially, it did not make a safeguarding referral or investigate the concerns
that had been raised seriously enough. However, the Ombudsman found that overall the general support
offered to Ms D by the Council was reasonable.

The Ombudsman said that Ms D should have been safeguarded financially by the Council and it was a
significant injustice that she was not. The Council accepted the findings in the report and acknowledged its
role in the failings of the case.

The Council agreed to take the following actions:

Within one month:

a) Write appropriate letters of apology for the failings identified in this report.

b) Make a payment to Ms D of an agreed amount for the identified failing of not adequately assessing her
need for financial safeguards between September 2013 and April 2017.

¢) Make a payment of £500 to Ms C in recognition of the distress caused by its failure as outlined in (b) and
ignoring her correspondence.

Within three months:

d) Ensure that arrangements are in place, so consideration is given to financial management during its
annual review of cases and determine how it will review concerns it receives in relation to financial
issues and capacity.

e) Discuss the contents of this report with the Community Adult Learning Disability Team to identify
learning areas.

f) Ensure arrangements are in place so relevant staff are reminded of the need to take accurate notes and
evidence the rationale for decisions in relation to capacity.

a) Within six months:

g) Demonstrate that all relevant Social Workers have either recently undergone or will undergo refresher
training in relation to the Mental Capacity Act and how to undertake and record capacity assessments.

Page 121



The Ombudsman’s

Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Flintshire County Council — Regulation and Inspection (including private sector provision)

Case number 201604471 — Report issued in September 2018

Ms A, who was a joint owner with her husband of a domiciliary care company, complained about a number
of issues including Flintshire County Council’s (“the Council”) failure to make reasonable adjustments for
her disability (dyslexia).

Based on the facts of the case, the Ombudsman upheld to a limited extent only three parts of Ms A's
complaint. He felt that there had been a failure by officers to consider the need for reasonable adjustment
at a meeting that Ms A attended with her husband. He also felt that officers at the meeting had not taken
into account its policy on ensuring the Council’s services are accessible.

Additionally, given Ms A's reading impairment, the Ombudsman concluded that providing Ms A with a
written list at an inspection visit was not sufficient reasonable adjustment and did not accord sufficiently
with the Council’s polices around diversity, equality and accessibility.

He also upheld aspects of Ms A's complaint relating to complaint handling.

The Ombudsman’s recommendations to the Council included the following. The Council should write to Ms A
and acknowledge her distress and set out the points of learning it would implement. In addition, it was asked
to consider refresher training around the equality legislation and in particular reasonable adjustments.

Welsh Government — Care Inspectorate Wales — Regulation and Inspection (including private sector
provision)

Case number 201604474 — Report issued in September 2018

Ms A, who was a joint owner with her husband of a domiciliary care company, complained about a number
of issues including Care Inspectorate Wales’ ("CIW") failure to make reasonable adjustments for her
disability (dyslexia).

Based on the facts of the case, the Ombudsman upheld to a limited extent only three parts of Ms A's
complaint. The Ombudsman concluded that at an inspection visit there was no evidence that reasonable
adjustments had been considered by CIW. This led to failings in other areas including complaint handling.

The Ombudsman recommended that CIW apologise to Ms A for the failings identified and consider
refresher training around the equality legislation and in particular reasonable adjustments.

Early Resolution and Voluntary Settlement

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council — Adult Social Services

Case number 201801638 — Report issued in August 2018

Mrs B complained that Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council (“the Council”) had failed to fulfil its
caring responsibilities to her husband who was terminally ill with cancer. Mrs B said that the Council did not
return her calls regarding home care support and advised her to leave her husband in a chair overnight.

Although the Ombudsman declined to investigate Mrs B’s complaint, he was concerned that the Council had
refused to investigate Mrs B’s complaint under Stage 2 of its own Complaints Procedure.

Because of this he contacted the Council who agreed to investigate Mrs B’s complaint in line with Stage 2
of its Complaints Procedure.

Page 122
58



n The Ombudsman’s

" Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Powys County Council — Adult Social Services

Case number 201801900 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr X raised a number of concerns about the care provided to his late father by Powys County Council’s
(“the Council”) Care Team. His concerns included the Council changing the times of the morning assistance
which affected his father’s daily routines, such as the time he could get out of bed, shower, and have his
morning medication.

The Council advised the Ombudsman that, following the death of Mr X's father, it decided it would be
insensitive and callous to write to the family and therefore decided not to commence an investigation.

The Ombudsman expressed his concerns to the Council that the family was not given the opportunity to
receive answers to their complaint and that it had been one year since the complaint was initially raised.

The Council apologised for its failure in the complaint handling and agreed with the Ombudsman to contact
Mr X. It has arranged a meeting to discuss the best way forward. The Council also agreed to pay Mr X £250
in recognition of the complaint handling failing.

Page 123



4 The Ombudsman’s

B Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Social Services — Children

Not Upheld

Conwy County Borough Council — Children’s Social Services

Case number 201701053 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr X and Ms Y complained about their unclear role and status in respect of a mother (Ms A) and her young
child who had moved to live with them at their home after safeguarding concerns had arisen about the
child. Mr X and Ms Y stated that they had signed an agreement at their home for the child to be placed in
their care under their guardianship. They were aggrieved that a copy of the agreement was not provided
to them. They complained about the way Conwy County Borough Council (“the Council”) had subsequently
dealt with Ms A and the child’s residential arrangements. The complainants were concerned that they

had fallen into debt because of the unsatisfactory arrangement that was put into place by the Council.
Finally, they were aggrieved with how the Council had responded to the independent investigation of their
complaints about this matter.

The agreement was unavailable for consideration, so its content was uncertain. The investigation found
that Ms A and child’s move to the complainants’ property was likely to have been a voluntary informal
arrangement rather than a formal placement. Mr X and Ms Y could not have been made special guardians
by any one document signed at their home; an application to court would have been required and a court
order subsequently made. The child could not have been formally placed with Mr X and Ms Y as they had
never been “looked after” by the Council. There was no indication in the Council’s records that it intended
for anyone other than Ms A to care for the child. The independent investigation of this complaint was found
to have been significantly flawed so the Council’s response to it had not been unreasonable. Nevertheless,
the Council had offered a payment of £2080 to the complainants as a result of that investigation, which
the complainants declined. The Council was found not to have dealt with this matter unreasonably, so the
complaints were not upheld.

Page 124
60



" i The Ombudsman’s
:

| Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Various Other

Upheld

Ceredigion County Council — Various Other

Case number 201703228 — Report issued in August 2018

Mr A complained that Ceredigion County Council (“the Council”) had acted wrongly in its dealings with land
and school buildings within its area (“the School”). He said that when the School closed in August 2014,
the land should have reverted to his ownership under the terms of a deed entered into by his ancestors
in 1859. This deed contained a “reverter clause” - then common where land was bestowed by an owner
for charitable purposes including the setting up of rural schools. Mr A also complained about the Council’s
handling of his subsequent complaint after he had repeatedly told it of his claims — both before and after
the School closed. In addition, Mr A complained about the actions of the St David’s Diocesan Board of
Finance (“the Board”). The Council had later (in 2015) transferred the land to the Board who claimed
ownership of it on behalf of the Church (given the original deed had expressed that the School’s teaching
should be compatible with that of the Church). Mr A had been pursuing his grievances with both the
Council and the Board since.

The investigation found that the Council had failed to properly investigate or consider Mr A's position
(despite a public declaration to do so during the consultation on the School’s proposed closure). It further
had failed to keep any proper records of any steps taken to verify ownership, or of the Board’s claim,

and had simply transferred the land to it. The Council had also not properly dealt with Mr A's subsequent
complaint, simply referring him to the Board.

Whilst the Ombudsman had no jurisdiction over the Board, he commented that the investigation
revealed it was not beyond reproach for its role in events. It had contributed to Mr A’s injustice and his
having to expend sums in legal costs to try to argue his legitimate claim (as verified by the Counsel’s
opinion sought). The Ombudsman was unable to make recommendations to the Board but felt it should
reflect on its position.

Early Resolution or Voluntary Settlement

Student Loans Company — Poor/No communication or failure to provide information

Case number 201800857 — Report issued in July 2018

Mr H complained that the application process for additional funding, on the grounds of Compelling

Personal Reasons, was lengthy, complicated and confusing and that he waited weeks for a response to his
complaint, which left many of his questions unanswered. Then, after being advised that he would receive
funding for the academic year 2018/19, Mr H was told on the ‘phone that his tuition fees would not be paid
after all.

The Ombudsman considered that Mr H’s complaint was dealt with in a reasonably timely manner,
notwithstanding that the amount of correspondence exchanged before it was appropriately escalated

to Stage 2 may have contributed to Mr H’s perception that he was being “stonewalled”. He also noted
that the Student Loans Company (“SLC"”) should have recognised and used Mr H’s preferred method of
communication. The SLC had already fed back to relevant staff members on those points, although Mr H
had not fully exhausted the complaints procedure through Stage 3.

Page 125
61



The Ombudsman’s

B Casebook

Issue 34 July - October 2018

Additionally, the Ombudsman found that Mr H was given misinformation during a telephone conversation
that had led him to believe he had not been awarded funding for the academic year 2018/19 when, in fact,
funding had been awarded. It was agreed that the SLC would:

a) Apologise for the apparent confusion during the telephone call on 12 April 2018

b) Offer to deal with any outstanding concerns at Stage 3 with a relevant referral date of the 14 May (i.e.
the date Mr H contacted the Ombudsman)

Velindre University NHS Trust — Various Other

Case number 201801587 — Report issued in August 2018

Mrs A complained about the care and treatment provided to her late husband by Velindre University NHS
Trust (“the Trust”) in July and October 2017. She said clinician appointments were rushed and lacked
empathy, and a member of staff was cold, abrupt and discourteous. Mrs A said the Trust’s complaint
response failed to adequately address her concerns or acknowledge the issues she raised.

Although the Ombudsman declined to investigate Mrs A's complaint, he recognised the Trust’s complaint

response was reasonable and appropriate. However, it appeared not all Mrs A's specific concerns about staff

attitude had been addressed adequately. Due to this, the Ombudsman contacted the Trust and it agreed to

do the following within one month of the date of this decision.

a) Arrange to meet with Mrs A to discuss her concerns about the care and treatment her late husband
received, and to explain any steps being taken to prevent future occurrence.

Page 126
62



mbudsman

PUBLIC SERVICES OMBUDSMAN FOR WALES

The Code of Conduct

Casebook

Issue 18 October 2018

Contents

Introduction 1
No evidence of breach 3
No action necessary 5
Referred to Standards Committee 8
Referred to Adjudication Panel for Wales 9

Introduction

The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales considers complaints that members of local authorities in
Wales have broken the Code of Conduct. The Ombudsman investigates such complaints under the
provisions of Part Ill of the Local Government Act 2000 and the relevant Orders made by the National
Assembly for Wales under that Act.

Where the Ombudsman decides that a complaint should be investigated, there are four findings, set
out under section 69 of the Local Government Act 2000, which the Ombudsman can arrive at:

(a) that there is no evidence that there has been a breach of the authority’s code of conduct;
(b) that no action needs to be taken in respect of the matters that were subject to the investigation;

(c) that the matter be referred to the authority’s monitoring officer for consideration by the
standards committee;

(d) that the matter be referred to the President of the Adjudication Panel for Wales for adjudication
by a tribunal (this generally happens in more serious cases).

In the circumstances of (c) and (d) above, the Ombudsman is required to submit the investigation
report to the standards committee or a tribunal of the Adjudication Panel for Wales and it is for them
to consider the evidence found by the Ombudsman, together with any defence put forward by the
member concerned. It is also for them to determine whether a breach has occurred and, if so, what

Page 127
.



The Code of Conduct

Casebook
B0 —

penalty (if any) should be imposed.

The Code of Conduct Casebook contains summaries of reports issued by this office for which the
findings were one of the four set out above. However, in reference to (c) and (d) findings, The Code of
Conduct Casebook only contains the summaries of those cases for which the hearings by the standards
committee or Adjudication Panel for Wales have been concluded and the outcome of the hearing is
known. This edition covers July to September 2018.

Page 128



The Code of Conduct

Casebook
B0 —

Case summaries
No evidence of breach

Saltney Town Council — Disclosure and registration of interests
Case number 201707925 — Report issued in July

The Ombudsman investigated a complaint that a Councillor (“the Councillor”) may have breached
the Code of Conduct by participating in, and voting on, a decision to award a grant to a charitable
organisation of which she was Chair.

The Ombudsman concluded that the Councillor’s position as Chair of the organisation was likely to
have given rise to a personal and prejudicial interest and as such the Councillor should not have
taken part unless an exemption applied or she had received a dispensation from the relevant stan-
dards committee. The investigation found that the Councillor had recognised this and had consid-
ered applying for a dispensation. However, she was advised by a County Council Officer that this
was not necessary as an exemption at paragraph 12(2)(a)(ii) of the Code applied and she could
therefore participate. This exemption applies when the item of business relates to another public
body or body exercising functions of a public nature in which the member holds a position of gen-
eral control or management. The Ombudsman found that the Councillor was therefore acting in
good faith on the basis of the advice she had received. He therefore concluded that the evidence
did not suggest that she had breached the Code.

Powys County Council — Promotion of equality and respect
Case number 201701865 — Report issued in September

A complaint was received about a behaviour of a member (“the Councillor”), during a shortlisting
meeting to discuss the applications for a new Headteacher post.

An investigation was commenced to consider whether the Councillor had breached parts of the
Code which concern respect and consideration, bullying and harassment, and disrepute.

The Ombudsman determined that there was no evidence to suggest that the Councillor breached
the Code and therefore no action needed to be taken.

Manorbier Community Council — Promotion of equality and respect
Case number 201708037 — Report issued in September

The Ombudsman received a complaint that a Councillor (“the Councillor”) was verbally abusive
and bullying to a member of the public during a Community Council meeting.

An investigation was commenced to consider whether the Councillor had breached parts of the
Code of Conduct (“the Code”) which concern to treating others with respect and consideration,
bullying and harassment, and disrepute.

Page 129



The Code of Conduct

Casebook
B0 —

Five witnesses were interviewed and the consensus was that the Councillor did not say or do
anything during the meeting that gave them undue concern. The Ombudsman determined there
was no evidence to suggest that the Councillor had breached the Code.

Abertillery & Llanhilleth Community Council — Promotion of equality and respect
Case number 201800122 —Report issued in August

The Ombudsman investigated a complaint that a Councillor (“the Councillor”) may have breached
the Code of Conduct by disclosing confidential human resources and financial information.

Having considered the information available to him, the Ombudsman concluded that there was
no evidence to suggest that the Councillor had improperly shared any information and, that there
was no evidence that a breach of the Code of Conduct had occurred.

Page 130



The Code of Conduct

Casebook
B —s
No action necessary

Sully and Lavernock Community Council — Promotion of equality and respect
Case Number 201706912 — Report issued in September

The Ombudsman received a complaint that a Member (“the Member”) of Sully and Lavernock
Community Council (“the Council”) had breached the Code of Conduct by sending an email to his
fellow councillors which was disrespectful and offensive about another councillor.

The Member was interviewed, as were the councillor who was subject of the email and two other
members of the Council. At interview, the Member acknowledged that he should not have sent
the email and that it was inappropriate. The Member expressed regret for his actions and said
that he would not act in that way again. In mitigation, the Member said that relationships within
the Council were currently difficult, and he had received a number of critical emails from the coun-
cillor concerned. The Member said that he had not intended to copy the email to all the members
of the Council, but had done so by accident, when replying to a previous email.

The Ombudsman concluded that it was likely that the Member had breached paragraphs 4(a)

and 4(b) of the Code, which require that members should carry out their duties with due regard
to equalities issues and must show respect and consideration to others. However, in view of the
mitigating factors, the Member’s contrition and his promise not to act in that way again, the Om-
budsman concluded that it would not be in the public interest to refer the matter to the standards
committee.

Carmarthenshire County Council — Promotion of equality and respect
Case number 201606614 — Report issued in July

The Ombudsman received a complaint that a former member of Carmarthenshire County Council
(“the Councillor”) had brought the office of member of the Council into disrepute as a result of
behaviour which failed to show respect and consideration for others. The complaint related to the
Councillor’s behaviour towards the Council’s Chief Executive and her conduct towards officers of
the Council on 2 December 2016. The investigation considered whether the Councillor may have
breached paragraphs 4(b), 6(1)(a) and 7(a) of the Code of Conduct.

As the Councillor was not re-elected at the May 2017 election, the Ombudsman considered that
the matters were not sufficiently serious for it to be in the public interest to pursue further. The
Ombudsman found that no action needed to be taken in respect of the matters investigated.

Clyro Community Council — Disclosure and registration of interests
Case number 201704165 — Report issued in September

The Ombudsman investigated a complaint that a Councillor (“the Councillor”) may have breached

Page 131



The Code of Conduct

Casebook

the Code of Conduct by participated in a discussion and voted on a local planning application
without declaring an interest. In addition, the Ombudsman investigated whether the Councillor
had a closed mind when he attended two Community Council meetings in September and Octo-
ber 2017.

Having considered all the information available to him, the Ombudsman concluded that there
was no evidence that the Councillor had a personal interest in the planning application and it
therefore followed that he did not have a prejudicial interest. In addition, the Ombudsman con-
cluded that the Councillor was predisposed and not predetermined when the attended the initial
meeting and voted. The Ombudsman did not consider that there was sufficient evidence to
support a contention that the Councillor was predetermined at the second meeting. There was
no evidence that a breach of the Code of Conduct had occurred.

Llay Community Council — Objectivity and propriety
Case number 201702478 — Report issued in July

The Ombudsman received a complaint that during a meeting of Llay Community Council a mem-
ber (“the Member”) had breached the Code of Conduct. It was alleged that the Member’s be-
haviour had been disrespectful and, that he had disclosed confidential information. It was also
alleged that the Member had used his position to confer a disadvantage on a local resident and
failed to declare an interest in the matter. Finally, it was alleged that the member had brought
his office of member into disrepute.

Information was sought from the Council and interviews were undertaken with witnesses to the
meeting and the member.

The investigation found that, the member had made representation to the Council on this matter
on behalf of his constituent. There was no evidence to suggest that the member had used his
position to secure disadvantage for the member of the public or, that he had an interest in this
matter. The investigation also found that, whilst the member did disclose information during the
meeting, it was not of a confidential nature.

The Ombudsman did, however, have some concern about the personal comments the member
made about a member of the public while addressing the Council. The comments did not add
any value to the Council’s consideration of the matter and were neither appropriate nor neces-

sary.

Under Section 69(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 2000, the Ombudsman found that no action
needed to be taken in respect of the matters investigated.

Ceredigion County Council — Disclosure and registration of interests
Case number 201701091 — report issued in July

Mr X complained that an elected member of the Council (“the Councillor”) had breached the

Page 132
B UhEBEBEEEasraa



The Code of Conduct

Casebook
B0 —

Code of Conduct for members (“the Code”) when he attended a meeting that a Council officer
had advised him not to attend. Mr X also complained about the Councillor’s conduct towards
specific persons at the meeting.

The Ombudsman investigated the complaint on the basis that the Councillor may have breached
paragraphs 8(a), 4(b), 4(c) and 6(1)(a) of the Code relating to showing respect, bullying be-
haviour, disrepute and having regard to advice provided by a Council officer.

The Ombudsman did not find any evidence that the Councillor had been advised not to attend
the meeting by a Council officer, or that the manner in which he spoke to most of the meeting
attendees exceeded the boundaries of professional conduct.

The Ombudsman did find that the Councillor’s robust manner had an effect on one individual at

the meeting and that the Councillor should have amended his behaviour towards him specifically
as he had previously met him and described him as ‘nervous’. Whilst the Councillor was remind-
ed to modify his behaviour for his audience, the Ombudsman concluded that, on balance, it was
not in the public interest to refer the matter to a Standards Committee or Adjudication Panel for
Wales and, therefore, no further action should be taken.

Page 133



The Code of Conduct

Casebook
B0 —

Referred to Standards Committee

Neyland Town Council — Disclosure and registration of interests
Case number 201703026 — Report issued in July

The Ombudsman received a complaint that a member of the council (“the Councillor”) of Ney-
land Town Council may have used his position improperly by trying to stop a project that the
Town Council had already agreed to support. It was alleged that the Councillor had a business
interest in the matter.

The Ombudsman obtained relevant information about the matter and interviewed witnesses.
The Councillor provided his comments on the complaint at the outset of the investigation but did
not respond to a request to be interviewed.

The Ombudsman found that there was evidence to suggest that the Councillor may have
breached the Code of Conduct and referred the matter for consideration by the Council’s Stan-
dards Committee.

The Standards Committee concluded that the Councillor had breached the Code of Conduct.
Accordingly, the Committee decided that the Councillor should be censured.

The decision of the Standards Committee can be found here.

Page 134
B EBEEsraa


http://mgenglish.pembrokeshire.gov.uk/documents/g4392/Printed%20minutes%2005th-Sep-2018%2010.00%20Standards%20Committee.pdf?T=1&LLL=0

The Code of Conduct

Casebook
B0 —

Referred to Adjudication Panel for Wales

Monmouthshire County Council
Case Number: 201604188 - Report issued in December 2017

The Ombudsman received a complaint that a Councillor (“the Councillor) had sent emails to the
complainant, when acting in his capacity as a member of the Council, which the complainant
considered contained comments which failed to show respect and consideration for members of
the LGBT community.

The Ombudsman considered that the comments made were egregious and there was no reason
to use such language to obtain the information he required, about the way the Council used its
funds or even to express his view. The Ombudsman found that the comments made and the
language used may amount to a failure to show respect and consideration for others and that
there was evidence suggestive of a breach of paragraph 4(b) of the Code of Conduct.

The Ombudsman referred the matter to the Adjudication Panel for Wales for adjudication by
tribunal.

The Tribunal concluded that the Councillor had breached the Code of Conduct. Accordingly, the
Tribunal decided that the Councillor should be suspended from the Council for a period of two
months.

The decision of the Adjudication Panel for Wales can be found here.

Page 135
. UBEBEEraa


http://apw.gov.wales/decision/refs1-decisions/ref-apr18-mar19/Cllr-Graham-Down/?lang=en

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 9

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Approval of Minutes
	4 WLGA Social Media Guidance for Councillors
	WLGA Social Media
	Online Abuse - WLGA

	5 Ombudsman Annual Letter
	Annual Letter

	6 Ombudsman Casebook and Code of Conduct Casebook
	23114-Ombudsman-Casebook_Casebook-34_July_October-2018_E_v5
	Code-of-Conduct-Casebook-Eng-Issue-18-October-2018-F

	9 Approval of Exempt Minutes

